Effects of organic and inorganic phosphorus sources on agronomic performance, microbial communities and forage quality of silage corn cultivated under cool climatic conditions

By

Waqas Ali

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Boreal Ecosystem and Agricultural Sciences

School of Science and the Environment

Grenfell Campus

Memorial University of Newfoundland September, 2018 St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador Effects of organic and inorganic phosphorus sources on agronomic performance, microbial communities and forage quality of silage corn cultivated under cool climatic conditions

By

Waqas Ali

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Boreal Ecosystem and Agricultural Sciences

Approved By:

Dean of the Graduate School

Supervisor

Date

Co-Supervisor:

Dr. Adrian Unc

Committee member:

Dr. Raymond Thomas

#### Abstract

Phosphorus (P) is a limiting nutrient for crop growth and yield on more than 30% of the world's arable land, and by some assessments, global resources of mineral P might be depleted by 2050. Additionally, P fertilizer application to soil is predominantly bound to  $Al^{+3}$  and  $Fe^{+2}$  in acidic soils or with  $Ca^{+2}$  in alkaline soils, thereby reducing its availability to agricultural crop. Therefore, P availability in soil rhizosphere and efficient utilization by agricultural crops is vital for economic and environmental reasons. Dairy manure (DM) is an important source of macro and micro nutrients, and organic matter which can affect minerals solubility and plant nutrients availability by improving soil physiochemical properties, enzymes activities and soil microbial communities. To further enhance our understanding about the effects of organic and inorganic P fertilizer sources on growth, forage yield and quality of silage corn, soil biochemical attributes and microbial communities, a field experiment was carried out at Pynn's Brook Research Station (PBRS) for two years (2016 and 2017). Experimental treatments were four P sources: [P1: manure with high P conc.; P<sub>2</sub>: manure with low P conc.; P<sub>3</sub>: inorganic P and P<sub>0</sub> (control)] and five silage corn genotypes laid out in Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD). Agronomic performance (leaf area, chlorophyll contents, photosynthesis, shoot dry weight, root shoot ratio and dry matter yield), rhizosphere soil biochemical attributes (pH, phosphatase activity and soil available P), and microbial community composition and forage quality parameters [(minerals, protein, sugar, fibers, non-fibrous carbohydrates (NFC), total digestible nutrients (TDN) and energy] were measured. Yukon R and DKC26-28RIB showed superior agronomic performance and produced higher dry matter yield compared to other genotypes. High P manure application increased the dry matter yield by 28% and 33%, acid phosphatase activity by 29% and 44%, soil available P by 60% and 39% compared to control in 2016 and 2017 respectively. High P manure application significantly increased active Gram negative (G-) bacteria, active fungi, total active bacterial phospholipids fatty acids (PLFAs), and active soil microbial biomass (total amount of PLFAs) compared to inorganic P and control treatments. Yukon R and DKC26-28RIB showed higher active fungal biomass, bacteria as well as total microbial activities in their root rhizospheres regardless of P sources compared to the other genotypes evaluated. Pearson correlation analysis demonstrated a positive and strong relationship between the active microbial community structure and the agronomic performance of the silage corn genotypes amended with P sources. The results indicate that DM application significantly enhanced agronomic performance, soil biochemical attributes and microbial communities compared to inorganic P fertilizer. Silage corn genotypes had significant effects on forage quality indices. Yukon-R and DKC26-28RIB showed superior agronomic performance and produced higher forage production of 16.43 and 15.47 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> respectively. Contrarily, A4177G3RIB produced higher minerals, protein, total digestible nutrients (TDN), net energy for maintenance (NEM) and net energy for gain (NEG) compared to other genotypes, and proved high quality forage. However, it was statistically at par with DKC26-28RIB in producing minerals and ranked 2<sup>nd</sup> in protein synthesis. Yukon R was also statistically at par with A4177G3RIB genotype in few quality indices and produced similar TDN, NEM and NEG. Overall, Yukon-R produced high forage and was either at par or ranked at 2<sup>nd</sup> position in most of the quality forage indicators.

Phosphorus sources had significant effects on crude protein (CP), available protein (AP), sugars, and non-fibrous carbohydrates (NFC) contents of silage corn but not significantly higher with each other. Inorganic P fertilizer source enhanced CP, AP, simple sugars and NFC contents but statistically at par either with manure with high or low P. Phosphorus sources had non-significant effects on energy parameters, which are important indicator of high forage quality, however NEL, NEM and NEG values were slightly higher with DM application compared to inorganic P and control. Dairy manure application significantly improve the agronomic performance, silage corn quality, soil physiochemical properties and soil microbial communities. Future studies needed to investigate the effects of organic and inorganic P amendments on soil phenolics and root exudates on P availability and microbial community structure.

#### Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude to Almighty ALLAH who has always blessed humanity infinitely and provided us with this opportunity to explore our multifarious talent and competence in the practical genre. I wish to articulate my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Mumtaz Akhtar Cheema, whose expertise, and knowledge enhanced my understanding and provided me extensive personal and professional guidance and taught me a great deal about both scientific research and life in general. I am also grateful for his moral support in some difficult time and circumstances. As a teacher and mentor, he has taught me more than I could ever give him credit for here. He has shown me, by his example, what a good scientist (and person) should be. I would like to thanks my co-supervisor Prof. Dr. Adrian Unc and committee member Dr. Raymond Thomas for providing assistance and guidance at all levels of the research project.

I had been fortunate in having many able and congenial fellows during my stay at Grenfell Campus Memorial University. Without their assistance and contributions, it was difficult for me to understand the professional ethics. This work would not have been possible without the financial support of the Grenfell Campus Research Office and School of Graduate Studies, Memorial University of Newfoundland. Research support from Research and Development Corporation (RDC) and department of fisheries and land resources NL, is greatly acknowledged. I am also thankful to Dr. Muhammad Nadeem, Dr. Tao Yuan, Ms. Crystal McCall, Ms. Sanaz Rajabi, Ms. Hamideh Ghaffari, Muhammad Zaeem, Waqar Ashiq and Syed Shah Mohioudin Gillani for their support during lab and field work. Last but not the least, I am thankful to my parents, siblings and family members for their affection, love and unconditional support during completion of my degree program.

Waqas Ali

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract				
Acknowledgmentsvi				
Table of Contents				
List of Tables				
List of Figures				
List of Abbreviations				
Chapter 11				
1. General Introduction and Literature Review				
1.1. Corn				
1.2. Phosphorus in Agricultural ecosystems				
1.3. Fate of organic and inorganic P in soil				
1.4. Phosphorus transformation in soil following manure and inorganic P				
sources				
1.5. Role of root architecture and morphological traits in P uptake				
1.6. Role of root exudates in P uptake under different P sources				
1.7. Role of phosphorus in crop growth and development				
1.8. Soil microbial communities				

	1.9. I	Dry matter yield and quality of silage corn under organic and inorganic P	
	sources		22
	1.10.	Objectives	27
	1.11.	References	28
	1.12.	Co-authorship statement	49
Chap	pter 2		50
2.	Effec	ets of organic and inorganic phosphorus amendments on the agronomic	
pe	erformar	ce, biochemical and microbial characteristics of silage corn in podzolic	
SO	oil		50
	2.1. A	Abstract	50
	2.2. I	ntroduction	51
	2.3. N	Interial and Methods	56
	2.3.1	Experimental site and treatments	56
	2.3.2	. Crop husbandry	60
	2.3.3	. Agronomic performance parameters	61
	2.3.4	. Soil sampling and analysis methods	63
	2.3.5	. Biochemical attributes	63
	2.3.6	. Phospholipids fatty acids analysis	64
	2.3.7	. Phospholipid fatty acids (PLFAs) analysis with GC-FID	65

2	.3.8.	Sta	atistical analysis	66
2.4.	Res	ults		68
2	.4.1.	Ag	gronomic performance parameters	68
	2.4.1	.1.	Leaf area (cm <sup>2</sup> plant <sup>-1</sup> )	68
	2.4.1	.2.	Chlorophyll contents (SPAD values)	68
	2.4.1	.3.	Photosynthesis rate (µmol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> plant <sup>-1</sup> )	69
	2.4.1	.4.	Shoot dry weight (g plant <sup>-1</sup> )	69
	2.4.1	.5.	Root shoot ratio (plant <sup>-1</sup> )	70
	2.4.1	.6.	Plant height (cm)	71
	2.4.1	.7.	Dry matter yield (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )	71
2	.4.2.	Bi	ochemical attributes	72
2	.4.3.	So	il PLFA profiles	79
	2.4.3	.1.	Principal Component Analysis (PCA)	86
	2.4.3	.2.	Pearson's correlation between agronomic parameters, soil	
	bioch	nem	ical attributes and microbial community composition	89
2.5.	Dis	cuss	sion	91
2	.5.1.	Ag	gronomic performance parameters	91
	2.5.1	.1.	Leaf area	91
	2.5.1	.2.	Chlorophyll contents	92

2.5.1.3.	Photosynthesis rate	
2.5.1.4.	Root shoot ratio	
2.5.1.5.	Plant height (PH)	
2.5.1.6.	Dry matter yield	
2.5.2. Bi	ochemical attributes	100
2.5.2.1.	Soil rhizosphere pH	100
2.5.2.2.	Acid phosphatase activity	101
2.5.3. So	oil PLFA profiles	102
2.6. Conclu	ision	108
2.7. Refere	nces	110
Chapter 3		133
3. Evaluating	the forage production and quality of silage corn under organi	c and
inorganic phosp	horus sources	133
3.1. Abstra	ct	133
3.2. Introdu	action	134
3.3. Materia	al and methods	138
3.3.1. Ex	sperimental location and treatments	138
3.3.2. Cr	rop husbandry	141
3.3.3. Fc	prage quality analysis	

3.3	.4. Statistical Analysis	143
3.4.	Results	143
3.4	.1. Mineral composition, net energy for maintenance and for gain in silage	e
cor	n genotypes (Q1)	143
3.4	.2 Dairy manure amendment altered non-fibrous carbohydrates and net	
ene	ergy for lactation in silage corn (Q2)	153
3.4	.3 Forage production and ADF contents in silage corn genotypes (Q3)	153
3.4	.4 Effect of P sources on protein, minerals, fiber, and sugar contents in silag	e
cor	n (Q4)	154
3.5.	Discussion	155
3.5	.1. Mineral composition, net energy for maintenance and net energy for g	ain
in s	silage corn genotypes (Q1)	155
3.5	.2. Dairy manure amendment altered non-fibrous carbohydrates and net	
ene	ergy for lactation in silage corn (Q2)	157
3.5	.3. Forage production and ADF contents in silage corn genotypes (Q3)	158
3.5	.4. Effects of P sources on protein, minerals, fiber, and sugar contents in	
sila	nge corn (Q4)	160
3.6.	Conclusion	164
3.7.	References	166
4. Ch	apter 4	187

4.1.	Ger	neral Discussion and Conclusion	187
4.2.	Eff	ects of organic and inorganic phosphorus sources on agronomic	
perfo	ormar	nce of silage corn	188
4.2	2.1.	Leaf area	188
4.2	2.2.	Chlorophyll contents	188
4.2	2.3.	Photosynthesis rate	189
4.2	2.4.	Root shoot ratio	192
4.2	2.5.	Plant height	193
4.2	2.6.	Dry matter yield	193
4.3.	Eff	ects of P sources on soil biochemical attributes	194
	4.3.1	.1. Soil rhizosphere pH	194
	4.3.1	.2. Acid phosphatase activity	195
4.4.	Soi	l microbial phospholipids fatty acids (PLFAs) profile	196
4.5.	Eff	ects of P sources on quality indices of silage corn	198
4.5	5.1.	Mineral composition	199
4.5	5.2.	Crude and available protein	200
4.5	5.3.	Acid detergent fiber (ADF)	202
4.5	5.4.	Neutral detergent fiber (NDF)	203
4.5	5.5.	Total digestible nutrients (TDN)	203

4.5	5.6.	Net energy for maintenance (NEM) and Net energy for gain (NEG)	204
4.:	5.7.	Net energy for lactation (NEL)	205
4.5	5.8.	Non-Fibrous Carbohydrates (NFC)	206
4.6.	Cor	nclusion	206
4.7.	Ref	erences	208

# List of Tables

Table 2.1 Soil analysis report of experimental site in 2016 and 2017	58
Table 2.2 Weather conditions at Pynn's Brook Research Station, Pasadena during 201	6
and 2017 growing seasons	59
Table 2.3 Basic information about silage corn genotypes used in the experiment	59
Table 2.4 Details about P sources used in the experiment	59
Table 2.5 Composition of diary manure sources used in the experiment	60
Table 2.6 PLFAs as microbial biomarkers	67
Table 2.7 ANOVA for agronomic performance parameters during 2016	73
Table 2.8 ANOVA for agronomic performance parameters during 2017	73
Table 2.9 Effects of phosphorus sources on leaf area (cm <sup>2</sup> ) of silage corn genotypes at	Į
tasseling stage during 2016 and 2017	74
Table 2.10 Effects of phosphorus sources on chlorophyll contents of silage corn	
genotypes at tasseling stage during 2016 and 2017	74
Table 2.11 Effects of phosphorus sources on photosynthesis rate (µmol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> pla	ant⁻
<sup>1</sup> ) of silage corn genotypes at tasseling stage during 2016 and 2017	75
Table 2.12 Effects of phosphorus sources on shoot dry weight (g plant <sup>-1</sup> ) of silage corr	n
genotypes at black layer stage during 2016 and 2017	75
Table 2.13 Effects of phosphorus sources on root shoot ratio of silage corn genotypes	at
tasseling stage during 2016 and 2017	76

Table 2.14 Effects of phosphorus sources on plant height (cm <sup>2</sup> ) of silage corn genotypes
at black layer stage during 2016 and 2017
Table 2.15 Effects of phosphorus sources on dry matter yield (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) of silage corn
genotypes at black layer stage during 2016 and 2017
Table 2.16 ANOVA for biochemical parameters at black layer stage during 2016 81
Table 2.17 ANOVA for biochemical parameters at black layer stage during 2017 81
Table 2.18 Effects of phosphorus sources on soil pH at black layer stage during 2016 and
2017
Table 2.19 Effects of phosphorus sources on acid phosphatase activity ( $\mu$ mole PNP g <sup>-1</sup>
min <sup>-30</sup> ) at black layer stage during 2016 and 2017
Table 2.20 Effects of phosphorus sources on soil available P (mg/kg) at black layer stage
during 2016 and 2017
Table 2.21 ANOVA for soil microbial communities at black layer stage during 2016 83
Table 2.22 ANOVA for soil microbial communities at black layer stage during 2017 83
Table 2.23 Effects of silage corn genotypes on PLFAs (nmol g <sup>-1</sup> soil) at black layer stage
during 2016 and 2017
Table 2.24 Effects of phosphorus sources on PLFAs (nmol g <sup>-1</sup> soil) at black layer stage
during 2016 and 2017
Table 2.25 Effects of phosphorus sources on fungal PLFAs (nmol g <sup>-1</sup> soil) at black layer
stage during 2016 and 2017
Table 2.26 Effects of phosphorus sources on Fungi: Bacteria (F: B) ratio at black layer
stage during 2017

Table 2.27 Pearson's correlation coefficients (r) showing the relationship between
agronomic performance parameters and dry matter yield during 2016 and 2017
Table 2.28 Pearson's correlation coefficients (r) showing the relationship between soil
biochemical parameters and active microbial communities during 2016 and 201790
Table 3.1 Composition of phosphorus sources used in the current research trial under coo
climatic conditions
Table 3.2 Soil physiochemical properties of experimental site before seeding
Table 3.3 Effect of silage corn genotypes on forage production and forage quality grown
under cool climate in western Newfoundland, Canada 151
Table 3.4 Effect of phosphorus sources on forage production and forage quality in silage
corn grown under cool climate in western Newfoundland, Canada

# List of Figures

Figure 1.2.1: Global phosphorus retention map (USDA NRCS, 2012)
Figure 1.2.2: Global phosphorus availability map. The red and light-gray colors, showing
suboptimal P availability for the plant growth, shows the importance of P availability as a
most limiting nutrient to plant productivity in terrestrial environment (Jaramillo-
Velastegui, 2011)
Figure 1.4.1: Phosphorus dynamics in the soil/rhizosphere-plant continuum (Shen et al.,
2011)
Figure 1.6.1: Conceptual model of the hydrolysis of organic P in to free phosphate
mediated by PDE and phoshomonoesterse (Waldrip and Acosta-Martinez, 2014) 15
Figure 2.3.1: Weather conditions at Pynn's Brook Research Station, Pasadena during
2017 (a) and 2016 (b) growing season
Figure 2.4.1 Phosphorus sources and silage corn genotypes alter biochemical attributes
and active microbial communities under field conditions. Bi-plot showing relationships
between observed biochemical attributes, active microbial community composition and
abundance in (a) silage corn genotypes (b) P sources during 2016
Figure 2.4.2 Phosphorus sources and silage corn genotypes alter biochemical attributes
and active microbial communities under field conditions. Bi-plot showing relationships
between observed biochemical attributes, active microbial community composition and
abundance in (a) silage corn genotypes (b) P sources during 2017

Figure 3.4.1 Principal component analysis of the first two components performed on the
forage production and forage nutritional quality of five-silage corn genotypes affected by
four phosphorus sources. (a) Observation plot showing segregation of silage corn
genotypes and phosphorus sources based on the centroids on the F1 and F2 axis; and (b)
Biplot showing relationship between different observations, forage production and
nutritional quality in five silage corn genotypes treated with four P sources
Figure 3.4.2 Quadrant 1 representing the quality matrix of silage corn genotypes
(a)phosphorus, (b) magnesium, (c) net energy for maintenance, (d) net energy for gain,
(e) total digestible nutrients
Figure 3.4.3 Quadrant 2 representing the quality matrix of silage corn genotypes (a) non-
fibrous carbohydrates, and (c) net energy for lactation; as well as, the effect of silage corn
genotypes and phosphorus sources on (b) non-fibrous carbohydrates, and (d) net energy
for lactation
Figure 3.4.4 The quadrant 3 represents (a) forage production potentials and (b) acid
detergent fiber
Figure 3.4.5 Quadrant 4 representing the effects of phosphorus sources on (a) crude
proteins, (b) available proteins, (c) potassium, (d) calcium, (e) neutral detergent fiber and
(f) simple sugars
Figure 3.4.6 Pearson's correlation showing the association between forage production
and forage proteins contents in five silage corn genotypes

# List of Abbreviations

- % Percentage
- (*a*) at the rate
- µg/mL Microgram per milliliter
- $\mu$ l Microliter
- $\mu$ mol photon m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> Micromole photon per square meter per second
- ADF Acid detergent fibers
- $Al^{+3} Aluminum$
- AMF Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi
- ANOVA Analysis of variance
- AP Available protein
- AP-ase Acid phosphatase activity
- ATP Adenosine triphosphate
- BAME Bacterial acid methyl ester
- C-Carbon
- C: N Carbon: Nitrogen ratio
- $Ca^{+2} Calcium$

- CaCl<sub>2</sub>-Calcium chloride
- CHU Corn heating unit
- cm<sup>2</sup> Square centimeter
- CO2 Carbon dioxide
- COOH<sup>-</sup> Carboxyl group
- CP Crude protein
- DAS Days after sowing
- DCP Di-calcium phosphate
- DM Dairy Manure
- DMY Dry matter yield
- DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid
- $F_1-First \ component$
- $F_2-Second\ component$
- FAME Fatty acid methyl ester
- FAO Food and Agriculture organization
- $\mathrm{Fe}^{\mathrm{+2}}\mathrm{-Iron}$
- g Gram

- G<sup>-</sup> Gram negative bacteria
- G<sup>+</sup> Gram positive bacteria
- G<sup>+</sup>/G<sup>-</sup> Gram positive bacteria / Gram negative bacteria ratio
- GABA Gamma aminobutyric acid
- GC-FID Gas chromatography Flame ionization detection
- GxExM Genotype x Environment x Management
- $\mathrm{H}^{\!\scriptscriptstyle +}$  Hydrogen ion
- H2PO<sub>4</sub><sup>-1</sup> Primary orthophosphate
- ha Hectare
- HAP Hydroxyapatite
- HPO4<sup>-2</sup> Secondary orthophosphate
- IP Inorganic phosphorus
- K Potassium
- L Liter
- LA leaf area
- LED Light emitting diode
- MAP Mono-ammonium phosphate

Mcal Kg<sup>-1</sup> – Mega-calorie per kilogram)

- MCP Mono-calcium phosphate
- Mg Magnesium
- Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> Mega gram per hectare
- mL Milliliter
- mm millimeter
- N Nitrogen
- NADPH Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase)
- NaOH Sodium hydroxide
- NDF Neutral detergent fibers
- NEG Net energy for gain
- NEL Net energy for lactation
- NEM net energy for maintenance
- NFC Non-fibrous carbohydrates
- NIR Near Infrared reflectance analysis
- NIST National Institute of Standard and Technology
- NL Newfoundland and Labrador

- nm Nanometer
- nmolg<sup>-1</sup> Nano-mole per gram
- NRC National Research Council
- NUE Nitrogen use efficiency
- °C Degree centigrade
- OH<sup>-</sup> Hydroxyl group
- ON Ontario
- OP Organic Phosphorus
- P Phosphorus
- p Probability or level of significance
- $P_0 \, or \, DM_0$  Control
- $P_1$  or  $DM_1$  Dairy manure with high phosphorus concentration
- P<sub>2</sub> or DM<sub>2</sub> Dairy manure with low phosphorus concentration
- P<sub>3</sub> Inorganic phosphorus
- PAR Photosynthetically active radiation
- PAST Paleontological statistics
- PBRS Pynn's Brook Research Station

- PCA Principal component analysis
- PDE Phosphodisterase
- PH Plant height
- pH Power of hydrogen ion
- P<sub>i</sub> Inorganic P
- PLFAs Phospholipids fatty acids
- PNP P-nitro phosphate
- ppm Parts per million
- PSB Phosphate solubilizing bacteria
- PSF Phosphate solubilizing fungi
- PUE Phosphorus use efficiency
- $Q_1-First \; quadrant$
- Q2 Second quadrant
- Q3 Third quadrant
- Q<sub>4</sub> Four quadrant
- RCBD Randomized complete block design
- R-CHO Aldehyde group

- RIB Refuge is in the bag
- RNA Ribonucleic acid
- rpm Revolutions per minute
- RR Round up ready
- RR2 Resistant gene to roundup<sup>R</sup> and factor  $540^{R}$
- RuBP Ribulose 1, 5-bisphosphate
- SAP Soil available phosphorus
- Si Silica
- SOC Soil organic carbon
- SPAD Soil plant analysis development
- SPE Solid phase extraction
- SS Simple sugars
- TDN Total digestible nutrients
- TMSH Trimethyl sulfonium hydroxide
- USA United states of America
- USDA NASS United States Department of Agriculture National Agriculture Statistics
- v/v Volume over volume

# $\Sigma$ B-PLFAs – Total bacterial phospholipid fatty acids

 $\Sigma PLFAs - Total phospholipid fatty acids$ 

#### Chapter 1

#### 1. General Introduction and Literature Review

### 1.1. Corn

Corn (Zea mays L.) is a member of Poaceae family and ranked third in cereal production after wheat and rice. It is a tropical crop but successfully grown in subtropical and temperate climatic zones (Tagne et al., 2008). It is widely grown as cereal production across the globe with approximately 10,000 million tons per year whereas, Canada produces 14.10 million tons (United State Department of Agriculture, 2018). Corn plant as a whole is important forage for dairy and beef animals. It is considered as the most suitable silage crop as compared to other cereals due to faster growth, higher yield potential, higher palatability, energy contents, protein contents, sugar and water soluble carbohydrate which are most important in the preservation of silage material (Amin, 2011; Keady et al., 2008). Good quality corn silage contains 28-32% dry matter yield, 28-32% starch and 7-9% crude protein (Keady et al., 2008; Kwabiah et al., 2003; Ullah et al., 2015) Addition of corn in silage based diets of dairy cows increases feed intake, yield and protein content of milk (Keady et al., 2008). As a result, significant acreage in silage corn across the world has been noticed over the past few decades. It has become a major feed component in the ration of dairy cows under most dietary regimes (Keady et al., 2008). Increasing demand of silage corn due to rapid expansion of dairy industry, it is important to determine the forage production potential and quality indices of silage corn under different nutrient management regimes.

Presently, Newfoundland and Labrador (NL), dairy and livestock industry faces challenges of insufficient silage/forage production and it has to depend on substantial imports from the mainland Canada and other countries. In 2011, area under silage corn was 324.96 ha which decreased to 205.98 ha in 2016 (Statistics Canada, 2017). One of the reason for this decline is unique NL weather and soil conditions which limits crop growth and forage production (Kwabiah, 2003). For example, silage corn cultivation in NL is limited by low corn heating unit (CHU), and typically shallow, coarse-sandy texture and high acidic soil (pH 4 to 4.5) (Sauer et al., 2007). Furthermore, macro and micronutrients availability significantly affect the dry matter yield of silage corn (Leytem et al., 2011), especially under podzol soils where low P availability due to metal complexation has been shown to be a major constraint under field conditions (Leytem et al., 2011).

These challenges can be reduced by generating scientific based information about suitable short growing season silage corn hybrids, nutrient management practices and crop husbandry required to exploit the production potential of silage corn under cool climatic conditions of NL. Growing of tested silage/forage/fodder genotypes might bridge the gap between production and consumption. On the other hand, dairy farm operations across NL produce a large quantity of manure, which is an inexpensive and abundant source of plant nutrients. Silage corn has emerged as an important feed-stuff in the province. It is known as a high energy crop, with additional benefits such as the potential to improve the leg and hoof soundness and increase heat detection. Therefore, present study was conducted to elucidate the influence of organic and inorganic P source on agronomic performance, biochemical, and microbial community structure and quality indices of silage corn.

## 1.2. Phosphorus in Agricultural ecosystems

Phosphorus (P) is the 11<sup>th</sup> most abundant element in the earth crust and reach to 1200 mg/kg in soil. However, most of the soils contains 200-800 mg/kg, while older soils contains less P relative to younger soils (Ijaz et al., 2017). Phosphorus limitations are much more severe in agricultural ecosystems, because it is removed from soil by harvesting crops and only small quantity of P returned back to ecosystem by incorporating crop residues, animal manures and chemical fertilizers. Consequently, extreme P deficiencies are quite common where no external source of P is applied to soil and such conditions are widespread all around the globe (Liu et al., 2013). Excessive or little P application led to severe and negative impacts on environment by causing by land degradation under P deficient conditions and eutrophication under excessive application (Shen et al., 2011).



Figure 1.2.1: Global phosphorus retention map (USDA NRCS, 2012)



Figure 1.2.2: Global phosphorus availability map. The red and light-gray colors, showing suboptimal P availability for the plant growth, shows the importance of P availability as a most limiting nutrient to plant productivity in terrestrial environment (Jaramillo-Velastegui, 2011).

The global crop productivity has strong relationship with soil fertility and most of the world soils are P deficient hence leading to lower crop productivity, however P deficiency is more often found in old weathered soils (Jaramillo-Velastegui, 2011) (Figure 1.2.1 & Figure 1.2.2). Consequently, P deficient soils are supplemented with external P application through chemical fertilizers or other organic sources (compost, pig slurries, sludge, digestate, manures, and crop residues etc.). Phosphorus cycle is the biogeochemical cycle that describes the movement of P through land, water and living things (Shen et al., 2011) and major process involved the uptake of P by plants, recycling (the return of plant and animal residue), biological processes includes mineralization and fixation, and then solubilization of fixed P mediated by bacterial communities (Chen et al., 2006; Wei et al.,

2017), enzymes (Waldrip et al., 2012), and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Smith and Read, 2008).

### 1.3. Fate of organic and inorganic P in soil

Chemical forms of soil P include organic and inorganic P (IP), and these forms differ in their behaviour and fate in soil (Turner et al., 2007). Organic phosphorus (OP) generally accounts for 30-65% of total P in soils, and average concentration range between 50-500 mg/kg of soil (Harrison, 1987). It is present in stabilized forms such as inositol phosphates, phosphonates, and active forms including orthophosphate diesters, labile orthophosphate monoesters, and organic polyphosphates (Turner et al., 2002). Organic phosphorus transformed into plant available P forms such as primary orthophosphate  $(H_2PO_4^{-1})$  and secondary orthophosphate  $(HPO_4^{-2})$  by mineralization processes mediated by soil microorganisms and phosphatase enzyme released by plant roots (Waldrip et al., 2012). Primary orthophosphate mostly dominant in acidic conditions and secondary orthophosphate in alkaline conditions, whereas at neutral pH both forms exists in equal amount (Shen et al., 2011). Mineralization process is highly influenced by soil physiochemical properties i.e. soil moisture, temperature, surface physiochemical properties, microorganisms and enzymes, i.e. soil moisture, temperature, surface physiochemical properties, pH and acid phosphatase activity (Shen et al., 2011). Organic P transformation has a great influence on the overall bioavailability of soil P (Turner et al., 2007), and plant available P is very complex and needs to be systematically evaluated,

because it is highly related with P dynamics and transformation among various pools (Figure 1.4.1).

Inorganic P usually accounts for 35 - 70% of total P in soil (Harrison, 1987). Phosphorus exist in two mineral forms; Primary P minerals including apatites, strangite and variscite are very stable and available P is released by chemical weathering very slowly from these minerals to meet crop demands, while direct application of rock phosphate (i.e. apatite) has proved relatively efficient mineral P source for crop growth in acidic conditions. Whereas secondary P minerals include calcium (Ca<sup>+2</sup>), iron (Fe<sup>+2</sup>) and aluminum (Al<sup>+3</sup>) phosphates vary in dissolution depending upon size of mineral particles and soil pH (Oelkers and Valsami-jones, 2008). With increasing soil pH from acidic to neutral, solubility of iron and aluminum phosphates increases, but solubility of calcium phosphates decreases except for pH values above 8 (Hinsinger, 2001). Desorption reaction helps to release absorbed P from Al/Fe oxides and all these P forms are present in complex equilibria with each other, from very stable, sparingly available, to plant available pools such as labile and solution P (Figure 1.4.1) (Shen et al., 2011).

Phosphorus availability to plants is mainly dependent upon soil pH, Al, Fe, Ca, decomposition of organic matter and activities of microorganisms (Arai and Sparks, 2007; Shen et al., 2011; Wei et al., 2017). In acidic soils, IP usually forms chelates with Al and Fe oxides and hydroxides, such as gibbsite, hematite, and goethite (Parfit, 1989). The non-protonated and protonated ligands surface complexes may coexist at pH 4-9, while protonated ligand inner sphere complex is predominant under acidic conditions (Arai and

Sparks, 2007). In neutral to calcareous soils, precipitation reaction is dominated and P is adsorbed on the surface of calcium carbonate (Devau et al., 2010). Phosphate react with Ca and transformed into plant available phosphate form such as dicalcium phosphate (DCP), which can be changed to more stable forms such as octocalcium phosphate and hydroxyapatite (HAP) which are less available to plants at alkaline pH (Arai and Sparks, 2007).

## 1.4. Phosphorus transformation in soil following manure and inorganic P sources

Dairy farming is main agricultural sector in Canada with 945000 dairy cows present on 10951 farms across the Canada (Statistics Canada and Canadian Dairy Commission, 2017). Dairy and poultry farming is a large segment of the NL economy, and a total of 510 agricultural farms including 32 dairy farms, 5600 cows and 2200 heifers are present in the province (Statistics Canada, 2017; Statistics Canada and Canadian Dairy Commission, 2017). Therefore, dairy manure (DM) available in bulk quantities and is applied to increase soil fertility status for growing crops. DM is historically known as a rich source of nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) and micronutrients for plant growth and also improves aggregation and soil structure for better aeration, supplies organic matter, improves soil quality and maintains or increase soil pH in acidic soils (Dong et al., 2012; Hirzel and Walter, 2008; Yan et al., 1996). DM application improve plant physiological characteristics and dry matter yield by improving PUE and nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) (Bernier et al., 2014). An efficient utilization of DM is important to improve the sustainability of animals and crop production systems. Crop growth and dry matter yield is a measure of plant photosynthesis efficiency (Iqbal et al., 2014), which is mainly influenced by balance nutrient availability (Ibeawuchi et al., 2007) and environmental factors (Amin, 2011).

Dairy farmers, vegetable growers and organic growers across the NL use DM as a nutrient source for crop production, but excessive application of manure build up high amount of P in the soils and cause runoff during high rainfall periods which pollute water bodies by eutrophication (Carpenter, 2005). Therefore, management of land application of DM is important to maximize the nutrients use efficiency and organic matter, while minimizing its impact on the environment. Total P content in manure is variable and generally 70% of the total P in manure is labile (Shen et al., 2011). DM contains 50-90% of IP (Duo et al., 2000), and large amount of OP such as phospholipids and nucleic acids (Turner and Leytem, 2004), which can be mineralized to available P in soil. During the mineralization process organic acids produced from humic substances can dissolve calcium phosphate, and especially for citrate, which have ability to efficiently weaken the nanoparticle stability of hydroxyapatite (HAP), by controlling the free Ca availability and nucleation rate (Martins et al., 2008). Humic acids produced from manure mineralization contains large numbers of negative charges, carboxyl (COO<sup>-</sup>) and hydroxyl (OH<sup>-</sup>) groups, which strongly compete with inorganic P for adsorption sites (Shen et al., 2011).

Modern terrestrial P cycle is dominated by agriculture and anthropogenic activities (Oelkers and Valsami-jones, 2008), and concentration of soil available P seldom increases 10  $\mu$ M (Bieleski, 1973), which is less than plant tissues concentration range (between 5 to

20 mM inorganic P (Raghothama, 1999). Due to low concentration and poor mobility of plant available P in soils, IP fertilizers application is required to obtain optimum growth and yield. Mono-calcium and mono-potassium phosphate are two major forms of inorganic phosphate fertilizers. Mono-calcium phosphate (MCP) fertilizer in soil undergoes a wetting process, produces large quantity of protons, phosphate, di-calcium phosphate (DCP), and eventually forms an IP saturated patch, this patch forms three reaction zones including direct reaction, precipitation reaction, and adsorption reaction zones (Benbi and Gilkes, 1987). Direct reaction zone in soil is very acidic and pH ranges between 1.0-1.6, resulting in increased mobilization of metal ions, which react with high concentrations of IP in the zone, thus causing further IP precipitation. In alkaline soils, MCP and DCP forms new complexes and gradually transformed into more stable forms of Ca-phosphates such as octacalcium phosphate or apatite and P availability is significantly reduced (Shen et al., 2011). Thus, to improve the nutrient utilization in cropping systems and avoiding P losses, a comprehensive understanding of the influences of organic and IP amendments on agronomic performance, enzymes, available P and microbial communities is necessary.

#### 1.5. Role of root architecture and morphological traits in P uptake

Root architecture refers to the spatial configuration of plant root systems, whereas root morphological traits includes i.e. root surface area, number of roots, root length and volume (Liu et al., 2018). Crops responds to P deficiency by modulating their root architecture including root morphology, topology and distribution patterns (Fernandez and Rubio, 2015). Phosphorus deficiency increase root/shoot ratio, root branching, elongation,
top foraging and cluster root hairs (Lynch and Brown, 2008). Phosphorus starvation causes reduction in primary root growth, increased length and density of lateral root hairs in corn and many other plant species (Lynch and Brown, 2008).



Figure 1.4.1: Phosphorus dynamics in the soil/rhizosphere-plant continuum (Shen et al., 2011)

Under P starvation, adaptive changes in corn root architecture take place, like changes in carbohydrates distribution between roots and shoots (Wissuwa et al., 2005). Phosphorus deficiency in soil induced cluster root formation in white lupin (Vance et al., 2003) but cluster roots distribution shifted from the P deficient root zone to P rich or organic matter rich patches to increase the intensity of soil foraging (Shen et al., 2013; Vance et al., 2003). Inorganic P (IP) fertilizers application significantly improve root growth and stimulate root proliferation (Shen et al., 2013). Furthermore, IP fertilizers application at early growth stages is known to be an effective strategy for stimulating corn root development and establishment of good root architecture and increasing yields, particularly in the early crop growth period at low temperature (Shen et al., 2013). DM application significantly improved root length density compared to control (no P addition) (Zhihui et al., 2016). Corn genotypes exhibited significant difference in root architecture and morphological traits due to difference in genetic potential (Szoboszlay et al., 2015). A larger root system can be a beneficial trait to scavenge more water and nutrients under stress conditions.

### 1.6. Role of root exudates in P uptake under different P sources

Plants roots exude organic compounds such as mucilage, organic acids, acid phosphatase and some specific signaling substances, which are key drivers of various rhizosphere processes (Shen et al., 2011). Low mobility and solubility of P in soil restricts its availability to plants (Shen et al., 2011). Root secretes mainly protons to acidify the rhizosphere, carboxylate exudation to mobilize sparingly available P by chelation and ligand exchange and secretion of phosphatase to mobilize organic P by hydrolysis (Zhang et al., 2010). Roots decrease 2-3 units of pH in soil rhizosphere zone compared to bulk soil due to excessive uptake of cations over anions, led to produce protons by plant roots cause acidification, and exudation of citrate, malate and oxalate greatly increase P acquisition through chelation and ligand exchange (Shen et al., 2011). Changes in rhizosphere pH depends upon soil buffering capacity, microbial activities and plant genotypes (Li et al., 2014). In acidic soils or near neutral soils manure can maintain or increase soil pH through liming effect because they contain some calcium carbonate, which originates in the animal diet (Moore and Edwards, 2007). Earlier studies also reported that manure application increased soil pH (Dong et al., 2012).

Corn crop under P deficient conditions secretes mainly primary metabolites in higher concentration such as GABA (Gamma aminobutyric acid), and several sugars such as inositol erythritol, ribitol, fructose, glucose and arabinose in comparison to nutrient replete maize plants (Carvalhais et al., 2013, 2011). GABA secretions by plants linked with signaling in a number of abiotic stressor response (Kinnersley and Turano, 2000), which may act as a signaling compound when maize is P starved. Bacterial communities showed chemotaxis response to sugars (Thoelke et al., 1990). Higher exudation of sugars under P starvation has been linked with a decrease in phospholipids levels and a high permeability of the cell membrane. Sugar secretions in the rhizosphere zone may stimulate germination and growth of mycorrhizal fungi, which are known to improve P acquisition (Graham et al., 1981). Phosphorus starved plants secrete less secondary metabolites that are toxic to bacteria compare to plants grown under optimum conditions. This may occur to attract specific bacterial communities that can improve acquisition of the specific deficient nutrient. For instance Bacillus amyloliquefaciens promote the growth of P limited corn seedlings in the presence of phytate (Idriss et al., 2002).

Krebs cycle intermediates such as citric, malic, succinic fumaric, and aconitic acids are root exudates secreted by many plant species (Dakora and Phillips, 2002), these acids plays an important role in P acquisition. Phosphorus deficiency led to increase 82% increase in citrate exudation which may help to increase P availability by forming ligand exchange (Lipton et al., 1987). However, different plant species respond differently to P deficiency, rape typically release malic acid near its root tips or at sites in contact with insoluble rock phosphate, whereas mustard dose not secrete organic acids (Hoffland et al., 1992), possibly due to problems associated with synthesis and transport across membranes. Barley showed non-significant difference in citrate exudation under low and sufficient P, whereas malic acid showed an increase in malic acid exudation under P deficient conditions. Different plant species and genotypes exude different types and quantity of organic acids under P starvation and sufficient conditions (Wang et al., 2015)

Approximately 80-90% of soil processes such as decomposition and transformation of nutrients from organic compounds occur through biochemical reactions mediated by enzymes (Acosta-Martinez and Waldrip, 2014). Phosphatase enzyme is an important component of P cycle and it is the most important indicator of soil quality and microbial activity. Phosphatase enzyme hydrolyze OP into plant available form such as  $(H_2PO_4^{-1} \text{ and} H_2PO_4^{-2})$  (Waldrip et al., 2012). Plants can secrete acid phosphatase to hydrolyze OP and acid phosphatase activity can be greatly altered by the availability of substrate, soil microorganisms, pH and soil physio-chemical properties (George et al., 2005). Phosphatase enzymes exist in five major groups in soils: (1) phosphoric monoester hydrolases (phosphomonoesterases), (2)phosphoric diester hydrolases (phosphodiesterases), (3) phosphoric triester hydrolases (4) polyphosphate hydrolases and (5) enzyme acting on P-N bonds (Waldrip and Acosta-Martinez, 2014). Organic P mineralization started by phosphodiesterase (PDE) hydrolyze phosphodiesters such as phospholipids and nucleic acids to form simpler phosphomonoesters and finally converted to plant available P (Figure 1.6.1) c. Phosphomonoesterase release free phosphate from phosphomonoesters such as inositol phosphate,  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate, phenylphosphate, sugar phosphates, adenosine phosphates,  $\beta$ -napthyl phosphate, and p-nitrophenyl phosphate (He et al., 2004). Among the phosphatase enzymes the most investigated soil phosphomonoesterases are classified according to soil pH such as acid phosphatase and alkaline phosphatase (Waldrip et al., 2012).



Figure 1.6.1: Conceptual model of the hydrolysis of organic P in to free phosphate mediated by PDE and phoshomonoesterse (Waldrip and Acosta-Martinez, 2014)

Bacteria, fungi and plant roots produce extracellular phosphatase enzyme. Plants can produce only acid phosphatase enzyme, therefore extracellular alkaline phosphatase is strongly linked to soil microorganisms (George et al., 2002). Earlier studies reported that plant species, genotypes, plant growth stages, soil pH, temperature, moisture, SOM and the presence of C, N, P and other nutrients required by microorganisms affect the process of organic P mineralization as well as phosphatase activity (Parham et al., 2002). Dairy manure and organic fertilizers application significantly increase soil phosphatase activity and plant available P in soil (Colvan et al., 2001; Waldrip et al., 2012). Inorganic P fertilizers application significantly reduced the acid phosphatase activity, because plants

and microorganisms easily draw the P form readily available sources and do not have to mineralize organic P (Spohn and Kuzyakov, 2013).

### 1.7. Role of phosphorus in crop growth and development

Phosphorus (P) is an important macronutrient for plant growth, but uptake from soil can be difficult and limiting factor for optimum crop production (Smit et al., 2009). Phosphorus is a component of nucleic acids and cellular membranes, and important for several metabolic processes and signaling pathway of proteins (protein kinase) (Vance et al., 2003). It plays an important role in cell division being a constituent element of nucleoproteins which are involved in the cell reproduction processes and essential for vegetative and reproductive development (Azeem et al., 2018). It is also a component of nucleotides used in plant energy metabolism such as adenosine triphosphate (ATP), deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and ribonucleic acid (RNA). Phosphorus deficiency include stunted growth in young plants and a dark green coloration of the leaves, which may be malformed and contain small spots of dead tissues called necrotic spots (Chen et al., 2014).

Optimizing PUE in cereal crops is an important task for agricultural sustainability and global food security. Phosphorus deficiency can severely reduce leaf area and ultimately the amount of solar intercepted radiation and photosynthesis (Plenet et al., 2000). Thus, reduction in leaf area and photosynthesis may contribute to the reduction in final biomass production and nutritional value. Dry matter yield is highly dependent on plant photosynthesis efficiency and sink capacity to accumulate photosynthates from the plant leaves (Warraich et al., 2002). The optimum supply of N, P, K and other micronutrients increase dry matter production via increasing leaf area production and photosynthesis rate. Phosphorus deficiency in corn severely reduce leaf growth and ultimately the amount of solar intercepted radiation, photosynthesis and dry matter yield (Plenet et al., 2000). Phosphorus deficiency decrease 67 % mean leaf area, and 43 % leaf emergence (Fredeen et al., 1989). Decrease in leaf area under P deficiency occurs due to an insufficiency of phosphate for the expansion of epidermal cells. Because leaf epidermal cell expansion appears to be a critical process in the expansion of the leaf (Waldron and Terry, 1987) and phosphate concentrations in the upper epidermis are rapidly reduced with decrease in P supply to the leaf (Treeby et al., 1987).

Chlorophyll contents are important in energy harvesting reaction that can be used to assimilate carbon dioxide. Higher concentration of chlorophyll contents and ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate (RuBP) had shown increased photosynthetic rate in plants (Reich et al., 1994). Leaf phosphorus and chlorophyll contents showed positive relationship with each other (Ryser et al., 1997). Chlorophyll is the part of chloroplast, and it is predominantly consuming inorganic phosphate (Pi) (Giersch and Robinson, 1987). Deficiency of P supply to chloroplast inhibits the process of photosynthesis (Dietz and Foyer, 1986). DM and other organic fertilizers provide essential nutrients for plant growth and have a positive effect on the formation of chlorophyll and chloroplast. Organic acids play an important role in the supply of Mg which have an important role in the formation of the chlorophyll molecule (Hasan et al., 2014).

Biomass production is the outcome of interception of photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) by plant leaves and the ability of plants canopy architecture to transform the intercepted PAR in to biomass production (Plenet et al., 2000; Portes and Melo, 2014). Phosphorus deficiency reduce the export of triose-P from the chloroplast to the cytosol via the Pi translocator, which may lead to buildup of starch and sucrose, and decrease the rate of photosynthesis (Giersch and Robinson, 1987). Phosphorus deficient plants shows reduction in photosynthesis due to diminishing of RuBP generation rather than due to limitations in the supply of ATP and NADPH (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxide) to the Calvin cycle (Fredeen et al., 1989). Plants can sustain photosynthetic rate under low P supply by increasing synthesis of P – free carbon compounds, e.g. starch, sucrose and increased phosphatase activity and decreased levels of P containing molecules e.g. sugar phosphates and adenylate (Rao et al., 1989). By resupplying the phosphorus to moderate P deficient plants, it can restore the photosynthetic metabolism to control levels within a few hours, that sugar phosphate especially RuBP levels increase as starch and sucrose level decrease (Rao and Terry, 1995).

### 1.8. Soil microbial communities

Soil microorganisms play an important role in stimulating soil organic matter decomposition, improves nutrient cycling, soil fertility, soil quality and mitigating soil pollution (Khalil et al., 2013). Soil microbial communities can influence soil physiochemical properties, climatic and biological factors and therefore are closely related to crop productivity (Zhang et al., 2015b). Soil and rhizosphere microorganisms such as P solubilizing bacteria (PSB) and fungi (PSF) can increase the P availability by increasing P solubilization, and accounts for 1-50% in P solubilization potential (Chen et al., 2006). Manure and chemical fertilizer application is an important nutrient management practice that affects soil quality, health and sustainability of agricultural production systems (Wei et al., 2017). Excessive use of chemical fertilizers commonly reduce soil organic carbon (SOC) consequently decline soil quality, health and crop productivity. To maintain and improve SOC, management practices such as DM application, no tillage, crop rotation and crop residue incorporation have been very productive in improving soil quality and health in different cropping systems (Huang et al., 2015; Wei et al., 2017; Yan et al., 2013). Therefore, it can increase plant nutrients availability and enhance soil microbial biomass, activity and diversity (Wei et al., 2017). Different fertilization regimes affect soil microbial communities, as bacteria is mostly adapted to high available C and rich nutrient conditions, whereas fungi seems to be more capable to use recalcitrant C sources (Li et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2017). The appropriate utilization of organic and inorganic amendment, for instance, DM and other organic fertilizer application could be a useful approach in restoring SOC, soil fertility and sustainability (Sharpe et al., 2004), and therefore can increase plant nutrients availability and enhance soil microbial biomass, activity and diversity (Mandal et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2008). However, soil microbial communities benefiting from DM application differ with soil type and physiochemical properties, quantity and quality of manure, experimental duration and many other factors (Cederlund et al., 2014; Wei et al., 2017).

Chemical fertilizers applications can produce positive or negative effect on soil microbial biomass and activity (Geisseler and Scow, 2014), while the effects on microbial community structure and diversity is still under debate (Zhang et al., 2015a). Most studies focused on the individual effects rather than combination effects of specific organic amendments on soil physicochemical properties. The biological properties of soils under different organic and inorganic fertilizer application have been the focus of recent studies (Chen et al., 2011; Chu et al., 2007; He et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2014). Until present, our knowledge about the effects of different organic and inorganic P sources on soil microbial community and consequently their role in P mineralization and availability to crop plants in podzolic soils remains limited and needs to be investigated.

Phospholipid fatty acids analysis (PLFAs) profiles reveals the structural characteristics of the microbial community and also provides estimate of the abundance and diversity about various microbial groups (Ai et al., 2012). The microbial community, size and activity showed by PLFAs vary with different fertilizer managements, and therefore affects soil fertility and productivity (Ai et al., 2012). Diversity and abundance in soil microbial community was significantly increased due to P rich environment resulted from long term P fertilization research trial, in comparison to control (Tan et al., 2013). Inorganic P fertilization not only influenced the soil microbial abundances but also altered bacterial composition (Liu et al., 2013). Wei et al. (2017) reported that Gram negative (G<sup>-</sup>) bacteria proliferate and grow faster soon after the addition of organic materials, and then decrease and also facilitate the growth of other slow growing microorganisms such as Gram positive (G<sup>+</sup>) bacteria or fungi. Dairy manure application significantly increased G<sup>-</sup>

bacterial biomass relative to  $G^+$  bacterial biomass due to higher availability of soluble carbon over a long part of the year under DM than in the inorganic fertilization system (Peacock et al., 2001). Moreover, higher proportion of  $G^-$  bacteria usually occurs following a shift from nutrient deficient to nutrient rich conditions, and this pattern was observed in soil amended with P fertilizers (Tan et al., 2013).

Fungi play an important role in C and nutrient cycling in agricultural ecosystems and is sensitive to fertilizers application (Li et al., 2018). Manure application significantly increased fungal population due to increase in organic C contents which could serve as major source of energy whereas, small increase in labile organic C under inorganic fertilization and control treatments reduced growth (Liu et al., 2013). Another possible reason of higher fungi population in manure treatment is the increased soil pH, as this was associated with increased fungal population in soil (Rousk et al., 2010). Increased fungi/bacteria ratio have been linked to increases in soil C and ecological buffering capacity (Bossio and Scow, 1998) as well as various organic amendments, such as DM (Wei et al., 2017), crop residue (Marschner et al., 2003), and green manure (Liu et al., 2009). Under P starvation arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) forms symbiotic association with plant roots and increases the P availability to plants by the formation of mycorrhizal hyphae. In return it takes carbon from plants for its own growth and survival (Smith and Read, 2008). P deficiency in soil also significantly decrease AMF growth in tropical forests, because AMF initially were nutrient limited and application of phosphorus fertilizer led to increased AMF growth. Inorganic phosphorus fertilizers application can

increase soil pH which is most often associated with increased AMF population (Liu et al., 2013).

Agricultural management practices such as DM application, crop rotations and cover crops can reportedly increase or maintain soil quality for long-term agricultural production, as organic amendment/crop residue may regulate bacterial communities (DeBruyn et al., 2011). Crop rotations, mono-cropping and cropping sequence diversity are also pivotal factors influencing bacterial community structure and species diversity (Sarrantonio and Gallandt, 2003). Continued demands for silage corn will likely result in increased continuous cropping acreage, as corn silage is palatable, has higher yields and energy content than many other forages (Staples, 2003), and offers relatively consistent quality, making it an attractive forage crop to livestock producers. However, limited knowledge exists on the short-term influence of silage corn cropping on soil microbial community composition under organic and inorganic P amendments. Consequently, the aim of this study was to determine the impact of organic and inorganic amendment on growth, forage yield, extracellular enzyme, soil microbiological community and quality of silage corn under cool climate conditions.

# **1.9.** Dry matter yield and quality of silage corn under organic and inorganic P sources

Plant nutrition is one of the main factor influencing silage corn production and quality, and it plays an important role in ensuring the agronomic performance of forages (Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). In fact, nutrient management is one of the key strategy for

increasing forage yield and quality in silage corn. N, P and K have great significance in nutrient management process because they are the macro-nutrient with the highest transcendence in yield as well as in the quality parameters of silage corn and green forages (Iqbal et al., 2014; Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017).

Dry matter yield of crops is a function of numerous interacting factors (G x E x M) which includes, crop genotypes (G), environment (E) (temperature, rainfall, radiation, transpiration etc.) and management (M) practices (fertilizers application, sowing dates, cultural practices, seeding methods, weed control etc.) (Martin et al., 2014). Therefore, selection of suitable genotypes/hybrids and appropriate nutrient sources are important factors to determine the forage yield and quality of silage corn in different climate conditions. Combined application of poultry litter and cattle manure with inorganic fertilizer produced similar DMY to inorganic fertilizers, perhaps due to residual and soil amelioration effects (Eghball et al., 2004; Hirzel et al., 2007b). Silage corn DMY potential is not only associated with nutrient sources, physiochemical and biological properties of soil but also uptake efficiency of crops. Furthermore, P based poultry litter and cattle manure application is a beneficial amendment that helps to recycle nutrients, improve soil quality and produced similar dry matter yield of silage corn to inorganic P fertilizer (Nazli et al., 2014). Nitrogen (N) based poultry litter and cattle manure application significantly reduced dry matter yield of silage corn and this may be attributed to N deficiency caused by the lower N availability of poultry litter and cattle manure and absence of supplemental inorganic nitrogen (Hirzel et al., 2007a; Nazli et al., 2014). Furthermore, authors suggested that fulfillment of N requirements through organic materials produced unfavorable effects

on soil fertility and the environment due to the accumulation of soil phosphorus and metal ions (Codling et al., 2008). Inorganic P fertilizer (Triple super phosphate) application had no effect on fresh and DMY of silage corn compared to control (no phosphorus application) (Ali et al., 2014), and this response might be due to fixation of applied P by calcium ( $Ca^{+2}$ ), iron (Fe<sup>+2</sup>) and aluminum (Al<sup>+3</sup>) which reduced the availability of P to plants (Shen et al., 2011).

Leytem et al. (2011) conducted study under greenhouse conditions to determine the effects of three phosphorus sources mono-ammonium phosphate (MAP), compost and dairy manure) and four rates of P application (25, 50, 100 and 200 mg/kg) on nutrients uptakes in silage corn. Phosphorus uptake in silage corn increased with increasing P application rate, highest increase occurred with MAP application, while the manure and compost treatments showed non-significant difference. MAP application increased P uptake which could be attributed to enhanced P solubility and decrease in soil pH, both of which might have enhanced P uptake by plants (Mengel and Kirkby, 1987). Manure and compost contains iron which react with P and forms Fe phosphates thereby reducing P solubility, and Ca precipitated with orthophosphate to form insoluble Ca-P precipitates. Under low P soils potassium (K) uptake increased for all treatments (MAP, manure and compost), whereas compost exhibited the highest K uptake in silage corn. Potassium uptake increased with increasing P application rate for all treatments under high P soils (Leytem et al., 2011).

On low P soil, calcium uptake increased under all treatments, while the highest Ca uptake was noticed in MAP, and it decreased significantly on high P soils with increasing rate of manure and compost. Reduction of Ca uptake in silage corn under manure and compost treatment could be related to cation competition with K and by the formation of Ca- P precipitates (Leytem et al., 2011). Magnesium uptake increased with increasing application rates of all treatments and highest uptake occurring in the MAP treatment. Under high P soil magnesium (Mg) uptake increased with increasing application rate of MAP and manure up to 100 mg/kg, above which leveled off for MAP and reduced for manure (Leytem et al., 2011). High K uptake may inhibit Mg uptake due to cation competition and balance between K, Ca and Mg uptake is a concern from an animal health prospective as forages with K:(Ca+Mg) ratios greater than 2.2:1 cause grass tetany in ruminant (Grunes et al., 1970). They found that ratio exceeds 2.2:1 for all treatments and rates, but it is important to keep in mind that silage corn harvested only after 3 weeks and therefore this may not represent the ratio in silage corn at maturity (Leytem et al., 2011)

Acid detergent fibers (ADF) represent the energetic values of silage corn (Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017),because it is constituted from cellulose, lignin and proteins, and is the component that is most related to forage digestibility (Castillo-Jimenez et al., 2009), the more ADF contents, the less digestibility of the forages (Castillo-Jimenez et al., 2009; Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017), therefore, good quality forage crops must contains < 28% ADF contents (Gallegos-Ponce et al., 2012). Organic fertilizer source produced 35.9% ADF in silage corn compared to inorganic fertilization which produced 27.2% ADF (Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). Neutral detergent fibers (NDF) in forage crops negatively correlate with intake and digestibility (Oramas-Wenholz and Quila, 2007), so to obtain high energy silage it is necessary to ensure <50% NDF contents in silage corn (Gallegos-Ponce et al., 2012). Organic fertilization produced 53.5% NDF in silage corn, whereas inorganic fertilizer produced 42.6% NDF (Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). Nitrogen based organic fertilizer application (poultry liter and cattle manure) produced the highest ADF, NDF and lower crude protein (CP) compared to inorganic nitrogen treatment (Nazli et al., 2014). This might be attributed to differences in N content among poultry litter and cattle manure treatments because that strongly influence fiber content as well (Johnson et al., 2001). Combined application of inorganic P with poultry litter and cattle manure produced similar forage quality (ADF, NDF and CP) compared to inorganic P fertilization. Fiber contents significantly reduced with increasing rate of nitrogen fertilizers or nitrogen content in the plant tissue of silage corn (Nazli et al., 2014).

Carbohydrates compounds includes (free sugars, fructans, hemicellulose and cellulose) and classified as fibrous (structural) and non-fibrous (non-structural) carbohydrates (Martinez-Marin, 2008; Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). Non-fibrous carbohydrates (NFC) were significantly increased by inorganic fertilization compared to organic fertilization. Reduction in silage corn digestibility was correlated with high values of NDF, not the NFC contents that was high in organic fertilizer treatments. (Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). NFC contents of silage corn were 32.5% lower with organic fertilizer application compared to inorganic fertilizer application (Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). Similarly, organic fertilization produced higher total digestible nutrients (TDN) (47%) compared to 46% with inorganic fertilization. It has been observed from the

literature reported above that organic and inorganic P sources influenced the quality indices of silage corn cultivated in different environments.

## 1.10.Objectives

Therefore, present study was conducted with following objectives;

- i. To determine the agronomic performance (leaf area, chlorophyll contents, photosynthesis rate and forage yield) of silage corn amended with organic and inorganic P sources in podzolic soils under cool climate conditions
- To elucidate the effects of organic and inorganic P sources on soil available P, enzyme activities, and microbial communities.
- iii. To assess the relationship between agronomic performance, biochemical attributes and active microbial communities.
- To investigate the effects of organic and inorganic P sources on forage quality of silage corn in cool climate.

#### 1.11. References

- Acosta-Martinez, V., Waldrip, H.M., 2014. Soil enzyme activities as affected by manure types, application rates, and management practices, in: He, Z., Zhang, H. (Eds.),
  Applied Manure and Nutrient Chemistry for Sustainable Agriculture and Environment. Springer Dordrecht Heidelberg New York London, pp. 99–122.
- Ai, C., Liang, G., Sun, J., Wang, X., Zhou, W., 2012. Responses of extracellular enzyme activities and microbial community in both the rhizosphere and bulk soil to long-term fertilization practices in a fluvo-aquic soil. Geoderma 173–174, 330–338. doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2011.07.020
- Ali, S., E.L.T.E.L., Gasim, S.A., Eltelib, H.A., 2014. Effect of seed rate, phosphorus and nitrogen fertilization on forage yield, leaf to stem ratio and protein content of maize (Zea mays L .). Sudanese Journal of Agricultural Sciences 1, 92–98.
- Amin, M.E.M.H., 2011. Effect of different nitrogen sources on growth, yield and quality of fodder maize (Zea mays L.). Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences 10, 17–23. doi:10.1016/j.jssas.2010.06.003
- Arai, Y., Sparks, D.L., 2007. Phosphate reaction dynamics in soils and soil components: A multiscale approach. Advances in Agronomy 94, 135–179. doi:10.1016/S0065-2113(06)94003-6
- Azeem, K., Khan, A., Naz, F., Ilyas, M., Azeem, I., Anwar, F., Ahmad, W., 2018. The Impact of different P fertilizer sources on growth, yield and yield component of

maize varieties. Agricultural Research and Technology 13, 1–5. doi:10.19080/ARTOAJ.2018.13.555881

- Benbi, D.K., Gilkes, R.J., 1987. The movement into soil of P from superphosphate grains and its availability to plants. Fertilizer Research 36, 21–36.
- Bernier, J.N., Undi, M., Ominski, K.H., Donohoe, G., Tenuta, M., Flaten, D., Plaizier, J.C., Wittenberg, K.M., 2014. Nitrogen and phosphorus utilization and excretion by beef cows fed a low quality forage diet supplemented with dried distillers grains with solubles under thermal neutral and prolonged cold conditions. Animal Feed Science and Technology 193, 9–20. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2014.03.010
- Bieleski, R.L., 1973. Phosphate pools, phosphate transport, and phosphate availability. Annual Reviews Plant Physiology 24, 225–252.
- Bonser, A.M., Lynch, J., Snapp, S., 1996. Effect of phosphorus deficiency on growth angle of basal roots in Phaseolus vulgaris 132, 281–288.
- Bossio, D.A., Scow, K.M., 1998. Impacts of carbon and flooding on soil microbial communities: phospholipid fatty acid profiles and substrate utilization patterns.
  Microbial Ecology 35, 265–278. doi:10.1007/s00248-007-9209-2
- Carpenter, S.R., 2005. Eutrophication of aquatic ecosystems: Bistability and soil phosphorus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 102, 10002–10005. doi:10.1073/pnas.0503959102

- Carvalhais, L.C., Dennis, P.G., Fan, B., Fedoseyenko, D., Kierul, K., Becker, A., von Wiren, N., Borriss, R., 2013. Linking plant nutritional status to plant-microbe interactions. PLoS ONE 8, 1–13. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0068555
- Carvalhais, L.C., Dennis, P.G., Fedoseyenko, D., Hajirezaei, M.R., Borriss, R., Von Wiren, N., 2011. Root exudation of sugars, amino acids, and organic acids by maize as affected by nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, and iron deficiency. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 174, 3–11. doi:10.1002/jpln.201000085
- Castillo-Jimenez, M., Rojas-Bourrillon, A., Wingching-Jones, R., 2009. Nutritional value of silage made with a mixture of corn and mung bean (Vigna radiata). Agronomia Costarricense 33, 133–146. doi:0377-9424 / 2009
- Cederlund, H., Wessen, E., Enwall, K., Jones, C.M., Juhanson, J., Pell, M., Philippot, L.,
  Hallin, S., 2014. Soil carbon quality and nitrogen fertilization structure bacterial
  communities with predictable responses of major bacterial phyla. Applied Soil
  Ecology 84, 62–68. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2014.06.003
- Chen, L., Lin, L., Cai, G., Sun, Y., Huang, T., Wang, K., Deng, J., 2014. Identification of nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium deficiencies in rice based on static scanning technology and hierarchical identification method. PLoS ONE 9, 1–17. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0113200
- Chen, X., Zhang, L.M., Shen, J.P., Wei, W.X., He, J.Z., 2011. Abundance and community structure of ammonia-oxidizing archaea and bacteria in an acid paddy

soil. Biology and Fertility of Soils 47, 323–331. doi:10.1007/s00374-011-0542-8

- Chen, Y.P., Rekha, P.D., Arun, A.B., Shen, F.T., Lai, W.A., Young, C.C., 2006.
  Phosphate solubilizing bacteria from subtropical soil and their tricalcium phosphate solubilizing abilities. Applied Soil Ecology 34, 33–41.
  doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2005.12.002
- Chu, H., Lin, X., Fujii, T., Morimoto, S., Yagi, K., Hu, J., Zhang, J., 2007. Soil microbial biomass, dehydrogenase activity, bacterial community structure in response to long-term fertilizer management. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39, 2971–2976. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.05.031
- Codling, E.E., Chaney, R.L., Mulchi, C.L., 2008. Effects of broiler litter management practices on phosphorus, copper, zinc, manganese, and arsenic concentrations in Maryland coastal plain soils. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis 39, 1193–1205. doi:10.1080/00103620801925901
- Colvan, S.R., Syers, J.K., O'Donnell, A.G.O., 2001. Effect of long-term fertiliser use on acid and alkaline phosphomonoesterase and phosphodiesterase activities in managed grassland. Biology and Fertility of Soils 34, 258–263. doi:10.1007/s003740100411
- Dakora, F.D., Phillips, D.A., 2002. Root exudates as mediators of mineral acquisition in low-nutrient environments. Plant and Soil 245, 35–47.
  doi:10.1023/A:1020809400075

DeBruyn, J.M., Nixon, L.T., Fawaz, M.N., Johnson, A.M., Radosevich, M., 2011. Global

biogeography and quantitative seasonal dynamics of Gemmatimonadetes in soil. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77, 6295–6300. doi:10.1128/AEM.05005-11

- Devau, N., Le Cadre, E., Hinsinger, P., Gérard, F., 2010. A mechanistic model for understanding root-induced chemical changes controlling phosphorus availability.
   Annals of Botany 105, 1183–1197. doi:10.1093/aob/mcq098
- Dietz, K.J., Foyer, C., 1986. The relationship between phosphate status and photosynthesis in leaves - Reversibility of the effects of phosphate deficiency on photosynthesis. Planta 167, 376–381. doi:10.1007/BF00391342
- Dong, W., Zhang, X., Wang, H., Dai, X., Sun, X., Qiu, W., Yang, F., 2012. Effect of different fertilizer application on the soil fertility of paddy soils in red soil region of southern China. PLoS ONE 7, 1–9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044504
- Duo, Z., Toth, J.D., Galligan, D.T., Ramberg, C.F., Ferguson, J.D., 2000. Laboratory procedures for characterizing manure phosphorus. Journal of Environment Quality 29, 508. doi:10.2134/jeq2000.00472425002900020019x
- Eghball, B., Ginting, D., Gilley, J.E., 2004. Residual effects of manure and compost applications on corn production and soil properties. Agronomy Journal 96, 442–447.
- Fernandez, M.C., Rubio, G., 2015. Root morphological traits related to phosphorusuptake efficiency of soybean, sunflower, and maize. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 178, 807–815. doi:10.1002/jpln.201500155

- Fredeen, A.L., Rao, I.M., Terry, N., 1989. Influence of phosphorus nutrition on growth and carbon partitioning in Glycine max. Plant Physiology 89, 225–230. doi:10.1104/pp.89.1.225
- Gallegos-Ponce, A., Rios, A.M., Viramontes, M.F.S.R.F., Padilla, S.B., Soto, J.V.,Guillen, J. de D.Q., Lopez, D.E., 2012. Nutritional quality of forage maize (Zea mays L.) under limited water logging conditions. AGROFAZ 12, 59–66.
- Geisseler, D., Scow, K.M., 2014. Long-term effects of mineral fertilizers on soil microorganisms - A review. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 75, 54–63. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2014.03.023
- George, T.S., Gregory, P.J., Wood, M., Read, D., Buresh, R.J., 2002. Phosphatase activity and organic acids in the rhizosphere of potential agroforestry species and maize. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34, 1487–1494. doi:10.1016/S0038-0717(02)00093-7
- George, T.S., Richardson, A.E., Simpson, R.J., 2005. Behaviour of plant-derived extracellular phytase upon addition to soil. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 37, 977– 988. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.10.016
- Giersch, C., Robinson, S.P., 1987. Regulation of photosynthetic carbon metabolism during phosphate limitation of photosynthesis in isolate spinach chloroplast.Photosynthesis Research 14, 211–227.

Graham, J.H., Leonard, R.T., Menge, J.A., 1981. Membrane-mediated decrease in root

exudation responsible for phorphorus inhibition of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza formation. Plant Physiology 68, 548–552. doi:10.1104/pp.68.3.548

- Grunes, D. 1., Stout, P.R., Brownel, J.R., 1970. Grass tetany of ruminants. Advances in Agronomy 22, 331–374.
- Harrison, A.F., 1987. Soil organic phosphorus-A review of world literature. Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux International.
- Hasan, A.E., Bhiah, K.M., Al-zurfy, M.T.H., 2014. The impact of peat moss and sheep manure compost extracts on marigold (Calendula officinalis L.) growth and flowering. Journal of Organic Systems 9, 56–62.
- He, J., Shen, J., Zhang, L., Zhu, Y., Zheng, Y., Xu, M., Di, H., 2007. Quantitative analyses of the abundance and composition of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria and ammonia-oxidizing archaea of a Chinese upland red soil under long-term fertilization practices. Environmental Microbiology 9, 3152. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2007.01481.x
- He, Z., Timothy S. Griffin, Honeycutt, C.W., 2004. Enzymatic hydrolysis of organic phosphorus in swine manure and soil. Journal of Environmental Quality 33, 367– 372.
- Hinsinger, P., 2001. Bioavailibility of soil inorganic P in the rhizosphere as effected by root-induced chemical changes. Plant and Soil 237, 173–195.
  doi:10.1023/A:1013351617532

- Hirzel, J., Matus, I., Novoa, F., Walter, I., 2007a. Effect of poultry litter on silage maize (Zea mays L .) production and nutrient uptake. Spanish Journal of AgriculturalResearch 5, 102–109.
- Hirzel, J., Walter, I., 2008. Availability of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium from poultry litter and conventional fertilizers in a volcanic soil cultivated with silage corn. Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research 68, 264–273. doi:10.4067/S0718-58392008000300006
- Hirzel, J., Walter, I., Undurraga, P., Cartagena, M., 2007b. Residual effects of poultry litter on silage maize (Zea mays L .) growth and soil properties derived from volcanic ash. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 53, 480–488. doi:10.1111/j.1747-0765.2007.00144.x
- Hoffland, E., Vandenboogaard, R., Nelemans, J., Findenegg, G., 1992. Biosynthesis and root exudation of citic and malic-acids in phosphate-starved rape plants. New Phytologist 122, 675–680.
- Huang, M., Zhou, X., Cao, F., Xia, B., Zou, Y., 2015. No-tillage effect on rice yield in China: A meta-analysis. Field Crops Research 183, 126–137. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2015.07.022
- Ibeawuchi, I.I., Opara, F.A., Tom, C.T., Obiefuna, J.C., 2007. Graded replacement of inorganic fertilizer with organic manure for sustainable maize production in Owerri Imo State, Nigeria. Life Science Journal 4, 82–87.

- Idriss, E.E., Makarewicz, O., Farouk, A., Rosner, K., Greiner, R., Bochow, H., Richer, T., Borris, R., 2002. Extracellular phytase activity of Bacillus amyloliquefaciens
  FZB45 contributes to its plants growth promotings effect. Microbiology 148, 2097–2109. doi:10.1099 / 00221287-148-7-2097
- Ijaz, W., Ahmed, M., Fayyaz-ul-Hassan, Asim, M., Aslam, M., 2017. Models to study phosphorous dynamics under changing climate, in: Ahmed, M., Stockle, C.O. (Eds.), Quantification of Climate Variability, Adaptation and Mitigation for Agricultural Sustainability. Springer, pp. 371–387.
- Iqbal, A., Aamir, I.M., Raza, A., Akbar, N., Abbas, R.N., Khan, H.Z., 2014. Integrated nitrogen management studies in forage maize. American-Eurasian J. Agric. & Environ. Sci 14, 744–747. doi:10.5829/idosi.aejaes.2014.14.08.12385
- Jaramillo-Velastegui, R.E., 2011. The edaphic control of plant response to climate change: extent, interactions and mechanisms of adaptation. The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA.
- Jiang, Y., Jin, C., Sun, B., 2014. Soil aggregate stratification of nematodes and ammonia oxidizers affects nitrification in an acid soil. Environmental Microbiology 16, 3083– 3094. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12339
- Johnson, C.R., Reiling, B.A., Mislevy, P., Hall, M.B., 2001. Effects of nitrogen fertilization and harvest date on yield, digestibility, fiber and protein fractions of tropical grasses. Journal of Animal Science 79, 2439–2448. doi:10.1016/0378-

4290(86)90006-7

- Keady, T.W.J., Kilpatrick, D.J., Mayne, C.S., Gordon, F.J., 2008. Effects of replacing grass silage with maize silages, differing in maturity, on performance and potential concentrate sparing effect of dairy cows offered two feed value grass silages.
  Livestock Science 119, 1–11. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2008.02.006
- Khalil, A., Suleiman, A., Manoeli, L., Tomazzoni, J., Pereira, M.G., Fernando, L.,
  Roesch, W., 2013. Shifts in soil bacterial community after eight years of land-use change. Systematic and Applied Microbiology 36, 137–144.
  doi:10.1016/j.syapm.2012.10.007
- Kinnersley, A.M., Turano, F.J., 2000. Gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA) and plant responses to stress. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 19, 479–509. doi:10.1080/07352680091139277
- Kwabiah, A.B., 2003. Performance of silage corn (Zea mays L.) in a cool climate ecosystem: effects of photodegradable plastic mulch. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 83, 305–312. doi:10.4141/P02-131
- Kwabiah, A.B., Macpherson, M., Mckenzie, D.B., 2003. Corn heat unit variability and potential of corn (Zea mays L .) production in a cool climate ecosystem. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 83, 689–698. doi:10.4141/P02-127
- Leytem, A.B., Dungan, R.S., Moore, A., 2011. Nutrient availability to corn from dairy manures and fertilizer in a calcareous soil. Soil Science 176, 426–434.

doi:10.1097/SS.0b013e31822391a6

- Li, J., Wu, X., Gebremikael, M.T., Wu, H., Cai, D., Wang, B., Li, B., Zhang, J., Li, Y., Xi, J., 2018. Response of soil organic carbon fractions, microbial community composition and carbon mineralization to high-input fertilizer practices under an intensive agricultural system. PLoS ONE 13, 1–16.
  doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0195144
- Li, X., Rui, J., Mao, Y., Yannarell, A., Mackie, R., 2014. Dynamics of the bacterial community structure in the rhizosphere of a maize cultivar. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 68, 392–401. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.10.017
- Lipton, D.S., Blanchar, R.W., Blevins, D.G., 1987. Citrate, malate, and succinate concentration in exudates from P-sufficient and P-stressed Medicago sativa L. seedlings. Plant Physiology 85, 315–317. doi:10.1104/pp.85.2.315
- Liu, K., He, A., Ye, C., Liu, S., Lu, J., Gao, M., Fan, Y., Lu, B., Tian, X., Zhang, Y., 2018. Root morphological traits and spatial distribution under different nitrogen treatments and their relationship with grain yield in super hybrid rice. Scientific Reports 8, 1–9. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-18576-4
- Liu, L., Zhang, T., Gilliam, F.S., Gundersen, P., Zhang, W., Chen, H., Mo, J., 2013.
   Interactive effects of nitrogen and phosphorus on soil microbial communities in a tropical forest. PLoS ONE 8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0061188
- Liu, M., Hu, F., Chen, X., Huang, Q., Jiao, J., Zhang, B., Li, H., 2009. Organic

amendments with reduced chemical fertilizer promote soil microbial development and nutrient availability in a subtropical paddy field: The influence of quantity, type and application time of organic amendments. Applied Soil Ecology 42, 166–175. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2009.03.006

- Liu, Z., Rong, Q., Zhou, W., Liang, G., 2017. Effects of inorganic and organic amendment on soil chemical properties, enzyme activities, microbial community and soil quality in yellow clayey soil. PLoS ONE 12. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0172767
- Lynch, J.P., Brown, K.M., 2008. Root strategies for phosphorus acquisition, in: White,P.J., Hammond, J.P. (Eds.), The Ecophysiology of Plant-Phosphorus Interactions.Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 83–116.
- Mandal, A., Patra, A.K., Singh, D., Swarup, A., Ebhin Masto, R., 2007. Effect of longterm application of manure and fertilizer on biological and biochemical activities in soil during crop development stages. Bioresource Technology 98, 3585–3592. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2006.11.027
- Marschner, P., Kandeler, E., Marschner, B., 2003. Structure and function of the soil microbial community in a long-term fertilizer experiment. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 35, 453–461. doi:10.1016/S0038-0717(02)00297-3
- Martin, M.M., Olesen, J.E., Porter, J.R., 2014. A genotype, environment and management (GxExM) analysis of adaptation in winter wheat to climate change in

Denmark. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 187, 1–13. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2013.11.009

- Martinez-Marin, A.L., 2008. Nutritional factors to be considered when designing diets of dry roughages and concentrates for hand-fed, leisure horses. Revista Electonica de Veterinaria 9, 1–20.
- Martins, M.A., Santos, C., Almeida, M.M., Costa, M.E. V., 2008. Hydroxyapatite microand nanoparticles: Nucleation and growth mechanisms in the presence of citrate species. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science 318, 210–216. doi:10.1016/j.jcis.2007.10.008
- Mengel, K., Kirkby, E.A., 1987. Principles of plant nutrition, 4th ed. International Potash Institute.
- Moore, P.A., Edwards, D.R., 2007. Long-term effects of poultry litter, alum-treated litter, and ammonium nitrate on phosphorus availability in soils. Journal of Environment Quality 36, 163–174. doi:10.2134/jeq2006.0009
- Moreno-Resendez, A., Cantu Brito, J.E., Reyes-Carrillo, J.L., Contreras-Villarreal, V., 2017. Forage maize nutritional quality according to organic and inorganic. Scientia Agropecuaria 8, 127–135. doi:10.17268/sci.agropecu.2017.02.05
- Nazli, R.I., Kusvuran, A., Inal, I., Demirbaş, A., Tansi, V., 2014. Effects of different organic materials on forage yield and quality of silage maize (Zea mays L .).
  Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry 38, 23–31. doi:10.3906/tar-1302-62

- Oelkers, E.H., Valsami-jones, E., 2008. Phosphate mineral reactivity and global sustainability. Elements 4, 83–88. doi:10.2113/GSELEMENTS.4.2.83
- Oramas-Wenholz, C., Quila, N.J.V., 2007. Evaluation of two hybrids and one variety of corn (Zea mays) in intensive crop and association with pean (Phaseolus vulgaris), for silage. Revista de La Facultad de Ciencias Agropecuarias 5, 28–35.
- Parfit, R.L., 1989. Phosphate reactions with natural allophone, ferrihydrite and goethite. Journal of Soil Science 40, 359–369. doi:10.1177/0964663912467814
- Parham, J.A., Deng, S.P., Raun, W.R., Johnson, G.V., 2002. Long-term cattle manure application in soil. Biology and Fertility of Soils 35, 328–337. doi:10.1007/s00374-002-0476-2
- Peacock, A.D., Mullen, M.D., Ringelberg, D.B., Tyler, D.D., Hedrick, D.B., 2001. Soil microbial community responses to dairy manure or ammonium nitrate applications. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 33, 1011–1019.
- Plenet, D., Etchebest, S., Mollier, A., Pellerin, S., 2000. Growth analysis of maize field crops under phosphorus deficiency. Plant and Soil 223, 117–130. doi:10.1023/A:1004877111238
- Portes, T.D.A., Melo, H.C. De, 2014. Light interception, leaf area and biomass production as a function of the density of maize plants analyzed using mathematical models. Acta Scientiarum Agronomy 36, 457–463. doi:10.4025/actasciagron.v36i4.17892

- Raghothama, K.G., 1999. Phosphate acquisition. Annual Reviews Plant Physiology 50, 665–693.
- Rao, I.M., Raviraj, A.A., Terry, N., 1989. Leaf phosphate status, photosynthesis, and carbon partitioning in sugar beet. II. Diurnal changes in sugar phosphates, adenylates, and nicotinamide nucleotides. Plant Physiology 90, 820–826. doi:10.1104/pp.90.3.820
- Rao, I.M., Terry, N., 1995. Leaf phosphate status, photosynthesis, and carbon partitioning in sugar beet (IV. Changes with time following increased supply of phosphate to low-phosphate plants). Plant Physiology 107, 1313–1321.
  doi:10.1104/pp.107.4.1313
- Reich, P.B., Walters, M.B., Ellsworth, D.S., Uhl, C., 1994. Photosynthesis-nitrogen relations in Amazonian tree species. Oecologia 97, 62–72. doi:10.1007/BF00317909
- Rousk, J., Brookes, P.C., Baath, E., 2010. The microbial PLFA composition as affected by pH in an arable soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42, 516–520. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.11.026
- Ryser, P., Verduyn, B., Lambers, H., 1997. Phosphorus allocation and utilisation in three grass species with contrasting response to N and P supply. New Phytologist 137, 293–302. doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.1997.00807.x
- Sarrantonio, M., Gallandt, E., 2003. The role of cover crops in North American cropping systems. Journal of Crop Production 8, 53–74. doi:10.1300/J144v08n01

- Sauer, D., Sponagel, H., Sommer, M., Giani, L., Jahn, R., Stahr, K., 2007. Podzol: Soil of the year 2007. A review on its genesis, occurrence, and functions. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 170, 581–597. doi:10.1002/jpln.200700135
- Sharpe, R.R., Schomberg, H.H., Harper, L.A., Endale, D.M., Jenkins, M.B., Franzluebbers, A.J., 2004. Ammonia volatilization from surface-applied poultry litter under conservation tillage management practices. Journal of Environment Quality 33, 1183. doi:10.2134/jeq2004.1183
- Shen, J., Li, C., Mi, G., Li, L., Yuan, L., Jiang, R., Zhang, F., 2013. Maximizing root / rhizosphere efficiency to improve crop productivity and nutrient use efficiency in intensive agriculture of China. Journal of Experimental Botany 64, 1181–1192. doi:10.1093/jxb/ers342
- Shen, J., Yuan, L., Zhang, J., Li, H., Bai, Z., Chen, X., Zhang, W., Zhang, F., 2011. Phosphorus dynamics: from soil to plant. Plant Physiology 156, 997–1005. doi:10.1104/pp.111.175232
- Smit, A L, Bindraban, P S, Shroeder, J J, Conijin, J.& V.D.M.H.G., 2009. Phosphorus in agriculture: global resources, trends and developments, Report to the Steering.
- Smith, S.E., Read, D.J., 2008. Mycorrhizal symbiosis, 3rd ed. Elsevier and Academic, New York.
- Spohn, M., Kuzyakov, Y., 2013. Distribution of microbial and root derived phosphatase activities in the rhizosphere depending on P availability and C allocation coupling

soil zymography with 14C imaging. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 67, 106–113. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.08.015

Staples, C.R., 2003. Corn silage for dairy cows. IFAS Extension, University of Florida.

- Statistics Canada, 2017. Census of agriculture: Newfoundland and Labrador farms have the highest rate of direct marketing.
- Statistics Canada and Canadian Dairy Commission, 2017. An overview of the Canadian Dairy Industry at the farm, Agricultural and Agri-Food Canada.
- Szoboszlay, M., Lambers, J., Chappell, J., Kupper, J. V., Moe, L.A., McNear, D.H., 2015. Comparison of root system architecture and rhizosphere microbial communities of Balsas teosinte and domesticated corn cultivars. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 80, 34–44. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2014.09.001
- Tagne, A., Feujio, T.P., Sonna, C., 2008. Essential oil and plant extracts as potential substitutes to synthetic fungicides in the control of fungi., in: ENDURE
  International Conference 2008. Diversifying Crop Protection. pp. 1–3.
- Tan, H., Barret, M., Mooij, M.J., Rice, O., Morrissey, J.P., Dobson, A., Griffiths, B.,
  O'Gara, F., 2013. Long-term phosphorus fertilisation increased the diversity of the total bacterial community and the phoD phosphorus mineraliser group in pasture soils. Biology and Fertility of Soils 49, 661–672. doi:10.1007/s00374-012-0755-5

Thoelke, M.S., Casper, J.M., Ordal, G.W., 1990. Methyl transfer in chemotaxis toward

sugars by Bacillus subtilis. Journal of Bacteriology 172, 1148–1150. doi:10.1128/jb.172.2.1148-1150.1990

- Treeby, M.T., van Steveninck M, R.F., de Vries, H.M., 1987. Quantitative estimates of phosphorus concentrations within Lupinus luteus leaflets by means of electron probe X-ray microanalysis. Plant Physiology 85, 331–334. doi:10.1104/pp.85.2.331
- Turner, B.L., Leytem, A.B., 2004. Phosphorus compounds in sequential extracts of animal manures: Chemical speciation and a novel fractionation procedure.
   Environmental Science and Technology 38, 6101–6108. doi:10.1021/es0493042
- Turner, B.L., Paphazy, M.J., Haygarth, P.M., McKelvie, I.D., 2002. Inositol phosphates in the environment. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 357, 449–469. doi:10.1098/rstb.2001.0837
- Turner, B.L., Richardson, A.E., Mullaney, E.J., 2007. Inositol phosphates: linking agriculture and the environment. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- Ullah, M.I., Khakwani, A.A., Sadiq, M., Awan, I., Mu-, M., 2015. Effects of nitrogen fertilization rates on growth, quality and economic return of fodder maize (Zea mays L.). Sarhad Journal of Agriculture 31, 45–52.
- United State Department of Agriculture, 2018. World agricultural supply and demand estimates.
- USDA NRCS, 2012. http://soils.usda.gov/.
- Vance, C.P., Uhde-Stone, C., Allan, D.L., 2003. Phosphorus acquisition and use: Critical adaptations by plants for securing a nonrenewable resource. New Phytologist 157, 423–447. doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.2003.00695.x
- Waldrip, H.M., Acosta-Martinez, V., 2014. Phosphatase activities and their effects on phosphorus availability in soils amended with livestock manures, in: He, Z., Zhang, H. (Eds.), Applied Manure and Nutrient Chemistry for Sustainable Agriculture and Environment. Springer Dordrecht Heidelberg New York London, pp. 123–140.
- Waldrip, H.M., He, Z., Griffin, T.S., 2012. Effects of organic dairy manure on soil phosphatase activity, available soil phosphorus, and growth of sorghum-sudangrass.
  Soil Science 177, 629–637. doi:10.1097/SS.0b013e31827c4b78
- Waldron, L.J., Terry, N., 1987. The influence of atmospheric humidity on leaf expansion in Beta vulgaris L. Planta 170, 336–342.
- Wang, Q., Bai, Y., Gao, H., He, J., Chen, H., Chesney, R.C., Kuhn, N.J., Li, H., 2008.
  Soil chemical properties and microbial biomass after 16 years of no-tillage farming on the Loess Plateau, China. Geoderma 144, 502–508.
  doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2008.01.003
- Wang, Y.-L., Almvik, M., Clarke, N., Eich-Greatorex, S., Ogaard, A.F., Krogstad, T., Lambers, H., Clarke, J.L., 2015. Contrasting responses of root morphology and rootexuded organic acids to low phosphorus availability in three important food crops with divergent root traits. AoB Plants 7. doi:10.1093/aobpla/plv097

- Warraich, E., Ahmed, N., Basra, S., Afzal, I., 2002. Effect of nitrogen on source-sink relationship in wheat. International Journal of Agriculture & Biology 4, 300–302.
- Wei, M., Hu, G., Wang, H., Bai, E., Lou, Y., Zhang, A., Zhuge, Y., 2017. 35 years of manure and chemical fertilizer application alters soil microbial community composition in a Fluvo-aquic soil in Northern China. European Journal of Soil Biology 82, 27–34. doi:10.1016/j.ejsobi.2017.08.002
- Wissuwa, M., Gamat, G., Ismail, A.M., 2005. Is root growth under phosphorus deficiency affected by source or sink limitations? Journal of Experimental Botany 56, 1943–1950. doi:10.1093/jxb/eri189
- Yan, F., Schubert, S., Mengel, K., 1996. Soil pH increase due to biological decarboxylation of organic anions. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 28, 617–624.
- Yan, X., Zhou, H., Zhu, Q.H., Wang, X.F., Zhang, Y.Z., Yu, X.C., Peng, X., 2013.
  Carbon sequestration efficiency in paddy soil and upland soil under long-term fertilization in southern China. Soil and Tillage Research 130, 42–51.
  doi:10.1016/j.still.2013.01.013
- Zhang, F., Shen, J., Zhang, J., Zuo, Y., Li, L., Chen, X., 2010. Rhizosphere processes and management for improving nutrient use efficiency and crop productivity: implications for China. Advances in Agronomy 107, 1–32. doi:10.1016/S0065-2113(10)07001-X
- Zhang, Q., Zhou, W., Liang, G., Sun, J., Wang, X., He, P., 2015a. Distribution of soil

nutrients, extracellular enzyme activities and microbial communities across particlesize fractions in a long-term fertilizer experiment. Applied Soil Ecology 94, 59–71. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2015.05.005

- Zhang, Q., Zhou, W., Liang, G., Wang, X., Sun, J., He, P., Li, L., 2015b. Effects of different organic manures on the biochemical and microbial characteristics of albic paddy soil in a short-term experiment. PLoS ONE 10, 1–19. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0124096
- Zhihui, W.E.N., Jianbo, S., Blackwell, M., Haigang, L.I., Bingqiang, Z., Huimin, Y.,
  2016. Combined applications of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizers with manure increase maize yield and nutrient uptake via stimulating root growth in a long-term experiment. Pedosphere 26, 62–73. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(15)60023-6

#### 1.12. Co-authorship statement

Manuscripts based on the chapter 2, entitled "Effects of organic and inorganic phosphorus amendments on the agronomic performance, biochemical and microbial characteristics of silage corn in podzolic soil" and chapter 3 "Evaluating the forage production and quality of silage corn under organic and inorganic phosphorus sources" will be submitted to PLOS One and European Journal of Agronomy (Ali, W., Ashiq, W., Nadeem, M., Zaeem, S. Gillani, M. S. S., Thomas, R., Unc, A., Kavanagh, V., Cheema, M. 2018). Waqas Ali, the thesis author will be the primary author and Dr. Cheema (supervisor), will be the corresponding and the last author. Dr. Adrian Unc (co-supervisor) and Dr. Raymond Thomas (committee member) will be sixth and seventh authors, respectively. Dr. Kavanagh, research collaborator, Department of Fisheries and Land Resources will be the eighth author. For the work in Chapter 2 and chapter 3, Dr. Cheema wrote the research grants, developed the layout of this research field trial and helped in results and discussion interpretation. Mr. Wagas was responsible for the data collection, analysis, and writing of the manuscript. Dr. Nadeem, Mr. Wagar, Mr. Zaeem, assisted in experimental set up and seeding the field experiment and sample preparation. Dr. Thomas provided specific guidance in lab analysis and Dr. Kavanagh helped in experimental layout and seeding of the experiment. Dr. Cheema supervised overall experimental activities, edited and reviewed manuscript.

#### Chapter 2

2. Effects of organic and inorganic phosphorus amendments on the agronomic performance, biochemical and microbial characteristics of silage corn in podzolic soil

## 2.1. Abstract

Phosphorus (P) is the 2<sup>nd</sup> most important mineral and limiting nutrients for plant growth, development and productivity. Inorganic P fertilizer application to soil is predominantly bound to Al<sup>+3</sup> and Fe<sup>+2</sup> in acidic soils or with Ca<sup>+2</sup> in alkaline soils, thereby reducing its availability to agricultural crops. Plants can improve phosphorus use efficiency (PUE) by modulating their root architecture including root morphology, topology and distribution patterns. Plant roots exude organic acids, acid phosphatase and some specific signaling substances, which are key drivers of P mobilization, solublization and acquisition in plants. Dairy manure application to agricultural soils can improve physiochemical properties of soil, and nutrients cycling by enhancing enzymes activities and soil microbial community structures leading to improved P availability in crops. This study aims to investigate the effects of organic and inorganic P sources on agronomic performance of silage corn genotypes, soil biochemical attributes and active microbial community composition in podzolic soils under cool climatic conditions. Experimental treatments were four P sources:  $[P_0 \text{ (control)}; P_1: \text{ dairy manure with high P conc.}; P_2: \text{ dairy manure with low P conc.}; P_3:$ inorganic P and five silage corn genotypes (Fusion RR, Yukon R, A4177G3RIB, DKC 23-17RIB, DKC 26-28RIB) and laid out in randomized complete block design. Agronomic performance (leaf area, chlorophyll contents, photosynthesis, shoot dry weight, root shoot ratio and dry matter yield), rhizosphere soil biochemical attributes (pH, phosphatase activity and soil available P), and microbial community composition were measured. Yukon R showed superior agronomic performance and produced 28% and 60% higher dry matter yield than A4177G3RIB in 2016 and DKC23-17RIB in 2017, respectively. High P manure application increased the dry matter yield by 28% and 33%, acid phosphatase activity (Ap-ase) by 29% and 44%, soil available P by 60% and 39% compared to control in 2016 and 2017 respectively. High P manure application significantly increased Gram negative (G-) bacteria, fungi, eukaryotes,  $\Sigma$ B-PLFAs and  $\Sigma$ PLFAs, compared to inorganic P and control. Yukon R and DKC 26-28RIB had higher active fungal biomass, bacteria as well total in their root rhizospheres regardless of P sources compared to the other genotypes evaluated. Pearson correlation analysis demonstrated a positive relationship between active microbial community structure and the agronomic performance of the silage corn.

## 2.2. Introduction

Fertilizer application is an important practice that affects soil quality, health, fertility and sustainability of agricultural production systems. Low inputs of organic materials and excessive use of mineral fertilizers generally reduced soil organic carbon (SOC) contents, with a consequent decline in soil quality, health, fertility and crop productivity (Zhang et al., 2015). To maintain and improve soil quality, management practices such as manure application, no tillage, crop rotation and crop residue incorporation have been very productive in different cropping systems (Huang et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2015; Yan et al., 2013). Inorganic fertilization is not an option to improve SOC (Cai et al., 2014). Therefore,

enhancing the sustainability of cropping systems involves the integrated use of organic and inorganic inputs to promote the soil ecosystem function and interactions of the soil microbial community in providing nutrients for plant growth (Drinkwater and Snapp, 2007). The appropriate utilization of organic and inorganic amendment, such as DM and inorganic fertilizer application for instance, could be a useful approach in restoring SOC, soil fertility and sustainability (Cai et al., 2014; Sharpe et al., 2004), and therefore can increase plant nutrients availability and enhance soil microbial biomass, activity and diversity (Mandal et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2008).

Organic fertilizer amendment and management can substantially improve soil structure (Papadopoulos et al., 2014), help retain C in the surface soil, and increase crop yields in different cropping systems (Bhattacharyya et al., 2015). Applications of organic materials (e.g. green manure, dairy or livestock manure, and crop residue/straw) can reduce the required amounts of chemical fertilizers and compensate for soil C losses caused by land-use changes (Almagro and Martínez-Mena, 2014). Thus, amending soil with organic materials is a promising strategy to build-up C levels, improve soil quality, health and active microbial community structure in low fertility and shallow soils (Wang et al., 2015; Yuan et al., 2014). Dairy manure is historically known as a rich source of nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) and micronutrients (Hirzel and Walter, 2008). Dairy manure application increases soil microbial biomass being a rich source of organic matter and energy for microbes (Mikha and Rice, 2004). Soil microbes includes bacteria, archaeal, fungi and protozoa all known to produce phosphatases (George et al., 2002), which may increase the solubilization of organic P compounds and making them available to the

plants. Furthermore, DM application improve plant physiological characteristics and dry matter yield by improving phosphorus use efficiency (PUE) and nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) (Bernier et al., 2014). The biochemical parameters include variables that are directly related to microbial activity (microbial biomass carbon, soil respiration etc.) (Dinesh et al., 2010), and extracellular enzymes involved in the carbon (C), nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) cycles in soil, play a major role in degradation of organic matter, mineralization and availability of plant nutrients (Gil-Sotres et al., 2005). Most organic manures added into soil contain monomeric and polymeric compounds (such as sugars, starches, amino acids, urea, ammonium salts, fats, oils, waxes, proteins, humus, hemicellulose, cellulose, lignin, minerals), and thus the decomposition of these organic matter depends on the microbial production of extracellular enzymes and their break down should occur before taking up of low molecular weight organic molecules by microbial cells (Allison and Jastrow, 2006; Nannipieri et al., 2012; Rashid et al., 2013).

A variety of microbial activities can be considered as soil quality indicators such as the active microbial biomass and diversity in soil under normal conditions and in response to perturbations or stressors (Anderson, 2003; Bending et al., 2004; Kennedy and Smith, 1995). Soil microbial communities are responsible for cycling nutrients, regulating gas exchange, inducing micro aggregation, and altering the biochemical soil environment (Mikha and Rice, 2004; White and Rice, 2009). All these microbial functions drive sustainable soil health and ultimately crop productivity. Consequently, soil biological diversity and richness is seen as a key tenet of soil health, particularly determinations of bacterial assemblages may be one such metric for assessing soil quality and improving soil fertility in agricultural production systems (Ashworth et al., 2017). Most studies focused on individual effects rather than combining effects of specific organic amendments on soil physicochemical properties. Biological properties are the most sensitive indicators of changes in the soil quality in different cropping systems due to their rapid responses to environmental changes (Lima et al., 2013). Consequently, these biological properties might be particularly useful for characterizing soil fertility and quality changes in short-term experiments. Information about the agronomic performance, biochemical and microbial communities' responses to organic and inorganic P fertilizer in podzolic soil under cool climatic region remains limited and needs to be investigated.

Phospholipid fatty acids (PLFAs) obtained from the membrane of microorganisms living in the soil are useful biomarkers that can be used to assess or provide estimates of the active soil microbial community composition, biomass and diversity under normal conditions and in response to land use changes, different types of management systems or stressors (Stark et al., 2007; Helgason et al., 2010). The microbial community, size and activity was observed to vary with different fertilizer managements, and the effects on soil fertility and productivity have been demonstrated using soil microbial PLFAs (Ai et al., 2012). Increases in the fungi/bacteria ratio have been linked to increases in soil C and ecological buffering capacity (Bossio and Scow, 1998; De Vries et al., 2012) in response to organic management (Bossio and Scow, 1998) as well as various organic amendments, such as livestock manure (Ling et al., 2014), crop residue (Marschner et al., 2003) and green manure (Liu et al., 2009). Agricultural management practices such as DM application, crop rotations and cover crops can reportedly increase or maintain soil quality

for long-term agricultural production, as organic amendment/crop residue may regulate bacterial communities (DeBruyn et al., 2011). The interacting factors of residue quality, quantity, and recalcitrance level associated with crop rotations can induce shifts in composition and frequency of archaeal and bacterial composition (White and Rice, 2009). Crop rotations, mono-cropping and cropping sequence diversity are also pivotal factors influencing bacterial assemblages and species diversity. High protein-containing biomass from soybeans and legume crops reportedly produce more labile residues than high C:N cereals such as corn (Sarrantonio and Gallandt, 2003). Continued demands for silage corn will likely result in increased continuous cropping acreage, as corn silage is palatable, has higher yields and energy content than many other forages (Staples, 2003). It also offers relatively consistent quality, making it an attractive forage crop to livestock and dairy industry. However, little information exists on the short-term influence of continuous silage corn cropping, on soil biochemical and microbial community composition under organic and inorganic P amendments. Consequently, the aim of this study was to determine the effects of organic and inorganic P fertilizer application on agronomic performance, extracellular enzyme activities and microbial composition and abundance in podzolic soils under northern agriculture production systems. We hypothesized that organic and inorganic P fertilizer amendments will improve enhance extracellular enzyme activities and create phylogenetically diverse active microbial communities in soil, thereby increasing phosphorus availability and improve agronomic performance of silage corn.

Podzolic soils typically have a coarse-sandy texture and high acidity, with pH in the topsoil layer around 4 to 4.5 (Sauer et al., 2007). These conditions signal a poor nutrient

supply for agricultural crops. Moreover, prior studies have shown that nutrient availability in podzols may not conform to classical tenets of soil chemistry (Grand and Lavkulich, 2013). As agricultural development is on fast track in the province, so there is a need to enhance our knowledge and understanding on nutrient availability, enzyme activities and soil microbiological composition and abundance in podzolic soils under organic and inorganic amendments, so that nutrient management practices may be adapted to allow an eco-environment friendly and economically sustainable agricultural production system. This study will investigate the changes in soil fertility under different organic and inorganic P amendments by measuring soil biochemical and microbiological properties and thus provide strong evidence for improving the soil quality and health and agronomic performance of silage corn in podzolic soil. Our objectives were to evaluate the effects of organic and inorganic P sources and genotypic response on (i) agronomic performance (leaf area, leaf chlorophyll contents, net photosynthesis and dry matter yield) of silage corn (ii) soil available P, enzyme activities, and microbial communities' abundance (iii) relationship between agronomic performance, biochemical and active microbial communities.

## 2.3. Material and Methods

#### **2.3.1.** Experimental site and treatments

A field research trial was conducted at Pynn's Brook Research Station, Pasadena (49.087° N, 57.541° W), during 2016 and 2017 growing seasons. Before conducting the experiment, composite soil samples were collected from the experimental site and were

sent to the Soil, Plant and Feed Laboratory, Department of Fisheries, and Land Resources, St. John's NL for complete nutrients analysis. Soil analyses report can be seen in Table 2.1. Soil texture was determined to be loamy sand with 82.0% sand, 11.6% silt, and clay particles were 6.4%. Weather data (maximum temperature, minimum temperature, average temperature, and precipitation) was obtained from a weather station located adjacent to the experimental site at Pynn's Brook Research Station. Mean average temperature during 2016 and 2017 growing season was 12.20 °C and 11.81 °C respectively. However, 2017 growing season received only 496 mm rain and was much dryer compared to 2016, where 704 mm rain was recorded (Figure 2.3.1, Table 2.2). The experimental treatments were four P sources and five silage corn genotypes and was laid out in randomized complete block design (RCBD) with three replications. Each experimental treatment plot was  $4.8 \times$ 1.5 meters with row to row distance 0.76 m orientated in east-west directions. Silage corn genotypes were chosen on the basis of corn heating units (CHU) requirement as western Newfoundland falls in northern climate production systems, and needs low heating unit crops. Details about silage corn genotypic CHU, genetic traits and suppliers are given in Table 2.3. Two phosphorus manure sources used in this experiment were selected on the basis of P concentration in manure obtained from two dairy farms. Details about the P sources along with rate of application are given in Table 2.4. For determining the high and low P concentration in DM, well-agitated DM samples were collected from all ten dairy farms across western NL before the start of growing seasons to analyze their P concentrations. DM samples were sent to soil, plant and feed laboratory, Department of Fisheries, and Land Resources, St. John's NL. Thereafter, two DM samples were selected based on the high and low P concentration and were designated as  $P_1$  (high P) and  $P_2$  (low P), and were sourced from Larch Grove Farm and Rideout's Dairy Farm respectively (Table 2.5). Details about P sources is given in Table 2.4, whereas, complete manure analysis report of both dairy farms is presented in Table 2.5.

Soil Properties	2016	2017
Soil pH	6.4	6.8
Phosphorus (mg/L)	81	74
Potassium (mg/L)	38	49
Calcium (mg/L)	1256	1120
Magnesium (mg/L)	265	218
Organic matter (%)	2.98	3.01
Sulphur (mg/L)	14	15
Zinc (mg/L)	0.6	1.3
Copper (mg/L)	1.1	2.1
Sodium (mg/L)	7	6
Iron (mg/L)	150	130
Boron (mg/L)	0.1	0.2
Manganese (mg/L)	18	16
Aluminum (mg/L)	1507	1409

Table 2.1 Soil analysis report of experimental site in 2016 and 2017



Figure 2.3.1: Weather conditions at Pynn's Brook Research Station, Pasadena during 2017 (a) and 2016 (b) growing season

Growth period	Mean mat temperatu (°C)	ximum ıre	Mean tempera	minimum ture	Mean average temper	e ature	Rainfall	(mm)
	2016	2017	2016	2017	2016	2017	2016	2017
May 1-15	12.06	12.8	0.26	-1.46	6.16	5.66	36	11
May 16-31	16.06	1306	2.86	0	9.37	6.53	47	47
June 1-15	14.86	15.33	4.4	3.53	9.63	9.43	107	35
June 16-30	23.26	21.46	7.73	8.4	15.5	14.93	41	45
July 1-15	21	23.33	7.93	8.8	14.46	16.06	42	29
July 16-31	24.81	24.18	10.93	8.31	17.87	16.25	40	12
August 1-15	23.06	23.8	10.06	9.46	16.56	16.63	27	53
August 16-31	21.75	21.75	10	6.87	15.87	14.5	112	32
September 1-15	18.4	18.4	7.46	7.53	12.93	13.3	98	80
September 16-30	14.2	14.2	3.26	2.86	8.73	9.1	36	76
October 1-15	14.05	14.05	0.4	2.4	7.22	7.6	118	76
							704	496

Table 2.2 Weather conditions at Pynn's Brook Research Station, Pasadena during 2016 and 2017 growing seasons

Table 2.3 Basic information about silage corn genotypes used in the experiment

Corn silage genotype	Corn heat units	Genetic trait	Supplier
Fusion RR	2200	RR2	Brett Young, Canada
Yukon R	2150	RR2	Brett Young, Canada
A4177G3RIB	2175	VT3P/RR	Pride Seeds, Canada
DKC23-17RIB	2075	VT2P	DEKALB, Canada
DKC26-28RIB	2150	VT2P	DEKALB, Canada

RIB = Refuge is in the bag; RR = Roundup Ready; VT2P = VT Double PRO<sup>®</sup> RIB Complete; VT3P= VT TriplePRO<sup>®</sup> RIB Complete insect protection; RR2 = Resistance gene to Roundup<sup>®</sup> and Factor  $540^{®}$ 

Table 2.4 Details about P sources used in the experiment

P sources	
Po	Control
P <sub>1</sub>	Manure with high P (0.6 kg P <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub> 1000 L <sup>-1</sup> ) @ 30000 L ha <sup>-1</sup>
P <sub>2</sub>	Manure with low P (0.3 kg $P_2O_5 1000 L^{-1}$ ) @ 30000 L ha <sup>-1</sup>
P <sub>3</sub>	Inorganic P (Triple super phosphate) @ 110 kg ha <sup>-1</sup>

	Larch Grove	Dairy Farm	Rideouts Da	irv Farm	
	(High P Manu	ure)	(Low P manure)		
Manure Properties	2016	2017	2016	2017	
Dry matter (%)	9.33	10.9	3.57	1.7	
pH	6.8	6.8	7	7.1	
Nitrogen (kg/1000 L)	1.5	1.9	0.5	0.5	
Phosphorus (kg/1000 L)	0.6	1.7	0.3	0.3	
Potassium(kg/1000 L)	4.1	4.0	1.3	1.3	
Total Calcium (%)	0.164	0.19	0.059	0.042	
Total Magnesium (%)	0.069	0.077	0.026	0.018	
Total Iron (ppm)	49	68	19	7	
Total Manganese (ppm)	23	21	9	5	
Total Copper (ppm)	4.7	4.5	33	20	
Total Zinc (ppm)	17	21	8	5	
Total Boron (ppm)	3	3.4	1	0.5	
Total Sodium (ppm)	911	904	275	241	

Table 2.5 Composition of diary manure sources used in the experiment

## 2.3.2. Crop husbandry

Silage corn genotypes were seeded on May 25<sup>th</sup> and May 23<sup>rd</sup> during 2016 and 2017, using SAMCO systems (SAMCO 2200 Agricultural Manufacturing, Limerick, Ireland). SAMCO 2200 system has the ability to seed two corn rows and simultaneously cover the seeded plots with plastic sheet. The partially perforated plastic sheet provides cover over about 1 m width for two adjacent corn rows to enhance the CHU during early crop growth for better germination and seedling establishment. One week prior to seeding, land was disked and crop was seeded @ 90900 plants ha<sup>-1</sup>. In each growing season, fresh manure samples were sourced out from Larch Grove and Rideout's Dairy Farms and applied to the respective DM treatment plots @ 30,000 L ha<sup>-1</sup> according to the local dairy farmer's practices. The applied DM was incorporated thoroughly in the top 15 cm soil layer a day before seeding. It is pertinent to mention that experimental plots were kept at the same locations during both years to avoid any treatment effects. The remaining crop

nutrient requirements were fulfilled through inorganic fertilizers keeping in view the soil nutrient status, DM analyses reports and regional recommendations for silage corn. Roundup WeatherMax® (Monsanto Canada Inc.) was applied according to the instructions given on label during both years to control the weeds, and crop was harvested at black layer stage on October 18 and 13 during 2016 and 2017, respectively. All agronomic performance parameters, plant and soil samples for biochemical and microbial community analysis were collected using standard procedures.

## 2.3.3. Agronomic performance parameters

Leaf area, chlorophyll contents, photosynthesis rate, root-shoot dry weight and root-shoot ratio were measured at six leaf, twelve leaf, tasseling and black layer stages of the silage corn. However, plant height and DMY were recorded at harvesting stage of the crop. A portable leaf area meter LI-3000 C system (LICOR Biosciences), was used to measure the leaf area on the basis of length and width of area. The final data set was downloaded using LI-3000C software (www.licor.com). Chlorophyll contents of fully expanded leaves from top were measured, using SPAD 502 Plus chlorophyll meter (Konica Minolta Europe) and measurements were taken between 8:30-14:00 h. Leaf photosynthetic rate was measured from the fully expanded leaves from the top between 8:30 and 14:00 h using LI-6400XT portable Photosynthesis system (LI-COR Biosciences, Lincoln, Nebraska). Photosynthetic system used blue light (475 nm) and red light emitting diodes (LED) (630 nm) as a light source mounted on a two square centimeter. The measurements were recorded when a steady state at approximately 2-4 minutes were obtained at 2000

µmol photon m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> PAR and leaf cuvette temperature was set to 25 °C. The CO<sub>2</sub> entering in the cuvette was maintained at 400 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> while the relative humidity varied between 40–50%. The photosynthesis data was downloaded using LI-6400XT software (LICOR – 6400XT instruction Manual, version 5, LI-COR Inc., Lincoln, Nebraska, USA). Three plants from each treatment were uprooted to measure root-shoot dry weight. After uprooting, the root and shoot were separated from each plant sample then stored in polythene bag and immediately transported to the laboratory, and adhered soil from the roots was removed gently using brush followed by washing with tap water. After washing shoots were chopped in to small pieces and dried in forced air oven (Shell Labs USA) at 65 °C till a constant weight was obtained. The oven dry weight was recorded for estimating dry weight per plant. Root shoot ratio was calculated by using the following formula:

Root shoot ratio = root dry weight (g) / shoot dry weight (g)

Plant height was measured using a meter rod. Briefly, six plants from each treatment plot were chosen randomly for measuring plant height, and the mean values were calculated for each replicate. For measuring the DMY, crop was harvested manually from one square meter area of each treatment plot at black layer stage. The fresh biomass was recorded with weighing balance, and then samples were chopped into small pieces to dry in a forced air oven (Shell Labs USA) at 65 °C until constant dry weight was attained. The dry matter yield % was determined as follows:

Dry matter = (weight of samples after drying / weight of samples before drying) x 100

62

Dry matter yield = Fresh biomass x % Dry matter

## 2.3.4. Soil sampling and analysis methods

Three plants from each treatment plot were uprooted, and the adherent soil was gently removed from all roots and mixed in to a composite sample. Soil samples were kept on ice in a cooler, immediately transported to the laboratory and sieved through 2 mm mesh to remove debris and other waste materials; then divided in to three subsamples. One subsample was air dried at 25 °C for determining soil available P and pH, one sub-sample was stored at 4°C for biochemical analysis (enzymes) and the third sub-sample was stored at -20 °C for PLFAs to determine the active microbial community composition and abundance (the soil was freeze-dried before the determination of PLFAs).

## 2.3.5. Biochemical attributes

Soil pH was measured by extracting 10 g air dried soil with 20 mL of 0.01 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> (calcium chloride) in 50 mL polypropylene tubes. The soil solution was then mixed for 30 minutes on an orbital shaker (Innova<sup>™</sup> 2300 Platform Shaker, New Brunswick Scientific, Canada) at 120 rpm, then allowed to stand for 1 hour and the pH was measured with a pH meter (METTLER TOLEDO, Canada) (Hendershot et al., 2006).

The acid phosphatase activity (Ap-ase) was based on the determination of pnitrophenol phosphate (PNP) (Tabatabai and Bremner, 1969). Briefly, 1 g soil was extracted using 0.09 M 1 mL citrate buffer in 15 mL polypropylene tubes and centrifuged at 5000 rpm for ten minutes. A 50 µl aliquot of the supernatant was dispensed into a 96well microplate where 50 µl p-nitrophenol phosphate substrate and 30 µl citrate buffer was added to all the samples. The samples were then incubated at 37 °C for 30 minutes. After incubation, 20 µl of NaOH (sodium hydroxide) was dispensed in all wells to stop further reaction and the absorbance of the mixture measured at 450 nm with BioTek Synergy Cytation<sup>TM</sup> 3 imaging reader. The absorbance was used to calculate the acid phosphatase activity in the sample and the values expressed in µmole p-nitrophenol g<sup>-1</sup> soil min<sup>-30</sup>.

Soil available P (SAP) was analyzed using the Mehlich 3 extraction method (Mehlich, 1984) where 2 g of soil was extracted with 20 mL of Mehlich 3 solution in 50 mL Erlenmeyer flask, The sample mixtures was shaken for 5 minutes on an orbital shaker at 120 rpm (Innova<sup>™</sup> 2300 Platform Shaker, New Brunswick Scientific, Canada). After shaking the solution was filtered using Whatman 42 filter papers (Sigma Aldrich, ON. Canada). Aliquots of the filtrate was diluted 50 times and then analyzed with AA3 Continuous Flow Analytical System (AA3HR, SEAL Analytical, USA) to determined soil available P, expressed in mg/kg as follow:

Mehlich 3 extractable P (mg/kg) = [Concentration of P in Mehlich 3 extract, mg/L] x [0.020 L extract / 0.002 kg soil]

# 2.3.6. Phospholipids fatty acids analysis

Phospholipids fatty acids (PLFAs) were determined according to the methods reported by Folch et al. (1957) and Gomez-brandon and Dominguez (2010). Total fatty acids were extracted from 4 g soil with 10 mL chloroform-methanol, 2:1 (v/v) in 20 ml

glass vials. The samples were homogenized with a sonicator for 5 minutes (amplitude 50; pulse on time: 5 seconds; and pulse off time; 10 seconds), and mixture was allowed to separate at room temperature for 24 hours. The supernatant was filtered and collected in glass vials, and then evaporated to dryness under a stream of oxygen free  $N_2$  gas. The total lipid extracts obtained were dissolved in 2 mL chloroform and fractionated into neutral lipids, glycolipids and phospholipids, with chloroform (2.5 mL), acetone (4 mL) and methanol (2.5 mL), by means of solid phase extraction (SPE) on silicic acid columns (Discovery <sup>R</sup> DSC- Si SPE tube, 50 µm, 70 Å, 100 mg/1mL). The separated phospholipids were evaporated to dryness under a stream of oxygen free N<sub>2</sub> gas. Phospholipids extracts were dissolved in 500  $\mu$ l of methyl tertiary-butyl ether. Aliquots (100  $\mu$ l aliquots) were taken from the 500  $\mu$ l extracts and placed in a screw-cap vials with 50  $\mu$ l of derivatization agent trimethyl sulfonium hydroxide (TMSH), vortex mixed for 30 s and allowed to react for 30 minutes. 10 µl of internal standard methyl nonadeconate (19:0 @ 160 ug/ml) were added to the extract of methylated PLFAs and the samples analyzed with Gas Chromatography-flame ionization detection (GC-FID).

## 2.3.7. Phospholipid fatty acids (PLFAs) analysis with GC-FID

PLFAs analysis was conducted on a Thermo Scientific Trace 1300 gas chromatography coupled to a flame ionization detector (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The methylated fatty acids were separated with a DB-23 column (30  $m \times 0.32 mm \times 0.25 \mu m$ ; Agilent Technologies, Canada) by supplying helium (He) as carrier gas at a continuous flow rate of 1 ml/min. The GC injector was run in splitless mode and 1 µl of each samples was applied to the injection system using a Tri-plus autosampler. The initial oven temperature was 50 °C (1 min hold), then increased using a heating rate of 20 °C/min to 175 °C, kept at 175 °C for 1 min, and further increased at a rate of 4 °C/min to 230 °C (hold up to 5 min). To identify the methylated PLFAs, the retention times and mass spectra were compared with those obtained from commercial standards (NIST database) (Thermo Scientific, ON. Canada, Supelco 37 Component Fatty acid methyl ester (FAME) mix, and Bacterial acid methyl ester (BAME) Mix purchased from, Sigma Aldrich, ON, Canada). Methylated PLFAs were quantified using internal standards and the results expressed in nmol g<sup>-1</sup> soil. A total of 47 PLFAs were identified and 27 used to measure the total microbial biomass are mentioned in Table 2.6.

## 2.3.8. Statistical analysis

Data was analyzed using the statistical package Statistix 8.1 (Analytical software, Tallahassee FL 32317, USA) to determine the effects of phosphorus sources on agronomic performance of silage corn genotypes, soil pH, soil available P, acid phosphatase activity and soil microbial community structure. Least significance difference (LSD) method at the probability level of 0.05 was used to separate the mean differences of the treatments. Principal component analysis was done using a PAST (Paleontological Statistics 3.0) to determine the effects of genotypes and P sources on agronomic performance, soil biochemical parameters and the active soil microbial community, and its relationship among the variables. Sigma plot 14.0 (Systat Software Inc.) were used to make weather graph.

Table 2.6 PLFAs as microbial biomarkers

Taxonomic group	Biomarkers	References
Gram positive (G+)	C14_0	(Sheng et al., 2012)
-	i-C15 0	(Wang et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016)
	a-C15_0	(Wang et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016)
	C15_0	(Huygens et al., 2011; Papatheodorou et al., 2012)
	i-C16_0	(Wang et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016)
	C16_0	(Kujur and Patel, 2014; Wu et al., 2015)
	C16_1n-7	(Brockett et al., 2012; (Wang et al., 2016)
	i-C17_0	(Wang et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016)
	C17_0	(Huygens et al., 2011; Papatheodorou et al., 2012)
	C18_0	(Brockett et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2015)
	C18_1n-9cis	(Bsrockett et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016)
Gram Negative (G-)	2OH_C10_0	(Lasater et al., 2017)
	2OH_C12_0	(Lasater et al., 2017)
	C16_0	(Kujur and Patel, 2014; Wu et al., 2015)
	C16_1n-7	(Brockett et al., 2012; (Wang et al., 2016)
	3OH_C12_0	(Kaur et al., 2005)
	cycloC17_0	(Wang et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016)
	C18_0	(Brockett et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2015)
	C18_1n-9_trans	(Moreno et al., 2017)
	C18_1n-9cis	(Brockett et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016)
	3OH_C14_0	(Papatheodorou et al., 2012)
	cycloC19_0	(Wang et al., 2016)
	C14_1n_5	(Zhang et al., 2016)
	C17_1n_7	(Gomez-brandon and Dominguez, 2010)
Fungi	C18_1n_9cis	(Brockett et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016)
	C18_2n_6cis	(Joergensen and Potthoff, 2005; Zhang et al., 2016)
	C18_3n_3	(Mckinley et al., 2005; Wu et al., 2015)
	C20_1n_9	(Li et al., 2016; Mckinley et al., 2005)
Protozoa	C20_0	(Schindlbacher et al., 2011)
	C20_3n_6	(Buyer and Sasser, 2012)
	C20_4n_6	(Wu et al., 2013)
Eukaryotes	C18_2n_6cis	(Joergensen and Potthoff, 2005; Zhang et al., 2016)
	C21 0	(Zelles, 1999)

#### 2.4. Results

#### 2.4.1. Agronomic performance parameters

# **2.4.1.1.** Leaf area $(cm^2 plant^{-1})$

Genotypes × phosphorus sources interaction had significantly (p<0.05) affected leaf area (LA) during 2016 (Table 2.7). Highest LA was recorded in Yukon R (3408 cm<sup>2</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup>) when high P concentration manure was applied compared to lowest LA (2046 cm<sup>2</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup>) was produced by A4177G3 RIB in control treatment (Table 2.9). Interaction between genotypes and P sources (G x P) on LA was non-significant in 2017 (Table 2.8), however, genotypes and P sources had significantly (p<0.01) influenced LA (Table 2.8). Individual comparison of treatments means showed that Yukon R produced significantly higher LA (3244 cm<sup>2</sup>) while the lowest LA (2040 cm<sup>2</sup>) was noticed in DKC 23-17RIB. Phosphorus sources also showed significant effects on LA, and highest LA (2884 cm<sup>2</sup>) was noted in high P concentration manure treatment. Lowest LA (2120 cm<sup>2</sup>) was recorded in P<sub>0</sub> treatment (Table 2.9). High P manure increased 36% LA compared to control treatment.

## 2.4.1.2. Chlorophyll contents (SPAD values)

Chlorophyll contents were significantly (p<0.05) influenced with Genotypes × phosphorus sources interaction during 2016 (Table 2.7). Highest chlorophyll contents (48.66) were noted in Yukon R under P<sub>1</sub> treatment, and the lowest were recorded in A4177G3RIB under control treatment (Table 2.10). In 2017, Genotypes × phosphorus

sources had significant (p<0.01) effects on chlorophyll contents. Pattern of highest and lowest chlorophyll contents were the same in 2016.

# 2.4.1.3. Photosynthesis rate (µmol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup>)

Genotypes × phosphorus sources had significantly (p<0.05) affected net photosynthesis during 2016 (Table 2.7). Higher photosynthesis rate (34.43 µmol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup>) was recorded in Yukon R when fertilized with high P manure compared to lowest photosynthesis (25. 67 µmol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup>) was observed in A4177G3 in control treatment (Table 2.11). In 2017, genotypes × phosphorus sources showed nonsignificant effects on photosynthesis rate. However, genotypes and P sources had significantly (p<0.001) influenced photosynthesis rate (Table 2.8). Individual comparison of treatment means showed that higher photosynthesis (29.28 µmol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup>) was noted in Yukon R, which was statistically at par with DKC26-28RIB and Fusion RR, compared to the lowest (25.20 µmol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup>) exhibited by DKC23-17RIB (Table 2.11). High P manure showed greater photosynthesis (28.99 µmol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup>) compared to control (26.78 µmol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup>). Surprisingly, inorganic P source and control treatment produced similar photosynthesis.

# 2.4.1.4. Shoot dry weight (g plant<sup>-1</sup>)

Statistical analyses demonstrated that Genotypes  $\times$  Phosphorus sources had significantly (p<0.01) affected shoot dry weight during 2016 (Table 2.7). Yukon R produced higher shoot dry weight (169.17 g plant<sup>-1</sup>) when amended with high P manure

and A4177G3RIB genotype exhibited low shoot dry weight (98.67 g plant<sup>-1</sup>) in control treatment. Genotypes × Phosphorus sources interaction had non-significant effects on shoot dry weight during 2017. Genotypes and P sources as individual factor significantly (p<0.001) influenced shoot dry weight (Table 2.8). Individual comparison of treatment means for genotypes showed that Yukon R produced highest shoot dry weight followed by Fusion RR and lowest was exhibited by DKC23-17 RIB. However, Fusion RR, DKC 26-28RIB and A4177G3 RIB were statistically at par with each other. Among P sources, high P manure produced higher shoot dry weight followed by low P manure compared to control treatment which produced lowest shoot dry weight. Shoot dry weight of silage corn was 35% higher with high P manure compared to control.

# 2.4.1.5. Root shoot ratio (plant<sup>-1</sup>)

Root: shoot ratio was significantly influenced by Genotypes × Phosphorus sources interaction in 2016 & 2017 (Table 2.7 & Table 2.8). In both years highest root shoot ratio was recorded in control treatment. However, in 2016, highest root shoot ratio (0.96 plant<sup>-1</sup>) was produced by A4177G3RIB followed by DKC 26-28RIB, and lowest was also produced by DKC26-28RIB with inorganic P source. In 2017, Fusion RR produced highest root-shoot ratio and lowest was observed in Yukon R with inorganic P source application (Table 2.13).

## 2.4.1.6. Plant height (cm)

Genotypes × Phosphorus sources interaction significantly (p < 0.05) affected plant height during 2016, however, G × P sources interaction was non-significant in 2017 (Table 2.7 & Table 2.8). Maximum plant height (236.33 cm) was attained by Yukon R in high P manure treatment, whereas minimum plant height (188.33 cm) was displayed by A4177G3RIB in control treatment (Table 2.14). During 2017, the interactive effect of G x P sources showed non-significant effects, however, genotypes and P sources as an individual factor had significant effects significant on plant height (Table 2.8). Individual comparison of genotype means showed that, Yukon R was the tallest and attained greatest plant height (194.87 cm) and A4177G3RIB produced lowest plant height (150.39 cm). Among P sources, high P manure treatment was the most effective treatment which produced tallest plants compared to shortest plant height was achieved in control treatment (Table 2.14).Both P manure treatments (high and low P manure) were statistically at par with each other.

# 2.4.1.7. Dry matter yield (Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>)

Genotypes, P sources and their interaction (G × P) had significantly (p<0.01) affected dry matter yield (DMY) during 2016 and non-significant interaction between G × P was noted in 2017 (Table 2.7 & Table 2.8). Manure with high P treatment led to produce high dry matter yield (21.94 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) of Yukon R, and lowest DMY (13.12 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) was recorded by A4177G3RIB in control treatment (Table 2.15). During 2017, among genotypes, Yukon R produced highest DMY of 14.99 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, followed by DKC 26-28RIB

which produced 12.97 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> whereas, DKC23-17RIB produced lowest DMY of 9.34 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>. DKC 26-28RIB and Fusion RR were statistically at par in DMY production (12.97 and 12.66 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>). P sources showed highly significant (p<0.001) differences in DMY, and high P manure treatment produced higher DMY of 14.23 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> followed by low P manure application and lowest (10.67 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) was recorded in control treatment. High P manure produced 33.39% higher DMY compared to control treatment (Table 2.15).

## 2.4.2. Biochemical attributes

ANOVA (Analysis of variance) showed that Genotypes × phosphorus sources significantly (p<0.001) affected soil rhizosphere pH during 2016 (Table 2.16). High pH was found in the rhizosphere of Fusion RR when inorganic P was applied, compared to lowest soil pH observed in DKC26-28RIB genotype in the same P treatment (Table 2.18). However, Genotypes × phosphorus sources on soil rhizosphere pH was significant in 2017 (Table 2.17). Comparison of treatment means showed that soil pH was highest in the rhizosphere of A4177G3 RIB genotype under inorganic P, and lowest was found in DKC23-17RIB under same treatment. Manure with high P centration significantly (p<0.001) increased soil rhizosphere pH and lowest was noted in control treatment (Table 2.18).

Agronomic Parameters	Genotypes	Phosphorus sources	G x P	Coefficient of variation%
Leaf area	***	***	*	3.93
Chlorophyll contents	***	***	*	3.15
Photosynthesis rate	***	***	*	2.88
Shoot dry weight	***	***	**	4.52
Root shoot ratio	NS	***	**	8.14
Plant height	***	***	*	2.16
Dry matter yield	***	***	**	5.18

Table 2.7 ANOVA for agronomic performance parameters during 2016

(\*\*\* Significant at p < 0.001, \*\* Significant at p < 0.1, \*Significant at p < 0.05, NS= Non-Significant)

Table 2.8 ANOVA for agronomic performance parameters during 2017

14010 2.0 11110 111 101 45	enonine periorina	nee parameters aaring	2017	
Agronomic Parameters	Genotypes	Phosphorus sources	G x P	Coefficient of variation%
Leaf area	***	***	NS	13.28
Chlorophyll contents	***	***	***	5.73
Photosynthesis rate	***	***	NS	5.63
Shoot dry weight	***	***	NS	14.2
Root shoot ratio	***	**	*	19.54
Plant height	***	***	NS	5.55
Dry matter yield	***	***	NS	14.26

(\*\*\* Significant at p < 0.001, \*\* Significant at p < 0.1, \*Significant at p < 0.05, NS= Non-Significant)

		<u> </u>			<u> </u>	<u> </u>	
	G x P	Fusion RR	Yukon R	A4177G3RIB	DKC 23-17RIB	DKC26-28RIB	Means
	P <sub>0</sub>	2281.6 <sup>j</sup>	2600.3 fgh	2046.2 <sup>k</sup>	2548.3 <sup>gh</sup>	2454.6 <sup>hij</sup>	2386 <sup>D</sup>
2016	$P_1$	2700.8 efg	3408 <sup>a</sup>	2626.8 fgh	2991.2 bc	3164.6 <sup>b</sup>	2978 <sup>A</sup>
2016	$P_2$	2547.2 <sup>gh</sup>	3162.2 <sup>b</sup>	2487.5 <sup>hi</sup>	2725.1 <sup>ef</sup>	2968.4 <sup>cd</sup>	2778 <sup>в</sup>
	<b>P</b> <sub>3</sub>	2349.7 <sup>ij</sup>	2810.8 de	2331.7 <sup>ij</sup>	2590.2 <sup>fgh</sup>	2833.6 <sup>cde</sup>	2583 <sup>C</sup>
	Means	2469.8 <sup>D</sup>	2995.3 <sup>A</sup>	2373.1 <sup>E</sup>	2713.7 <sup>C</sup>	2855.3 <sup>B</sup>	
	P <sub>0</sub>	1897	3026.6	1881.8	1655	2141.4	2120 <sup>C</sup>
2017	$\mathbf{P}_1$	2678.6	3683.8	2538.6	2578.7	2940.3	2884 <sup>A</sup>
2017	$P_2$	2522.5	3306.3	2333.5	2246.2	2508.3	2583 <sup>в</sup>
	<b>P</b> <sub>3</sub>	2267.7	2962.5	1938	1682.6	2464.3	2263 <sup>C</sup>
	Means	2341.5 <sup>BC</sup>	3244.8 <sup>A</sup>	2173 <sup>CD</sup>	2040.6 <sup>D</sup>	2513.6 <sup>B</sup>	

Table 2.9 Effects of phosphorus sources on leaf area (cm<sup>2</sup>) of silage corn genotypes at tasseling stage during 2016 and 2017

(Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 %)

Table 2.10 Effects of phosphorus sources on chlorophyll contents of silage corn genotypes at tasseling stage during 2016 and 2017

	G x P	Fusion RR	Yukon R	A4177G3RIB	DKC 23-17RIB	DKC26-28RIB	Means
	P <sub>0</sub>	42 efgh	42.66 def	37 <sup>j</sup>	39.66 <sup> i</sup>	42.33 defg	40.73 <sup>D</sup>
2016	$P_1$	45.33 <sup>b</sup>	48.66 <sup>a</sup>	45.33 <sup>b</sup>	44.33 bcd	45.66 <sup>b</sup>	45.86 <sup>A</sup>
2010	$P_2$	45 <sup>bc</sup>	45.66 <sup>b</sup>	42.66 def	42.33 defg	44 bcde	43.93 <sup>B</sup>
	<b>P</b> <sub>3</sub>	40 <sup>hi</sup>	45.33 <sup>b</sup>	40.33 <sup>ghi</sup>	41.33 fghi	43 <sup>cdef</sup>	42 <sup>C</sup>
	Means	43.08 B	45.58 A	41.33 C	41.91 C	43.75 B	
	P <sub>0</sub>	41.84 <sup>e</sup>	44.22 abcde	42.56 bcde	34.3 <sup>f</sup>	42.34 <sup>cde</sup>	41.05 <sup>B</sup>
2017	$\mathbf{P}_1$	44.04 abcde	46.98 <sup>a</sup>	45 abcde	45.96 abcd	46.22 <sup>abc</sup>	45.64 <sup>A</sup>
2017	$P_2$	42.08 de	46.6 <sup>ab</sup>	43.58 abcde	44.7 abcde	44.74 abcde	44.34 <sup>A</sup>
	<b>P</b> <sub>3</sub>	41.62 <sup>e</sup>	46.64 <sup>ab</sup>	43.68 abcde	31.86 <sup>f</sup>	42.27 <sup>cde</sup>	41.22 <sup>в</sup>
	Means	42.4 <sup>B</sup>	46.11 <sup>A</sup>	43.71 <sup>B</sup>	39.20 <sup>C</sup>	43.89 <sup>B</sup>	

(Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 %)

	G x P	Fusion RR	Yukon R	A4177G3RIB	DKC 23-17RIB	DKC26-28RIB	Means
	P <sub>0</sub>	27.35 <sup>k</sup>	30.42 efghi	25.67 <sup>1</sup>	29.27 <sup>hij</sup>	30.62 efgh	28.67 <sup>D</sup>
2016	$\mathbf{P}_1$	31.65 <sup>cde</sup>	34.43 <sup>a</sup>	31.61 <sup>cde</sup>	32.12 bcd	33.5 <sup>ab</sup>	32.66 <sup>A</sup>
2016	$P_2$	29.91 fghij	33.02 <sup>abc</sup>	29.11 <sup>ij</sup>	30.32 efghi	31.23 def	30.72 <sup>в</sup>
	P <sub>3</sub>	29.57 <sup>ghij</sup>	32.39 bcd	27.47 <sup>k</sup>	28.49 <sup>jk</sup>	31 defg	29.78 <sup>C</sup>
	Means	29.62 C	32.56 A	28.46 <sup>D</sup>	30.05 <sup>C</sup>	31.58 <sup>B</sup>	
	P <sub>0</sub>	27.17	30.34	25.45	22.834	28.087	26.78 <sup>B</sup>
2017	$\mathbf{P}_1$	29.95	29.13	28	27.503	30.36	28.99 <sup>A</sup>
2017	$P_2$	29.34	29.22	27.67	25.835	30.074	28.43 <sup>A</sup>
	P <sub>3</sub>	28.06	28.43	26.38	24.637	27.531	27.01 <sup>B</sup>
	Means	28.63 <sup>A</sup>	29.28 <sup>A</sup>	26.88 <sup>B</sup>	25.20 <sup>C</sup>	29.01 <sup>A</sup>	

Table 2.11 Effects of phosphorus sources on photosynthesis rate ( $\mu$ mol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup>) of silage corn genotypes at tasseling stage during 2016 and 2017

 $\overline{(\text{Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 \%)}$ 

Table 2.12 Effects of phosphorus sources on shoot	dry weight (g plant	) of silage corn genotypes at	t black layer stage during 2016 and 2017
1 1			

	1 1		2		0 0 11	2	0 0
	G x P	Fusion RR	Yukon R	A4177G3RIB	DKC 23-17RIB	DKC26-28RIB	Means
	P <sub>0</sub>	112.5 <sup>k</sup>	133.7 <sup>fghij</sup>	98.67 <sup>1</sup>	126.33 <sup>j</sup>	129.67 <sup>ghij</sup>	120.17 <sup>D</sup>
2016	$\mathbf{P}_1$	146.67 bcde	169.17 <sup>a</sup>	130.67 <sup>ghij</sup>	147.17 bcd	151 <sup>b</sup>	148.93 <sup>A</sup>
2016	$P_2$	145.7 bcde	149.33 bc	126.87 <sup>ij</sup>	130.33 <sup>ghij</sup>	143.67 bcdef	139.18 <sup>B</sup>
	<b>P</b> <sub>3</sub>	138.17 defgh	136.67 efghi	125.77 <sup>j</sup>	129.17 <sup>hij</sup>	139.37 cdefg	133.83 <sup>C</sup>
	Means	135.76 <sup>C</sup>	147.22 <sup>A</sup>	120.49 <sup>D</sup>	133.25 <sup>C</sup>	140.93 <sup>B</sup>	
	P <sub>0</sub>	92.44	117.56	89.11	72.33	89.11	92.11 <sup>C</sup>
2017	$\mathbf{P}_1$	130.44	138.56	115.67	88.22	147.22	124.02 <sup>A</sup>
2017	$P_2$	127	136.11	108.22	85.22	103.33	111.98 <sup>B</sup>
	P <sub>3</sub>	107	129.22	94.44	80	95.11	101.16 <sup>BC</sup>
	Means	114.22 <sup>B</sup>	130.36 <sup>A</sup>	101.86 <sup>B</sup>	81.44 <sup>C</sup>	108.69 <sup>B</sup>	

 $\overline{(\text{Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 \%)}$ 

	G x P	Fusion RR	Yukon R	A4177G3RIB	DKC23-17RIB	DKC26-28RIB	Means
	P <sub>0</sub>	0.83 bcd	0.90 <sup>ab</sup>	0.96 <sup>a</sup>	0.92 <sup>ab</sup>	0.94 <sup>a</sup>	0.91 <sup>A</sup>
2016	$\mathbf{P}_1$	0.69 fghi	0.72 <sup>efg</sup>	0.66 fghij	0.58 <sup>jk</sup>	0.60 <sup>ijk</sup>	0.65 <sup>C</sup>
2016	$P_2$	0.73 efgh	0.89 <sup>abc</sup>	$0.75 ^{defg}$	0.73 efgh	0.80 <sup>cde</sup>	0.78 <sup>B</sup>
	P3	0.76 def	0.61 <sup>ijk</sup>	0.64 <sup>hijk</sup>	0.65 <sup>ghij</sup>	0.55 <sup>k</sup>	0.64 <sup>C</sup>
	Means	0.75 <sup>AB</sup>	0.78 <sup>A</sup>	0.75 <sup>AB</sup>	0.72 <sup>B</sup>	0.72 <sup>B</sup>	
	P <sub>0</sub>	0.31 <sup>a</sup>	0.23 bcdef	0.24 <sup>abcd</sup>	0.23 bcdef	0.24 <sup>bcde</sup>	0.25 <sup>A</sup>
2017	$\mathbf{P}_1$	0.17 <sup>efg</sup>	0.16 <sup>fg</sup>	0.16 <sup>fg</sup>	0.22 bcdef	0.24 <sup>abcd</sup>	0.19 <sup>B</sup>
2017	$P_2$	0.17 defg	0.17 <sup>efg</sup>	0.19 cdefg	0.28 <sup>ab</sup>	0.22 bcdef	0.21 <sup>B</sup>
	P <sub>3</sub>	0.18 defg	0.15 <sup>g</sup>	0.21 bcdefg	0.28 <sup>ab</sup>	0.26 <sup>abc</sup>	0.22 <sup>B</sup>
	Means	0.21 <sup>BC</sup>	0.18 <sup>C</sup>	0.20 <sup>C</sup>	0.25 <sup>A</sup>	0.24 <sup>AB</sup>	

Table 2.13 Effects of phosphorus sources on root shoot ratio of silage corn genotypes at tasseling stage during 2016 and 2017

 $\overline{(\text{Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 \%)}$ 

Table 2.14 Effects of phosphorus sources on plant height (cm<sup>2</sup>) of silage corn genotypes at black layer stage during 2016 and 2017

	G x P	Fusion RR	Yukon R	A4177G3RIB	DKC 23-17RIB	DKC26-28RIB	Means
	P <sub>0</sub>	208 <sup>ij</sup>	218.67 <sup>gh</sup>	188.33 <sup>m</sup>	218.33 <sup>gh</sup>	227.4 <sup>bcdef</sup>	212.15 <sup>C</sup>
2016	$\mathbf{P}_1$	225.53 cdefg	236.33 <sup>a</sup>	204.37 <sup>jk</sup>	229.33 abcde	232.33 <sup>abc</sup>	225.58 <sup>A</sup>
2016	$P_2$	222.67 defgh	233.67 <sup>ab</sup>	197 <sup>kl</sup>	222 efgh	223.26 defgh	219.72 <sup>в</sup>
	P3	221 <sup>fgh</sup>	228.66 abcdef	193.33 <sup>lm</sup>	215.8 <sup>hi</sup>	230.27 <sup>abcd</sup>	217.81 <sup>в</sup>
	Means	219.3 <sup>в</sup>	229.33 <sup>A</sup>	195.76 <sup>C</sup>	221.37 <sup>B</sup>	228.31 <sup>A</sup>	
	P <sub>0</sub>	161.61	184.61	148.61	154.11	171.89	164.17 <sup>C</sup>
2017	$\mathbf{P}_1$	187.06	206.17	152.78	171.67	197.5	183.03 <sup>A</sup>
	P <sub>2</sub>	179.06	196	150.22	166.67	188.06	176 <sup>AB</sup>
	P <sub>3</sub>	178.22	192.72	149.94	160.17	175.5	171.31 <sup>в</sup>
	Means	176.49 <sup>B</sup>	194.87 <sup>A</sup>	150.39 <sup>D</sup>	163.15 <sup>C</sup>	183.24 <sup>B</sup>	

 $\overline{(\text{Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 \%)}$ 

	G x P	Fusion RR	Yukon R	A4177G3RIB	DKC 23-17RIB	DKC26-28RIB	Means
	P <sub>0</sub>	14.65 <sup>i</sup>	14.98 <sup>hi</sup>	13.12 <sup>j</sup>	15.07 <sup>ghi</sup>	16.24 efgh	14.81 <sup>D</sup>
2016	$P_1$	19.17 °	21.94 <sup>a</sup>	17.37 <sup>de</sup>	17.31 <sup>de</sup>	19.13 °	18.98 <sup>A</sup>
2010	$P_2$	16.45 efg	20.75 <sup>ab</sup>	15.67 <sup>fghi</sup>	16.07 <sup>efghi</sup>	18.53 <sup>cd</sup>	17.49 <sup>в</sup>
	P <sub>3</sub>	16.33 efgh	19.95 <sup>bc</sup>	14.66 <sup>i</sup>	15.77 <sup>fghi</sup>	16.61 <sup>ef</sup>	16.66 <sup>C</sup>
	Means	16.65 <sup>C</sup>	19.40 <sup>A</sup>	15.21 <sup>D</sup>	16.06 <sup>C</sup>	17.63 <sup>B</sup>	
	P <sub>0</sub>	10.1	13.77	10.09	7.54	11.84	10.67 <sup>C</sup>
2017	$P_1$	15.46	16.87	12.29	11.14	15.4	14.23 <sup>A</sup>
2017	$P_2$	12.88	15.57	11.47	10.46	13.01	12.68 <sup>B</sup>
	P <sub>3</sub>	12.19	13.76	10.23	8.23	11.64	11.21 <sup>C</sup>
	Means	12.66 <sup>B</sup>	14.99 <sup>A</sup>	11.02 <sup>C</sup>	9.34 <sup>D</sup>	12.97 <sup>B</sup>	

Table 2.15 Effects of phosphorus sources on dry matter yield (Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) of silage corn genotypes at black layer stage during 2016 and 2017

(Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 %)

Acid phosphatase (Ap-ase) activity was significantly (p < 0.001) influenced with interactive effects of G × P sources during 2016 (Table 2.16) and highest Ap-ase activity of 19.07 µmole PNP g<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-30</sup> was observed when Yukon R was amended with high P manure, followed by DKC23-17RIB and DKC26-28RIB under same treatment, whereas lowest AP-ase activity was found in control treatment in the rhizosphere of Fusion RR (Table 2.19). In 2017, G x P interaction had non-significant effects on Ap-ase activity of 83.45 µmole PNP g<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-30</sup> was observed in high P manure treatment, and lowest Ap-ase (58.08 µmole PNP g<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-30</sup>) was recorded in control treatment (Table 19). Genotypes had non-significant (p = 0.08) effects on Ap-ase activity (Table 2.17).

Soil available phosphorus (SAP) was significantly (p < 0.01) affected by G × P sources interaction during 2016 (Table 2.16). Higher SAP of 129.36 mg/kg was noted when high P manure was applied to Yukon R, and lowest SAP (49.67 mg/kg) was found in the rhizosphere of A4177G3RIB genotype in the control treatment. In 2017 growing season, G × P sources had non-significant effects on SAP (Table 2.17). Genotypes and P sources as individual factor had significantly affected SAP. Among genotypes Yukon R showed highest SAP (128.29 mg/kg) in soil rhizosphere while the lowest was found in the soil rhizosphere of DKC23-17RIB (Table 2.20). Among P sources, both manure sources either with high and low P concentration showed superior performance and provided higher SAP compared to control treatment which showed lowest SAP. Interestingly, IP and control treatments were statistically at par with each other and were similar in their response to SAP (Table 2.20).

#### 2.4.3. Soil PLFA profiles

Analysis of variance showed that  $G \times P$  sources interaction had non-significant effects on soil microbial community during 2016. Genotypes as individual factor had significantly affected the Gram positive  $(G^+)$ , Gram negative  $(G^-)$  bacterial population, fungi, eukaryotes, total active bacterial PLFAs biomass ( $\Sigma$  B-PLFAS), total active PLFA biomass ( $\Sigma$  PLFAS) and G<sup>+</sup>:G<sup>-</sup> and non-significantly affected protozoa and fungi-bacteria ratio (F:B). Among genotypes, Yukon R had the maximum active soil microbial biomass in the root rhizospheres except G<sup>+</sup>: G<sup>-</sup> ratio. However, genotypes had non-significant effects on Protozoa and F:B. Yukon R and DKC26-28RIB were statistically at par in producing total active bacterial PLFAs biomass. P sources had significantly affected  $G^{-}$ , fungi,  $\Sigma$  B-PLFAS and  $\Sigma$  PLFAS and non-significant effects on G+, protozoa, eukaryotes, G<sup>+</sup>: G<sup>-</sup> and F:B. In 2017, Genotypes  $\times$  P sources had also non-significantly affected PLFAs except fungi and F:B (Table 2.22). Fungi was significantly (p < 0.01) influenced by G × P sources, and highest fungal PLFAs biomass was noted in the rhizosphere of Yukon R under high P manure application (Table 2.25). Genotypes had significantly affected all active microbial communities biomass except protozoa, eukaryotes, and G<sup>+</sup>: G<sup>-</sup>. Among genotypes, overall, high values of active bacterial PLFAs biomass and total PLFAs was exhibited by Yukon R (Table 2.23). However, protozoa and G<sup>+</sup>: G<sup>-</sup> ratio was statistically at par in all genotypes. P sources had significantly affected G-, fungi, total active bacterial PLFAs biomass and total PLFAs, and non-significant effects were observed for G+, protozoa, eukaryotes, G<sup>+</sup>: G<sup>-</sup> ratio and F:B ratio during 2016 (Table 2.21). Higher G<sup>-</sup> bacterial population was noted when high P manure was applied and lowest was noted in inorganic P source. Similarly,

maximum active fungal PLFAs biomass was recorded in high P manure compared to minimum active fungal PLFAs biomass in control treatment. Higher eukaryotes, total active bacterial PLFAs biomass and total PLFAs were also observed in high P manure treatment. In 2017, P sources had significantly affected the active microbial composition except for the protozoa and  $G^+/G^-$  ratio. High P manure source produced maximum G+, G-, fungi, eukaryotes, total active bacterial PLFA biomass, and total active microbial PLFA biomass followed by low P manure source (Table 2.24). It appears that manure with either high or low P source enhanced PLFAs compared to inorganic P source and control treatment. During both years (2016 & 2017), Yukon R genotype exhibited significantly higher G<sup>+</sup> bacteria followed by DKC26-28RIB and Fusion RR, and lowest G<sup>+</sup> bacteria was found in the rhizosphere of A4177G3RIB and DKC23-17RIB (Table 2.23). Manure application with high and low P concentration significantly increased G<sup>+</sup> community as compared to inorganic P and control (Table 2.24).

As shown in Table 2.21 & 2.22, silage corn genotypes and phosphorus sources significantly affected Gram negative bacteria, however, their interaction between genotypes and phosphorus sources were not significant. During 2016 and 2017, Yukon R had the higher G<sup>-</sup> bacteria in their rhizosphere followed by DKC26-28RIB, and the lowest was found in Fusion RR and DKC23-17RIB (Table 2.23). High P manure source significantly enhanced G<sup>-</sup> bacteria compared to inorganic P and control. High G<sup>-</sup> bacterial population was 22.94 and 23.10 nmol g<sup>-1</sup> during 2016 and 2017 (Table 2.24)

Table 2.16 ANOVA for biochemical parameters at black layer stage during 2016

<b>Biochemical Parameters</b>	Genotypes	Phosphorus sources	G x P	Coefficient of variation%
Soil pH	***	*	*	0.90
Acid phosphatase activity	***	***	***	2.72
Soil available P	***	***	**	8.07

Table 2.17 ANOVA for biochemical parameters at black layer stage during 2017

Biochemical parameters	Genotypes	Phosphorus sources	G x P	Coefficient of variation%
Soil pH	***	**	**	2.78
Acid phosphatase activity	NS	***	NS	21.73
Soil available P	***	***	NS	21.37

(\*\*\* Significant at p < 0.001, \*\* Significant at p < 0.1, \*Significant at p < 0.05, NS= Non-Significant)

Table 2.18 Effects of phosphorus sources on soil pH at black layer stage during 2016 and 2017

	G x P	Fusion RR	Yukon R	A4177G3RIB	DKC 23-17RIB	DKC26-28RIB	Means
	P <sub>0</sub>	6.09 <sup>ab</sup>	6.09 <sup>ab</sup>	5.92 <sup>efg</sup>	5.98 <sup>cdef</sup>	5.98 <sup>cdef</sup>	6.01 <sup>A</sup>
2016	$\mathbf{P}_1$	6.006 bcde	6.06 abc	5.96 defg	5.95 defg	5.96 defg	5.99 <sup>AB</sup>
2016	$P_2$	6.03 abcd	6.01 bcd	5.95 defg	5.89 <sup>fgh</sup>	5.98 <sup>cdef</sup>	5.97 <sup>AB</sup>
	P <sub>3</sub>	6.12 <sup>a</sup>	6.02 bcd	5.92 <sup>efg</sup>	5.88 <sup>gh</sup>	5.83 <sup>h</sup>	5.95 <sup>B</sup>
	Means	6.06 <sup>A</sup>	6.04 <sup>A</sup>	5.94 <sup>B</sup>	5.92 <sup>B</sup>	5.94 <sup>B</sup>	
	P <sub>0</sub>	6.18 abcde	6.05 bcdefg	5.91 <sup>efgh</sup>	5.58 <sup>i</sup>	5.73 <sup>hi</sup>	5.89 <sup>C</sup>
2017	$\mathbf{P}_1$	5.88 <sup>fgh</sup>	6.29 <sup>ab</sup>	6.28 <sup>abc</sup>	6.20 <sup>abcd</sup>	6.11 abcdef	6.15 <sup>A</sup>
2017	$P_2$	6.10 abcdef	5.97 defgh	6.06 bcdef	5.82 <sup>ghi</sup>	5.93 defgh	5.97 <sup>BC</sup>
	P3	6.08 bcdefg	6.13 abcdef	6.38 <sup>a</sup>	5.57 <sup>i</sup>	6.00 <sup>cdefgh</sup>	6.03 <sup>AB</sup>
	Means	6.06 <sup>AB</sup>	6.11 <sup>A</sup>	6.15 <sup>A</sup>	5.79 <sup>C</sup>	5.94 <sup>B</sup>	

(Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 %)
	G x P	Fusion RR	Yukon R	A4177G3RIB	DKC 23-17RIB	DKC26-28RIB	Means
	P <sub>0</sub>	14.55 <sup>hij</sup>	14.99 <sup>fgh</sup>	13.95 <sup>j</sup>	11.03 <sup>k</sup>	14.25 <sup>ij</sup>	13.75 <sup>C</sup>
2016	$\mathbf{P}_1$	17.15 <sup>cd</sup>	19.07 <sup>a</sup>	16.70 <sup>d</sup>	17.85 <sup>bc</sup>	17.91 <sup>b</sup>	17.73 <sup>A</sup>
2010	$P_2$	15.54 <sup>ef</sup>	16.94 <sup>d</sup>	15.30 efg	15.68 <sup>ef</sup>	15.93 <sup>e</sup>	15.88 <sup>В</sup>
	<b>P</b> <sub>3</sub>	14.48 <sup>hij</sup>	14.83 <sup>ghi</sup>	14.70 <sup>ghi</sup>	18.21 <sup>b</sup>	15.84 <sup>e</sup>	15.61 <sup>в</sup>
	Means	15.43 <sup>CD</sup>	16.46 <sup>A</sup>	15.16 <sup>D</sup>	15.69 <sup>BC</sup>	15.98 <sup>B</sup>	
	P <sub>0</sub>	40.80	62.96	62.18	68.58	55.88	58.08 C
2017	$\mathbf{P}_1$	78.71	95.07	86.29	76.75	80.47	83.45 A
2017	$P_2$	67.30	94.49	81.04	75.09	70.30	77.64 AB
	<b>P</b> <sub>3</sub>	67.75	69.54	74.71	69.36	62.97	68.86 BC
	Means	63.64 <sup>B</sup>	80.51 <sup>A</sup>	76.05 <sup>AB</sup>	72.44 <sup>AB</sup>	67.40 <sup>B</sup>	

Table 2.19 Effects of phosphorus sources on acid phosphatase activity ( $\mu$ mole PNP g<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-30</sup>) at black layer stage during 2016 and 2017

 $\overline{(\text{Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 \%)}$ 

Table 2.20 Effects of phosphorus sources on soil available P (mg/kg) at black layer stage during 2016 and 2017

	G v D	Fusion PP	Vukon P	A /177G3 R IB	DKC 23 17PIB	DKC26 28PIB	Moong
	UAI	T USIOII KK	I UKUII K	A417/OJKID	DRC 23-1/RID	DKC20-28KID	Ivicalis
	$\mathbf{P}_0$	63.9 <sup>hi</sup>	74.59 <sup>efg</sup>	49.67 <sup>J</sup>	56.59 <sup>ij</sup>	57.95 <sup>ij</sup>	60.54 <sup>D</sup>
2016	$P_1$	93.65 <sup>cd</sup>	129.36 <sup>a</sup>	77.61 <sup>efg</sup>	83.26 <sup>de</sup>	100.78 <sup>bc</sup>	96.93 <sup>A</sup>
2010	P <sub>2</sub>	75.82 efg	107.79 <sup>b</sup>	69.66 <sup>fgh</sup>	78.31 efg	96.45 °	85.60 <sup>B</sup>
	P3	69.01 <sup>gh</sup>	93.67 <sup>cd</sup>	52.25 <sup>j</sup>	68.97 <sup>gh</sup>	80.03 <sup>ef</sup>	72.78 <sup>C</sup>
	Means	75.59 <sup>C</sup>	101.35 <sup>A</sup>	62.3 <sup>D</sup>	71.78 <sup>C</sup>	83.8 <sup>B</sup>	
	P <sub>0</sub>	73.12	119.59	66.62	49.86	67.34	75.3 <sup>B</sup>
2017	$\mathbf{P}_1$	112.92	139.75	88.17	67.05	116.9	104.96 <sup>A</sup>
2017	$P_2$	100.34	132.7	78.22	74.72	114.26	100.05 <sup>A</sup>
	P <sub>3</sub>	81.99	121.1	72.61	55.09	57.08	77.57 <sup>В</sup>
	Means	92.09 <sup>B</sup>	128.29 <sup>A</sup>	76.41 <sup>BC</sup>	61.68 <sup>C</sup>	88.89 <sup>B</sup>	

(Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 %)

Soil microbial community	Genotypes	Phosphorus sources	G x P	Coefficient of variation%
G+	*	NS	NS	13.65
G-	***	***	NS	6.97
Fungi	*	*	NS	14.02
Protozoa	NS	NS	NS	13.21
Eukaryotes	*	NS	NS	13.27
Total Bacterial PLFAs	***	*	NS	8.47
Total PLFAs	***	**	NS	7.47
G+:G-	***	NS	NS	13.97
F:B	NS	NS	NS	19.64

Table 2.21 ANOVA for soil microbial communities at black layer stage during 2016

(\*\*\* Significant at p < 0.001, \*\* Significant at p < 0.1, \*Significant at p < 0.05, NS= Non-Significant)

Table 2.22 ANOVA for soil microbial communities at black layer stage during 2017

Soil microbial community	Genotypes (G)	Phosphorus sources (P)	G x P	Coefficient of variation%
G+	**	**	NS	5.22
G-	* * *	***	NS	4.67
Fungi	* * *	***	**	12.2
Protozoa	NS	NS	NS	9.19
Eukaryotes	NS	***	NS	30.47
Total Bacterial PLFAs	***	***	NS	3.94
Total PLFAs	* * *	***	NS	3.77
G+:G-	NS	NS	NS	5.79
F:B	*	***	**	13.2

(\*\*\* Significant at p < 0.001, \*\* Significant at p < 0.1, \*Significant at p < 0.05, NS= Non-Significant)

Table 2.23 Effects of silage corn genotypes on PLFAs (nmol g<sup>-1</sup> soil) at black layer stage during 2016 and 2017

	Genotypes	G+	G-	F	Р	E	$\Sigma$ B-PLFAs	$\Sigma$ PLFAs	$G^+:G^-$	F:B
	Fusion RR	20.77 <sub>ab</sub>	19.00 <sup>d</sup>	3.56 bc	1.48 <sup>a</sup>	2.56 <sup>ab</sup>	39.77 <sup>b</sup>	47.39 °	1.09 <sup>a</sup>	0.09 <sup>a</sup>
	Yukon R	21.74 <sup>a</sup>	24.76 <sup>a</sup>	4.02 <sup>a</sup>	1.55 <sup>a</sup>	2.78 <sup>a</sup>	46.50 <sup>a</sup>	54.87 <sup>a</sup>	0.88 <sup>b</sup>	0.086 <sup>a</sup>
2016	A4177G3RIB	18.04 <sup>c</sup>	20.59 °	3.26 °	1.39 <sup>a</sup>	2.39 <sup>b</sup>	38.63 <sup>b</sup>	45.69 <sup>c</sup>	0.87 <sup>b</sup>	0.087 <sup>a</sup>
	DKC 23-17RIB	18.81 <sup>bc</sup>	21.19 °	3.63 abc	1.54 <sup>a</sup>	2.75 <sup>a</sup>	40.00 <sup>b</sup>	47.93 <sup>c</sup>	0.89 <sup>b</sup>	0.090 <sup>a</sup>
	DKC 26-28RIB	20.85 <sup>ab</sup>	22.89 <sup>b</sup>	3.74 <sup>ab</sup>	1.50 <sup>a</sup>	2.77 <sup>a</sup>	43.75 <sup>a</sup>	51.76 <sup>b</sup>	0.91 <sup>b</sup>	0.085 <sup>a</sup>
	Fusion RR	21.04 <sup>a</sup>	22.05 <sup>ab</sup>	3.34 bc	1.72 <sup>a</sup>	1.72 <sup>ab</sup>	43.09 <sup>ab</sup>	49.89 <sup>bc</sup>	0.95 <sup>a</sup>	$0.077^{\ ab}$
	Yukon R	21.43 <sup>a</sup>	22.85 <sup>a</sup>	3.69 <sup>a</sup>	1.79 <sup>a</sup>	1.91 <sup>a</sup>	44.29 <sup>a</sup>	51.69 <sup>a</sup>	0.93 <sup>a</sup>	0.083 <sup>a</sup>
2017	A4177G3RIB	20.98 <sup>a</sup>	21.60 bc	3.13 <sup>cd</sup>	1.81 <sup>a</sup>	1.48 <sup>b</sup>	42.58 <sup>b</sup>	49.00 <sup>c</sup>	0.97 <sup>a</sup>	0.073 <sup>b</sup>
	DKC 23-17RIB	19.74 <sup>b</sup>	20.84 °	2.86 <sup>d</sup>	1.79 <sup>a</sup>	1.45 <sup>b</sup>	40.58 <sup>c</sup>	46.71 <sup>d</sup>	0.95 <sup>a</sup>	0.070 <sup>b</sup>
	DKC 26-28RIB	21.25 <sup>a</sup>	22.64 <sup>a</sup>	3.46 <sup>ab</sup>	1.71 <sup>a</sup>	1.98 <sup>a</sup>	43.89 <sup>ab</sup>	51.06 <sup>ab</sup>	0.94 <sup>a</sup>	0.079 <sup>ab</sup>

Note: Abbreviations:  $G^+ = Gram$  positive,  $G^- = Gram$  negative, F = Fungi, P = Protozoa, E = Eukaryotes,  $\Sigma B$ -PLFAs = Total Bacterial PLFAs,  $\Sigma PLFAs = Total PLFAs$ ,  $G^+$ :  $G^- = Gram$  positive/Gram negative ratio, F: B = Fungi/Bacteria ratio. (Common letter means does not differ significantly at p < 5 %)

Table 2.24 Effects of phosphorus sources on PLFAs (nmol g<sup>-1</sup> soil) at black layer stage during 2016 and 2017

	P sources	G+	G-	F	Р	E	$\Sigma$ B-PLFAs	$\Sigma$ PLFAs	$G^+:G^-$	F:B
	P <sub>0</sub>	19.764 <sup>a</sup>	21.262 bc	3.390 <sup>b</sup>	1.421 <sup>a</sup>	2.471 <sup>b</sup>	41.026 <sup>ab</sup>	48.309 bc	0.938 <sup>a</sup>	0.082 <sup>a</sup>
2016	$\mathbf{P}_1$	20.365 <sup>a</sup>	22.942 <sup>a</sup>	3.975 <sup>a</sup>	1.509 <sup>a</sup>	2.812 <sup>a</sup>	43.307 <sup>a</sup>	51.605 <sup>a</sup>	0.883 <sup>a</sup>	0.094 <sup>a</sup>
2010	P <sub>2</sub>	20.795 <sup>a</sup>	22.024 <sup>ab</sup>	3.725 <sup>ab</sup>	1.545 <sup>a</sup>	2.720 <sup>ab</sup>	42.819 <sup>a</sup>	50.81 <sup>ab</sup>	0.954 <sup>a</sup>	0.087 <sup>a</sup>
	P3	19.259 <sup>a</sup>	20.533 °	3.487 <sup>b</sup>	1.515 <sup>a</sup>	2.617 <sup>ab</sup>	39.793 <sup>b</sup>	47.412 <sup>c</sup>	0.947 <sup>a</sup>	0.087 <sup>a</sup>
	P <sub>0</sub>	20.698 bc	21.555 <sup>b</sup>	2.691 °	1.809 <sup>a</sup>	1.394 °	42.253 <sup>bc</sup>	48.149 <sup>c</sup>	0.960 <sup>a</sup>	0.063 <sup>c</sup>
2017	$\mathbf{P}_1$	21.618 <sup>a</sup>	23.101 <sup>a</sup>	3.778 <sup>a</sup>	1.776 <sup>a</sup>	2.373 <sup>a</sup>	44.719 <sup>a</sup>	52.647 <sup>a</sup>	0.938 <sup>a</sup>	0.084 <sup>a</sup>
2017	P <sub>2</sub>	21.076 <sup>ab</sup>	22.003 <sup>b</sup>	3.700 <sup>a</sup>	1.730 <sup>a</sup>	1.952 <sup>b</sup>	43.079 <sup>b</sup>	50.462 <sup>b</sup>	0.958 <sup>a</sup>	0.086 <sup>a</sup>
	P <sub>3</sub>	20.182 °	21.335 <sup>b</sup>	3.025 <sup>b</sup>	1.763 <sup>a</sup>	1.127 °	41.517 °	47.434 <sup>c</sup>	0.948 <sup>a</sup>	0.072 <sup>b</sup>

(Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 %)

			U		, U	0	
	G x P	Fusion RR	Yukon R	A4177G3RIB	DKC 23-17RIB	DKC26-28RIB	Means
	P <sub>0</sub>	3.49	3.64	2.39	3.57	3.87	3.39 <sup>B</sup>
2016	$P_1$	3.74	4.70	3.52	4.02	3.89	3.97 <sup>A</sup>
2010	$P_2$	3.55	3.91	3.69	3.55	3.92	3.72 <sup>AB</sup>
	P <sub>3</sub>	3.50	3.83	3.44	3.39	3.28	3.48 <sup>B</sup>
	Means	3.56 <sup>BC</sup>	4.02 <sup>A</sup>	3.26 <sup>C</sup>	3.63 <sup>ABC</sup>	3.74 <sup>AB</sup>	
	P <sub>0</sub>	2.00 <sup>e</sup>	3.42 <sup>bc</sup>	2.07 <sup>e</sup>	2.61 <sup>de</sup>	3.34 °	2.69 <sup>C</sup>
2017	$P_1$	4.07 <sup>ab</sup>	4.08 <sup>a</sup>	3.59 <sup>abc</sup>	3.46 <sup>abc</sup>	3.67 <sup>abc</sup>	3.77 <sup>A</sup>
2017	$P_2$	4.06 <sup>ab</sup>	4.06 <sup>ab</sup>	3.59 <sup>abc</sup>	3.21 <sup>cd</sup>	3.56 <sup>abc</sup>	3.70 <sup>A</sup>
	P <sub>3</sub>	3.23 <sup>cd</sup>	3.17 <sup>cd</sup>	3.25 <sup>cd</sup>	2.18 <sup>e</sup>	3.27 <sup>cd</sup>	3.02 <sup>B</sup>
	Means	3.34 <sup>BC</sup>	3.69 <sup>A</sup>	3.13 <sup>CD</sup>	2.86 <sup>D</sup>	3.46 <sup>AB</sup>	

Table 2.25 Effects of phosphorus sources on fungal PLFAs (nmol g<sup>-1</sup> soil) at black layer stage during 2016 and 2017

(Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 %)

Table 2.26 Effects of phosphorus sources on Fungi: Bacteria (F: B) ratio at black layer stage during 2017

G x P	Fusion RR	Yukon R	A4177G3RIB	DKC 23-17RIB	DKC26-28RIB	Means
P <sub>0</sub>	0.047 <sup>e</sup>	0.078 <sup>abc</sup>	0.049 <sup>de</sup>	0.065 <sup>cd</sup>	0.078 <sup>abc</sup>	0.063 <sup>C</sup>
P <sub>1</sub>	0.091 <sup>ab</sup>	0.089 <sup>ab</sup>	0.081 <sup>abc</sup>	0.081 <sup>abc</sup>	0.080 abc	0.084 <sup>A</sup>
$P_2$	0.094 <sup>a</sup>	0.091 <sup>ab</sup>	0.084 <sup>ab</sup>	0.078 <sup>abc</sup>	0.080 abc	0.086 <sup>A</sup>
P3	0.077 <sup>bc</sup>	0.075 <sup>bc</sup>	0.078 <sup>abc</sup>	0.057 <sup>de</sup>	0.076 <sup>bc</sup>	0.072 <sup>B</sup>
Means	0.077 <sup>AB</sup>	0.083 <sup>A</sup>	0.073 <sup>B</sup>	0.070 <sup>B</sup>	0.079 <sup>AB</sup>	

(Common letter means no significant difference at p < 5 %)

## 2.4.3.1. Principal Component Analysis (PCA)

Bi-plot showed the relationship between the PLFAs silage corn genotypes and P sources applied during both growing seasons (Figure 2.4.1 & 2.4.2). PC1 and PC2 accounted for 40.81% and 26.31% of the total variation observed in the data. Biochemical attributes and PLFAs showed a significant separation of Yukon R and DKC26-28RIB from other genotypes (Figure 2.4.1a) and high and low P manure from other P sources (Figure 2.4.1b) in 2016. In 2017, PC1 and PC2 accounted for 40.92% and 18.37% of the total variation in the data. Yukon R and DKC26-28RIB showed clear separation with enzyme activity, available P and PLFAs compared to other genotypes (Figure 2.4.2a). Soil biochemical attributes and microbial communities also showed a significant separation with P<sub>1</sub> and P<sub>2</sub> and other P sources (Figure 2.4.2b). A clear separation was also found when comparing the soil biochemical parameters and microbial communities of P<sub>3</sub> and P<sub>0</sub> along the PC2 axis (Figure 2.4,2b). PCA indicates that manure applications with high and low P concentration significantly improved soil biochemical attributes and the active microbial biomass or diversity. A positive association between Yukon R, DKC26-28RIB, PLFA parameters and biochemical attributes was observed. Similarly, positive correlation was noted between  $P_1$  and  $P_2$  sources, PLFAs and soil biochemical attributes (Figure 2.4.1b) & 2.4.2b). Further confirmation of these relationships was demonstrated by Pearson correlation analysis between biochemical attributes and PLFAs (Table 2.28).



Component 1

Figure 2.4.1 Phosphorus sources and silage corn genotypes alter biochemical attributes and active microbial communities under field conditions. Bi-plot showing relationships between observed biochemical attributes, active microbial community composition and abundance in (a) silage corn genotypes (b) P sources during 2016.



Component 1

Figure 2.4.2 Phosphorus sources and silage corn genotypes alter biochemical attributes and active microbial communities under field conditions. Bi-plot showing relationships between observed biochemical attributes, active microbial community composition and abundance in (a) silage corn genotypes (b) P sources during 2017.

# 2.4.3.2. Pearson's correlation between agronomic parameters, soil biochemical attributes and microbial community composition

During 2016 and 2017, the agronomic parameters (leaf area, chlorophyll contents, photosynthesis rate, plant height and shoot dry weight) showed significant relationships with dry matter yield (Table 2.27). Positive and very strong relationships was noticed between LA and DMY, photosynthesis rate (PR) and DMY. Pearson correlation analysis between biochemical parameters (Ap-ase, SAP and pH) and PLFAs are given in Table 2.28. In 2016, soil pH showed non-significant relationship with Ap-ase, SAP and soil microbial communities. Whereas during 2017, significant relationship of soil pH with SAP, G+, G-, total bacterial PLFAs and total PLFAs was observed. Positive and strong correlations were found between SAP, Ap-ase, fungi, bacterial PLFA and total PLFA abundance (Table 2.28). Microbial community was significantly correlated with Ap-ase in 2016, while bacterial and total PLFA abundance showed significant relationship with Ap-ase activity during 2017.

Years		LA	Chl	Pr	PH	SDW
	Chl	0.71***				
	Pr	0.83***	0.79***			
2016	PH	0.72***	0.56***	0.72***		
	SDW	0.81***	0.69***	0.79***	0.76***	
	DMY	0.80***	0.77***	0.85***	0.66***	0.79***
	Chl	0.63***				
	Pr	0.51***	0.54***			
2017	PH	0.72***	0.43***	0.51***		
	SDW	0.67***	0.49***	0.52***	0.60***	
	DMY	0.75***	0.58***	0.67***	0.67***	0.64***

Table 2.27 Pearson's correlation coefficients (r) showing the relationship between agronomic performance parameters and dry matter yield during 2016 and 2017

Note: Abbreviations: LA = Leaf area, Chl = Chlorophyll contents, Pr = Photosynthesis rate, PH = Plant height, SDW = Shoot dry weight, DMY = Dry matter yield. (\*\*\* Significant at p < 0.001, \*\* Significant at p < 0.1, \*Significant at p < 0.05, NS= Non-Significant).

Years		Ap-ase	SAP	рН
	Ap-ase		0.68***	-0.09 <sup>Ns</sup>
	SAP			0.19 <sup>Ns</sup>
	G+	$0.17^{Ns}$	0.36**	0.12 <sup>Ns</sup>
	G-	0.27*	0.57***	-0.00 <sup>Ns</sup>
	F	0.35**	0.51***	0.21 <sup>Ns</sup>
2016	Р	0.11 <sup>Ns</sup>	0.21 <sup>Ns</sup>	0.04 <sup>Ns</sup>
	Е	0.31*	0.40**	0.04 <sup>Ns</sup>
	ΣB-PLFAs	0.26*	0.55***	$0.07^{ m Ns}$
	ΣPLFAs	0.30*	0.59***	0.09 <sup>Ns</sup>
	G+:G-	-0.05 <sup>Ns</sup>	-0.09 <sup>Ns</sup>	0.13 <sup>Ns</sup>
	F:B	0.19 <sup>Ns</sup>	0.11 <sup>Ns</sup>	$0.14^{Ns}$
	Ap-ase		0.30*	0.10 <sup>Ns</sup>
	SAP			0.28*
	G+	-0.01 <sup>Ns</sup>	0.39**	0.27*
	G-	$0.08^{Ns}$	0.39**	0.30*
2017	F	0.48***	0.48***	$0.15^{Ns}$
2017	Р	0.10 <sup>Ns</sup>	$-0.09^{Ns}$	0.03 <sup>Ns</sup>
	Е	0.44***	0.39**	$0.08^{Ns}$
	ΣB-PLFAs	$0.04^{Ns}$	0.43***	0.32*
	ΣPLFAs	$0.25^{Ns}$	0.52***	0.30*
	G+:G-	-0.10 <sup>Ns</sup>	-0.04 <sup>Ns</sup>	-0.06 <sup>Ns</sup>
	F:B	0.49***	0.38**	0.08 <sup>Ns</sup>

Table 2.28 Pearson's correlation coefficients (r) showing the relationship between soil biochemical parameters and active microbial communities during 2016 and 2017

Note: Abbreviations: Ap-ase = Acid phosphatase, SAP = Soil available P, G+ = Gram positive, G- = Gram negative, F = Fungi, P = Protozoa, E = Eukaryotes,  $\Sigma$  B-PLFAs = Total Bacterial PLFAs,  $\Sigma$  PLFAs = Total PLFAs, G+: G- = Gram positive/Gram negative ratio, F: B = Fungi/Bacteria ratio.

(\*\*\* Significant at p < 0.001, \*\* Significant at p < 0.1, \*Significant at p < 0.05, NS= Non-Significant)

#### 2.5. Discussion

#### 2.5.1. Agronomic performance parameters

# 2.5.1.1. Leaf area

Leaves play very important roles in photosynthesis and other physiological processes which leads to enhance dry biomass (Khan and Khalil, 2010; Man et al., 2015). DM with high and low P significantly increased LA of silage corn genotypes compared to control (Table 2.9). Phosphorus plays very exclusive role in cell division (Kavanova et al., 2006) and cell elongation in crop plants (Radin and Eidenbock, 1984). Phosphate availability in leaves increased expansion of epidermal cells and consequently leaf blade (Waldron and Terry, 1987) and phosphate concentration in the upper epidermis cells rapidly decreased with decreased P supply to the leaf (Treeby et al., 1987). LA of corn significantly increased with DM application compared to control and this increment was attributed to optimum and consistent supply of N and P nutrients to the plant (Hariadi et al., 2016). In 2016,  $G \times P$  sources interaction showed significant increase in LA of Yukon R under high P manure treatment. The observed increment in LA of Yukon R might be related to higher P-uptake genetic potential or high P manure treatment enhanced P availability which improved cell division and elongation process led to higher LA development in Yukon R compared to other genotypes. In dry season or in arid conditions, reduced soil moisture can reduce P uptake and availability in epidermal cells and consequently reduction in LA of silage corn. Previous study conducted by Song et al., (2018) reported that soil moisture deficit significantly limit vegetative growth, lead to decline in LA of corn. Our results of 2017 growing season are in agreement with that of Song et al., (2018).

## 2.5.1.2. Chlorophyll contents

Chlorophyll contents in crop plants are important in energy harvesting reaction during photosynthesis process that help in CO<sub>2</sub> fixation and maximization of carbohydrates for energy production (Slamet et al., 2017). Chlorophyll is part of the chloroplast, and predominantly used inorganic P (Pi) (Giesrsch and Robinson, 1987), and deficiency of P supply to chloroplast can inhibits photosynthesis (Dietz and Foyer, 1986). Light, carbohydrates, temperature, plant species and genetic potential, and nutrients availability to crop plants may affects the chlorophyll synthesis and photosynthesis rate (Hasan et al., 2014). DM and other organic fertilizers provide essential nutrients for plant growth and have a positive effect on the formation of chlorophyll and chloroplast (Hasan et al., 2014). Organic acids either released by plant roots or produced during the decomposition and mineralization of manure/organic matter play an important role in gradual and consistent supply of Mg<sup>+2</sup> which contribute to the formation of chlorophyll molecules compared to inorganic fertilizers (Hasan et al., 2014). Organic fertilizer sources increased the availability and absorption of essential elements, such as  $Fe^{2+}$ ,  $Mg^{2+}$  and  $NH^{4+}$ , necessary for enzyme activation, chloroplast and chlorophyll formation (Elhindi, 2012). DM application significantly increased chlorophyll contents of maize compared to control (Effhimiadou et al., 2009). In present study, we found that DM application either with high/low P significantly increased chlorophyll contents of Yukon R and DKC26-28RIB compared to control over the both growing season (Table 2.10). Increased chlorophyll contents with high/low manure P treatments, suggest that optimum supply of N, P and  $Mg^{+2}$  to crop plants might have increased chlorophyll contents because both compounds are central component of chlorophyll molecules. Our results are in agreement with previous findings (Elhindi, 2012) who reported that manure application significantly improved chlorophyll contents of crop plants presumably by increasing availability of N and  $Mg^{2+}$  in soil. Chlorophyll contents also showed positive relationship with photosynthesis rate in crops. (Efthimiadou et al., 2009; Reich et al., 1994).

## 2.5.1.3. Photosynthesis rate

Photosynthesis is an important determinant of growth and yield of crops (Murchie et al., 2008). Phosphorus availability facilitate supply of triose-P from the chloroplast to the cytosol via the Pi translocator (Giersch and Robinson, 1987; Wissuwa et al., 2005). Phosphorus is an important element in compounds such as ATP, NADPH, nucleic acids, sugar phosphates, and phospholipids which involves in photosynthesis (Hammond and White, 2008). Photosynthesis is a process in which plants absorbed light energy and convert in to chemical energy (Hohmann-Marriott and Blankenship, 2011). P deficient plants showed reduction in photosynthesis that might be due to diminishing of ribulose 1-5, bisphosphate (RuBP) generation rather than due to limitations in the supply of ATP (adenosine triphosphate) and NADPH (Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase) in the Calvin cycle (Fredeen et al., 1989). RuBP is formed by taking a phosphate coming from the splitting of ATP, and joining it with ribulose phosphate (RuP), changing

RuP into RuBP, which is then able to react with  $CO_2$  and form an unstable 6C (carbon) molecule which is the basis for the dark reaction. ATP is commonly known as energy currency of the cell because energy obtained through its metabolism is used for biomolecules synthesis, movement and cell division. ATP consists of the purine base adenine, pentose sugar ribose, and three phosphate groups, and anhydrous bonds of the three phosphate make ATP a high energy molecule. During the photosynthetic electron transfer reaction, H<sup>+</sup> pumped across the thylakoid membrane, and the resulting electrochemical proton gradient derives the synthesis of ATP in the stroma (Alberts et al., 2002). APT hydrolysis produces more free energy compounds such as ADP (adenosine diphosphate) and inorganic phosphate than that of other phosphate compounds and common phosphate ester (Alberts et al., 2002). As the final step of electron transport chain, high energy electrons are loaded (together with H<sup>+</sup>) on to NADP<sup>+</sup>, converting it to NADPH, and all of these reactions are confined to chloroplast (Alberts et al., 2002). In carbon fixation process, three molecules of ATP and two molecules of NADPH are consumed for each molecule of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) converted in to carbohydrate. The net equation is:  $3C02 + 9ATP + 6NADPH + water \rightarrow Glyceraldehyde 3 - phosphate + 8P_i +$ 9ADP + 6NADP<sup>+</sup>(Alberts et al., 2002). Orthophosphate in the chloroplast stroma serve as a substrate for ATP synthesis (Carstensen et al., 2018).

Recent work exhibited that P deficiency reduces the orthophosphate concentration (Pi) in the chloroplast stroma which may led to inhibit the process of ATP synthesis (Carstensen et al., 2018; Karlsson et al., 2015), and protons start accumulated in the thylakoids and cause lumen acidification, which stop linear electron flow. Inadequate

plastoquinol (PQH2) oxidation retards electron transport to the cytochrome *b6f complex*. However, the electron transfer rate of PSI is increased under steady state growth light conditions and is limited under high light conditions. P deficiency increased electron transport through PSI increases the levels of NADPH, whereas ATP production remains limited and reduced CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation. Changes in supply of Pi in the stroma reduced the ATP levels and consequently reduced, but no changes in the photosynthetic machinery composition were observed (Karlsson et al., 2015). P deficiency immediately affects CO2 fixation, but does not appear to stop it, as P deficient plants typically remains green and do not develop leaf chlorosis. Phosphorus starvation significantly reduced NADP<sup>+</sup> in to NADPH, indicating that a large fraction of NADP<sup>+</sup> remains in the reduced form NADPH, because it cannot be utilized in the Calvin cycle due to ATP limitation, and because of higher PS1 activity (Carstensen et al., 2018). NADPH concentration was significantly higher under P deficient treatment as compared to P supply treatments.

DM application improved photosynthesis and plant growth due to slow release of nutrients (Salehi et al., 2017). Additionally, DM application significantly increased photosynthesis rate as compared to barley mulch, poultry manure and mineral fertilizes (Efthimiadou et al., 2009). Our results has demonstrated that, manure with high and low P concentration significantly increased the photosynthesis rate of Yukon R as compared to control during 2016 (Table 2.11). However,  $G \times P$  interaction was non-significant in 2017 and this might be due to variation in environmental condition i.e. less rain possibly reduced the P uptake and availability. Plant physiological processes, such as transpiration and photosynthesis response are dependent on the rapidity, severity, and duration of drought

stress (Zhang et al., 2012). Reduced soil moisture due to less rain closed the stomata to prevent desiccation (Yan et al., 2011) and consequently, affected photosynthesis rate due to decreased level of  $CO_2$  at chloroplast level (Long et al., 2006).

### 2.5.1.4. Root shoot ratio

Root morphological traits i.e. root length, volume and density significantly increased under P deficiency, whereas sufficient P supply increased growth and total root biomass (Hill et al., 2006). Previous studies found that plants grown under sufficient P conditions led to more accumulation of P in shoots than roots and indicated that shoots are strong source of P for photosynthesis processes (Rao et al., 1989). Reduction in photosynthesis under P deficiency caused negative effects on leaf expansion cells which is the consequence of carbohydrates deficiency (Louw-gaume et al., 2010; Rao et al., 1989). Roots are larger sink than leaves to allocate carbohydrates (Louw-gaume et al., 2010; Rao et al., 1989). As a result of reduction in photosynthesis process under P deficiency, triose export from chloroplast would be reduced and starch accumulate in leaf tissue, while the export of carbohydrates to roots decreased (Rao et al., 1989). Roots are generally considered as larger sinks than leaves under P deficiency, since the root shoot ratio usually increased (Wissuwa et al., 2005). In this study, similar results were observed where the root to shoot ratio of silage corn genotypes were significantly higher; whereas photosynthesis decreased in the control led to export of P from shoots to root for adaptation to low P stress which may account for the increase root to shoot ratio. Our findings supported by that of earlier studies (Basirat et al., 2011; Li et al., 2009; Louw-gaume et al., 2010; Wissuwa et

al., 2005) suggest that P deficiency significantly increased root to shoot ratio of under P deficient conditions.

## 2.5.1.5. Plant height (PH)

Phosphorus plays an important role in plant growth rate by enhancing cell division (Kavanova et al., 2006) and cell elongation (Radin and Eidenbock, 1984) in several crops. Amujoyegbe et al., (2007) found that manure application significantly increased PH of corn through optimum supply of P which may lead to increased internode length and nodes formation of stems. In present studies, our  $(G \times P)$  results indicated that Yukon R attained higher PH, when amended with high P manure, whereas, non-significant interaction was observed in 2017. This increment in PH occurred due to exclusive role of P in cell division and cell elongation. Additionally, P fertilizers application at early growth stages is known to be an effective strategy for stimulating corn root development and establishment of good root architecture and increasing yields (Shen et al., 2013). Effhimiadou et al., (2009) also found that manure application produced positive influence on PH of corn compared to inorganic fertilizers. Highest PH noted in Yukon R might be due to cultivar variability among the genotypes (Maryam et al., 2012). During 2017, decrease in PH of silage corn was observed compared to 2016, and this reduction in PH occurred due to less rainfall in month of July and August (Figure 2.3.1) which might hampered PH in silage corn in present study. Soil moisture deficit significantly affect the crop growth rate by decreasing the nutrients uptake and reduce LA, photosynthesis rate, cell division and elongation and finally PH in crops. Our results corroborate the findings of Maryam et al., (2012), who reported that water stress significantly affect the process of cell division and elongation which can lead to decreased plant height. In another study conducted by Zhang et al., (2012) observed that soil moisture deficit affects photosynthesis rate, and consequently reduction of stem internodes length led to decreased plant height (Abrokwah et al., 2017).

### 2.5.1.6. Dry matter yield

Environment (temperature, rain, radiation, transpiration etc.), genotypes or plant species and management practices (fertilizers application, sowing dates, cultural practices, seeding methods, weed control etc.) are the major drivers of DMY (Martin et al., 2014). Basically, DMY is the outcome of interception of PAR by plant leaves and the ability of plants canopy architecture to transform the intercepted PAR into biomass production (Portes and Melo, 2014). Results of our study demonstrated that high P manure treatment increased LA, chlorophyll contents and photosynthesis rate which consequently led to increased DMY (Table 2.15). In previous studies conducted by Amujoyegbe et al., (2007) and Effhimiadou et al., (2009), authors reported that manure application significantly improved LA, chlorophyll contents, photosynthesis and dry matter yield of silage corn as compared to inorganic fertilizer application. Manure application improved agronomic performance of silage corn genotypes, because nutrients are slowly released from DM and available for long time in soil compared to inorganic fertilizer. Lowest DMY in control treatment could be attributed due to lower P availability that might have reduced LA, number of leaves, photosynthesis rate and finally DMY (Table 2.15). In another study conducted by Salehi et al., (2017) found that dry matter accumulation significantly

increased with manure application due to gradual release of nutrients which improved photosynthesis rate, plant growth and finally DMY.

In 2017, due to low rain and consequently low moisture availability caused water and nutrient stress at pre-anthesis and anthesis stages of silage corn, which significantly reduced DMY compared to 2016. Moreover, LA, chlorophyll contents, photosynthesis, shoot dry weight and plant height of silage corn decreased, possibly due to reduced nutrients uptake, which may have led to reduced DMY. Plants cope with drought conditions by closing stomata to prevent water loss which may lead to decreased photosynthesis rate and finally DMY of silage corn. Previous studies also reported that drought stress reduced LA, chlorophyll contents, plant height, photosynthesis and DMY in several crops (Abrokwah et al., 2017; Bouazzama et al., 2012; Maryam et al., 2012; Yan et al., 2011).

Pearson's correlation analysis showed positive and strong correlation between DMY of silage corn genotypes and LA, chlorophyll contents, photosynthesis rate, shoot dry weight and plant height (Table 2.27). Feng et al. (2016) also reported positive correlation between leaf area index, chlorophyll contents, photosynthesis rate and DMY of cotton. Results of present study conclude that high P manure application significantly improved agronomic performance and dry matter yield of silage corn in western Newfoundland.

#### 2.5.2. Biochemical attributes

#### 2.5.2.1. Soil rhizosphere pH

Soil rhizosphere pH is an important factor that modify physiochemical properties and microbial community composition (Gregory and Hinsinger, 1999), and determine the availability of macro and micro nutrients (Hinsinger, 2001). Variation in soil rhizosphere pH under different nutrient regimes might be due to imbalance uptake of cations and anions by genotypes or species (Hinsinger, 2001; Li et al., 2008). Basically, DM or organic fertilizers have high pH and their application enhance soil pH and SOC than synthetic fertilizers (Dong et al., 2012; Lapa et al., 2011). In our study, the rhizosphere soil pH was slightly higher in manure treatments than control (Table 2.18), which suggest that manure either with low or high P application could alleviate soil acidification by increasing soil organic matter (SOM), improving the soil structure, and enhancing the soil base saturation percentage (Dong et al., 2012; Li et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2009). Application of inorganic fertilizers (alkaline in nature) would return some alkaline substance to soils which may led to increase the soil pH (Dong et al., 2012). Manure application significantly increased soil pH than no manure applied soils which was attributed to buffering from bicarbonates anion and organic acids (Whalen et al., 2000). Manure decomposition process also increase the soil pH due to the decarboxylation reaction in which protons  $(H^+)$  are consumed and  $CO_2$ is released:  $R - CO - COO^- + H^+ \rightarrow R - CHO + CO_2$  (Yan et al., 1996). Li et al., (2008) found that soil pH varied among rice genotypes and this difference occurred due to complex rhizosphere processes. Organic fertilizer sources or manure are able to stabilize and increase the soil pH (Dong et al., 2012) and we found that DM application stabilize the pH during first year and significantly increased in 2017 (Table 2.18)

# 2.5.2.2. Acid phosphatase activity

Soil enzymes are instrumental in organic matter decomposition and nutrients turnover. Therefore, soil enzymes activities are indicators of soil health and early indicators of land use changes caused by agricultural practices (Paz-Ferreiro et al., 2007). Plants and soil microorganisms have developed several mechanisms to mobilize organic P and solubilize bound inorganic P through exudation of protons and organic ligands such as oxalate and citrate (Hinsinger, 2001). Extracellular acid phosphatase and other enzymes activities fluctuate rapidly due to fertilizers, complex rhizosphere processes, biological properties, soil physio-chemical properties and environmental conditions (Paz-Ferreiro et al., 2011). Manure contains organic P which is mineralized by phosphatases in to inorganic P before plants uptake; soil microbial and enzyme activities significantly affect the P hydrolysis (Waldrip et al., 2012). Organic P mineralization is controlled by three enzymes such as acid phosphatase, alkaline phosphatase and phosphodiesterase (Waldrip et al., 2012). Both acid and alkaline phosphatase hydrolyze relatively nonspecific and a range of low molecular-weight P compounds, including mononucleotides, phytate, sugar phosphates, and polyphosphates, whereas phosphodiesterase catalyzes the hydrolysis of nucleic acids and phospholipids (Turner et al., 2002). Mineral P fertilizers application significantly decreased the acid phosphatase activity, because plants and microorganisms easily draw the P from readily available sources and do not have to mineralize organic P (Spohn and Kuzyakov, 2013). High P manure significantly increased Ap-ase activities compared to inorganic P source in the present studies (Table 2.19), which might suggest that manure application may stimulate Ap-ase activity by providing microorganisms with organic sources of C, N and P (Li et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2015). Silage corn genotypes also exhibited significant difference in rhizosphere Ap-ase activity, which might be due to difference in genotypes potential of roots respond to various P fertilizer sources which affect the Ap-ase activity in rhizosphere. Root exudates (protons, oxalate and citrate) potential varied among the silage corn genotypes which affect the solubilization of C, N and P, and shape the microbial community to decompose the manure by secretion of various enzymes. We conclude that high or low P manure application significantly increased Ap-ase activity to mineralize the organic P by increasing soil microbial communities. Our results are in agreement with studies reported by earlier researchers (Colvan et al., 2001; Leytem et al., 2011; Waldrip et al., 2012).

## 2.5.3. Soil PLFA profiles

Microbial community composition in the soil rhizosphere can be altered due to physio-chemical properties of soil, chemical nature of root exudates, fertilizer sources and their management practices, and plant growth stage (Li et al., 2014b, 2014a; Wang et al., 2017). Soil microbial communities are sensitive to external application of N and P, and decreased in response to nitrogen application (Liu et al., 2013; Pan et al., 2014). P fertilization significantly increased diversity and abundance of microbial community in tropical forest, grasslands and pastures (Liu et al., 2013; Pan et al., 2014), specifically G<sup>-</sup>

bacteria, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF),  $\Sigma$ BPLFAs and  $\Sigma$ PLFAs compared to control, whereas mean abundance of G<sup>+</sup> bacteria did not differ among treatments (Liu et al., 2013). Apparently, P fertilization in tropical forest enhanced SOM transformation and increased C availability which may led to increased soil microbial biomass (Liu et al., 2013).

Phospholipid fatty acids (PLFAs) are major component of membranes in all living cells, and several studies have documented that fertilizer management practices have altered the abundance and composition of microbial community in paddy and maize (Guo and Wang, 2009; Wei et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2015). Significant differences were observed in microbial communities of two maize genotypes due to secretion of root exudates such as sugars, amino acids, organic acids and hormones which enhanced greater bacterial growth in soil rhizosphere and higher availability of C (Wang et al., 2017). Agricultural soils are generally C limited and application of manure stimulate the growth of various microbial groups by increasing SOC labile fractions, N and P pool in soil, which probably could serve as major energy sources for microorganisms (Demoling et al., 2007). In the present study, High and low P manure application might have provided readily available substrates for the microbial community, whereas small increase of labile organic C under inorganic fertilization might be not enough to support the substantial growth of microorganisms (Li et al., 2018). Diversity in soil microbial community and abundance was significantly increased due to P rich environment resulted from long term P fertilization research trial, in comparison to control (Tan et al., 2013). Bacterial community were most sensitive to fertilizers and environmental conditions in soil, as they have a much short turnover time than fungi (Lazcano et al., 2013). Inorganic P fertilization not only influenced the soil microbial abundances but also altered bacterial composition (Liu et al., 2013).

Wei et al. (2017) reported that G<sup>-</sup> bacteria proliferate and grows faster soon after the addition of organic materials and then decrease and also facilitate the growth of other slow growing microorganisms such as G+ bacteria or fungi. It has been observed in a previous study that DM application significantly increased G<sup>-</sup> bacterial biomass relative to G<sup>+</sup> bacterial biomass due to higher availability of soluble carbon over a long part of the year than inorganic fertilization (Peacock et al., 2001). Moreover, higher proportion of G<sup>-</sup> bacteria usually occurs following a shift from nutrient deficient (oligotrophic) condition to nutrient rich (copiotrophic) conditions, and this pattern was observed in soil amended with P fertilizers (Tan et al., 2013). In present study, we found that G<sup>+</sup> and G<sup>-</sup> bacteria benefited from manure application, and there was a significant increase irrespective of low or high P manure treatments compared to inorganic P and control. However, G<sup>-</sup> bacterial PLFAs was predominantly higher in manure with high P source compared to inorganic P treatment in both years (Table 2.24). Our results are in line with that of Wei et al. (2017), where changes in G<sup>+</sup> and G<sup>-</sup> bacterial community were strongly related to increase in soil organic C added by application of manure. In general, a lower  $G^+/G^-$  ratio is an indicator of better soil nutrition (Rajendran et al., 1997). In present studies, we found that G<sup>-</sup> bacteria significantly increased relative to G<sup>+</sup> irrespective of low or high P source used (Table 2.24). This suggests that G<sup>-</sup> bacteria was sensitive to oligotrophic conditions (Tan et al., 2013), and often stimulated by adding organic matter resulting in lower  $G^+/G^-$  bacteria ratio. In another study conducted by Zhang et al., (2015) supported that same argument that  $G^+/G^-$  bacteria ratio was significantly reduced in organic matter amended treatments.

Fungi play an important role in C and nutrient cycling in agricultural ecosystems and are sensitive to fertilizers application (Li et al., 2018). In general, lower fungal population relative to bacteria is common in agricultural ecosystems due to intensive physical disturbance (tillage) and changes in amount, type and source of fertilizers inputs as compared to undisturbed soils (zero tillage) (Mbuthia et al., 2015). Inorganic P application significantly increased bacterial PLFAs and relative abundance of fungi, which obtain C from their host plants (Liu et al., 2013). Our results showed that high P manure application significantly enhanced the active fungal biomass in both years compared to control and inorganic P source that might be due to additional C attained by manure application and served as major source of energy for active fungi whereas, small increase of labile organic C under inorganic fertilization and control treatments reduced growth (Liu et al., 2013). Another possible reason of higher active fungi biomass in the high P manure application in our study could be due to DM increased the soil rhizosphere pH of silage corn genotypes, as this is often associated with increased fungal population in soil (Rousk et al., 2010). Higher F/B ratio reflect the relative abundance of microbial population which is an important indicator of a strong soil ecosystem buffering capacity and more sustainable land use (De Vries et al., 2006). In current study, inconsistency in F/B ratio among P sources during 2016 was noted, compared to 2017, where manure application enhanced F/B ratio compared to inorganic P and control (Table 2.24). This anomaly in F/B ratio might be due to higher organic matter contents (3.01%) in soil and furthermore, manure applied in soil contains higher percentage of P, N and C in high P manure treatment during 2017 relative to 2016 organic matter contents (2.98%) (Table 2.1 & 2.5), and fungi might have played a larger role in organic matter decomposition and C cycling (Buyer et al., 2010; De Vries et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2013). Earlier studies also reported that inorganic fertilizers reduced F/B ratio, while manure application increased fungi growth and thus increased F/B ratios (Buyer et al., 2010).

Different plant species and genotypes release secondary metabolites (organic acids, sugars, amino acids, lipids, enzymes and aromatic compounds) in their rhizosphere, which in turn stimulate the growth of dormant microbial species (Li et al., 2014b; Szoboszlay et al., 2015). In the present studies, we found that silage corn genotypes significantly altered microbial community composition in their rhizosphere, particularly in Yukon R root rhizosphere (Table 2.23), Yukon R presumably released more secondary metabolites or root exudates which in turn altered microbial composition and abundance. High P manure significantly increased G<sup>-</sup> bacteria, fungi, eukaryotes,  $\Sigma$ BPLFAs and  $\Sigma$ PLFAs (Table 2.24), that might be associated with higher organic C and extracellular enzyme activities involved in C, N and P mineralization compared to inorganic P and control (Table 2.19), indicating that P availability could be a limiting factor for soil bacterial growth (Liu et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2017).

Our PCA results supports the finding that field scale changes in microbial community structure were observed based on the dairy manure applied and induced changes in soil biochemical attributes (pH, Ap-ase and SAP). Phosphorus addition in paddy

soil influenced both bacterial and fungal communities as compared to control (Guo and Wang, 2009). Previous studies found that SOC, N, P and pH are the main drivers of soil microbial community composition (Liu et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2015). However, in our study we found that soil pH, Ap-ase and SAP under different P sources were all important factors in shaping the active soil microbial community (Figure 2.4.1b & Figure 2.4.2b). This is consistent with results of (Liu et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2017), who reported that soil pH, SOC and nutrients availability were the key determinants that affected the soil microbial community.

Pearson's correlation analysis showed that Ap-ase and SAP were significantly and positively correlated with active fungal biomass, ΣBPLFAs biomass and ΣPLFAs in 2016. However, Ap-ase activity was not significantly correlated with ΣBPLFAs biomass and ΣPLFAs during 2017 (Table 2.28). Our results corroborate the findings of previous findings demonstrating that SAP and Ap-ase were strongly correlated with microbial communities (Wei et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2015). In the present study, we found that organic and inorganic P sources had significant effects on agronomic performance, biochemical attributes and soil microbial community composition in silage corn. High P manure application increased overall active microbial composition and abundance which might have contributed to efficient cycling of N, P along with improved overall agronomic performance of silage corn and soil biochemical attributes and microbial community composition.

#### 2.6. Conclusion

In two years field trial, we found that organic and inorganic P sources significantly influenced the agronomic performance, soil biochemical attributes, and microbial community composition and abundance of silage corn genotypes in podzolic soils of western Newfoundland. Results suggest that DM with high P (contains high N and SOC) significantly improved the LA, chlorophyll contents, photosynthesis rate, PH and DMY. SAP, Ap-ase, and active microbial community composition and abundance were also improved with high P manure compared to control. Yukon R and DKC 26-28RIB showed superior agronomic performance and produced higher DMY compared to other genotypes, suggesting that these two genotypes has the potential to be successfully cultivated in podzolic soils under cool climatic conditions of western NL. High P manure source also showed a positive and strong relationship with agronomic performance parameters and DMY, biochemical attributes and active soil microbial community, indicating that high P manure application could be a useful practice and strategy for producing higher DMY of silage corn in podzolic soils. The addition of DM increased bacterial PLFAs and soil P cycling and ecological buffering capacity, which resulted in higher proportion of G- and fungal population relative to the control. PCA analysis also supported the argument that Yukon R and DKC26-28RIB genotypes showed superior agronomic performance and produced higher biomass. Taking all together, we conclude that high P dairy manure application could be a rational strategy to sustain crop growth, dry matter yield, and soil health compared to inorganic P source. Further studies are required to understand how root

exudates affects soil microbial community composition and diversity, P cycling and related key soil functions in podzolic soils, to sustain biomass yield of silage corn.

#### 2.7. References

- Abrokwah, O.A., Antwi-Boasiako, A., Effah, Z., 2017. Effects of drought stress on yield and yield components in maize cultivars (Zea mays L .). Journal Of Scientific Research in Allied Sciences 6, 481–490.
- Ai, C., Liang, G., Sun, J., Wang, X., Zhou, W., 2012. Responses of extracellular enzyme activities and microbial community in both the rhizosphere and bulk soil to long-term fertilization practices in a fluvo-aquic soil. Geoderma 173–174, 330–338. doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2011.07.020
- Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., Raff, M., Roberts, K., Walter, P., 2002. Chloroplasts and photosynthesis, in: Molecular Biology of the Cell. New York: Garland Science. doi:10.15713/ins.mmj.3
- Allison, S.D., Jastrow, J.D., 2006. Activities of extracellular enzymes in physically isolated fractions of restored grassland soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38, 3245–3256. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2006.04.011
- Almagro, M., Martínez-Mena, M., 2014. Litter decomposition rates of green manure as affected by soil erosion, transport and deposition processes, and the implications for the soil carbon balance of a rainfed olive grove under a dry Mediterranean climate. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 196, 167–177.

doi:10.1016/j.agee.2014.06.027

Amujoyegbe, B., Opabode, J.T., Olayinka, A., 2007. Effect of organic and inorganic fertilizer on yield and chlorophyll content of maize (Zea mays L .) and sorghum

Sorghum bicolour (L.) Moench). African Journal of Biotechnology 6, 1869–1873. doi:10.5897/AJB2007.000-2278

- Anderson, T.H., 2003. Microbial eco-physiological indicators to asses soil quality. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 98, 285–293. doi:10.1016/S0167-8809(03)00088-4
- Ashworth, A.J., DeBruyn, J.M., Allen, F.L., Radosevich, M., Owens, P.R., 2017.
  Microbial community structure is affected by cropping sequences and poultry litter under long-term no-tillage. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 114, 210–219.
  doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2017.07.019
- Basirat, M., Malboobi, M.A., Mousavi, A., Asgharzadeh, A., Samavat, S., 2011. Effects of phosphorous supply on growth, phosphate distribution and expression of transporter genes in tomato plants. Australian Journal of Crop Science 5, 537–543.
- Bending, G.D., Turner, M.K., Rayns, F., Marx, M.C., Wood, M., 2004. Microbial and biochemical soil quality indicators and their potential for differentiating areas under contrasting agricultural management regimes. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 36, 1785–1792. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.04.035
- Bernier, J.N., Undi, M., Ominski, K.H., Donohoe, G., Tenuta, M., Flaten, D., Plaizier, J.C., Wittenberg, K.M., 2014. Nitrogen and phosphorus utilization and excretion by beef cows fed a low quality forage diet supplemented with dried distillers grains with solubles under thermal neutral and prolonged cold conditions. Animal Feed Science and Technology 193, 9–20. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2014.03.010

Bhattacharyya, R., Das, T.K., Sudhishri, S., Dudwal, B., Sharma, A.R., Bhatia, A., Singh,

G., 2015. Conservation agriculture effects on soil organic carbon accumulation and crop productivity under a rice-wheat cropping system in the western Indo-Gangetic Plains. European Journal of Agronomy 70, 11–21. doi:10.1016/j.eja.2015.06.006

- Bossio, D.A., Scow, K.M., 1998. Impacts of carbon and flooding on soil microbial communities: phospholipid fatty acid profiles and substrate utilization patterns.
  Microbial Ecology 35, 265–278. doi:10.1007/s00248-007-9209-2
- Bouazzama, B., Xanthoulis, D., Bouaziz, A., Ruelle, P., Mailhol, J.-C., 2012. Effect of water stress on growth, water consumption and yield of silage maize under flood irrigation in a semi-arid climate of Tadla (Morocco). Biotechnology, Agronomy, Society and Environment 16, 468–477.
- Brockett, B.F.T., Prescott, C.E., Grayston, S.J., 2012. Soil moisture is the major factor influencing microbial community structure and enzyme activities across seven biogeoclimatic zones in western Canada. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 44, 9–20. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.09.003
- Buyer, J.S., Sasser, M., 2012. High throughput phospholipid fatty acid analysis of soils.Applied Soil Ecology 61, 127–130. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2012.06.005
- Buyer, J.S., Teasdale, J.R., Roberts, D.P., Zasada, I.A., Maul, J.E., 2010. Factors affecting soil microbial community structure in tomato cropping systems. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42, 831–841. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.01.020
- Cai, Z., Wang, B., Xu, M., Zhang, H., He, X., Zhang, L., Gao, S., 2014. Intensified soil acidification from chemical N fertilization and prevention by manure in an 18-year field experiment in the red soil of southern China. Journal of Soils and Sediments 15,

260-270. doi:10.1007/s11368-014-0989-y

- Carstensen, A., Herdean, A., Schmidt, S.B., Sharma, A., Spetea, C., Pribil, M., Husted,
  S., 2018. The impacts of phosphorus deficiency on the photosynthetic electron
  transport chain. Plant Physiology 177, 271–284. doi:10.1104/pp.17.01624
- Chen, X., Zhang, L.M., Shen, J.P., Wei, W.X., He, J.Z., 2011. Abundance and community structure of ammonia-oxidizing archaea and bacteria in an acid paddy soil. Biology and Fertility of Soils 47, 323–331. doi:10.1007/s00374-011-0542-8
- Chu, H., Lin, X., Fujii, T., Morimoto, S., Yagi, K., Hu, J., Zhang, J., 2007. Soil microbial biomass, dehydrogenase activity, bacterial community structure in response to longterm fertilizer management. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39, 2971–2976. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.05.031
- Colvan, S.R., Syers, J.K., O'Donnell, A.G.O., 2001. Effect of long-term fertiliser use on acid and alkaline phosphomonoesterase and phosphodiesterase activities in managed grassland. Biology and Fertility of Soils 34, 258–263. doi:10.1007/s003740100411
- De Vries, F.T., Hoffland, E., van Eekeren, N., Brussaard, L., Bloem, J., 2006.
  Fungal/bacterial ratios in grasslands with contrasting nitrogen management. Soil
  Biology and Biochemistry 38, 2092–2103. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2006.01.008
- De Vries, F.T., Manning, P., Tallowin, J.R.B., Mortimer, S.R., Pilgrim, E.S., Harrison,
  K.A., Hobbs, P.J., Quirk, H., Shipley, B., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Kattge, J., Bardgett,
  R.D., 2012. Abiotic drivers and plant traits explain landscape-scale patterns in soil
  microbial communities. Ecology Letters 15, 1230–1239. doi:10.1111/j.1461-

0248.2012.01844.x

- DeBruyn, J.M., Nixon, L.T., Fawaz, M.N., Johnson, A.M., Radosevich, M., 2011. Global biogeography and quantitative seasonal dynamics of Gemmatimonadetes in soil.
  Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77, 6295–6300. doi:10.1128/AEM.05005-11
- Demoling, F., Figueroa, D., Baath, E., 2007. Comparison of factors limiting bacterial growth in different soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39, 2485–2495.
  doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.05.002
- Dietz, K.J., Foyer, C., 1986. The relationship between phosphate status and photosynthesis in leaves - Reversibility of the effects of phosphate deficiency on photosynthesis. Planta 167, 376–381. doi:10.1007/BF00391342
- Dinesh, R., Srinivasan, V., Hamza, S., Manjusha, A., 2010. Short-term incorporation of organic manures and biofertilizers influences biochemical and microbial characteristics of soils under an annual crop [Turmeric (Curcuma longa L.)].
  Bioresource Technology 101, 4697–4702. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.01.108
- Dong, W., Zhang, X., Wang, H., Dai, X., Sun, X., Qiu, W., Yang, F., 2012. Effect of different fertilizer application on the soil fertility of paddy soils in red soil region of southern China. PLoS ONE 7, 1–9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044504
- Drinkwater, L.E., Snapp, S.S., 2007. Nutrients in agroecosystems: rethinking the management paradigm. Advances in Agronomy 92, 163–186. doi:10.1016/S0065-2113(04)92003-2

Efthimiadou, A., Bilalis, D., Karkanis, A., Froud-Williams, B., Eleftherochorinos, I.,

2009. Effects of cultural system (organic and conventional) on growth,

photosynthesis and yield components of sweet corn (Zea mays L.) under semi-arid environment. Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca 37, 104–111.

- Elhindi, K.M., 2012. Evaluation of composted green waste fertigation through surface and subsurface drip irrigation systems on pot marigold plants (Calendula officinalis L.) Grown on sandy soil. Australian Journal of Crop Science 6, 1249–1259.
- Feng, G., Luo, H., Zhang, Y., Gou, L., Yao, Y., Lin, Y., 2016. Relationship between plant canopy characteristics and photosynthetic productivity in diverse cultivars of cotton (
  Gossypium hirsutum L .). The Crop Journal 4, 499–508.
  doi:10.1016/j.cj.2016.05.012
- Folch, J., Lees, M., Stanley, G.H.S., 1957. Preparation of lipide extracts from brain tissue. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 226, 497–509.
- Fredeen, A.L., Rao, I.M., Terry, N., 1989. Influence of phosphorus nutrition on growth and carbon partitioning in Glycine max. Plant Physiology 89, 225–230. doi:10.1104/pp.89.1.225
- George, T.S., Gregory, P.J., Wood, M., Read, D., Buresh, R.J., 2002. Phosphatase activity and organic acids in the rhizosphere of potential agroforestry species and maize. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34, 1487–1494. doi:10.1016/S0038-0717(02)00093-7
- Giersch, C., Robinson, S.P., 1987. Regulation of photosynthetic carbon metabolism during phosphate limitation of photosynthesis in isolate spinach chloroplast.Photosynthesis Research 14, 211–227.

Gil-Sotres, F., Trasar-Cepeda, C., Leiros, M.C., Seoane, S., 2005. Different approaches to

evaluating soil quality using biochemical properties. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 37, 877–887. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.10.003

- Gomez-brandon, M.L.M., Dominguez, J., 2010. Tracking down microbial communities via fatty acids analysis : analytical strategy for solid organic samples. Current Research, Technology and Education Topics in Applied Microbiology and Microbial Biotechnology 1502–1508.
- Grand, S., Lavkulich, L.M., 2013. Potential influence of poorly crystalline minerals on soil chemistry in Podzols of southwestern Canada. European Journal of Soil Science 64, 651–660. doi:10.1111/ejss.12062
- Gregory, P.J., Hinsinger, P., 1999. New approaches to studying chemical and physical changes in the rhizosphere: An overview. Plant and Soil 211, 1–9. doi:10.1023/A:1004547401951
- Guo, H., Wang, G., 2009. Phosphorus status and microbial community of paddy soil with the growth of annual ryegrass (Lolium multiflorum Lam.) under different phosphorus fertilizer treatments. Journal of Zhejiang University Science B 10, 761– 768. doi:10.1631/jzus.B0920101
- Halilou, O., Mahamat, H., Clavijo, J.A., Hamidou, F., Sinclair, T.R., Soltani, A.,
  Mahamane, S., Vadez, V., 2016. Determination of coefficient defining leaf area
  development in different genotypes , plant types and planting densities in peanut (
  Arachis hypogeae L .). Field Crops Research 199, 42–51.
  doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2016.09.013

Hammond, J.P., White, P.J., 2008. Sucrose transport in the phloem: Integrating root

responses to phosphorus starvation. Journal of Experimental Botany 59, 93–109. doi:10.1093/jxb/erm221

- Hariadi, Y.C., Nurhayati, A.Y., Hariyani, P., 2016. Biophysical monitoring on the effect on different composition of goat and cow manure on the growth response of maize to support sustainability. Agriculture and Agricultural Science Procedia 9, 118–127. doi:10.1016/j.aaspro.2016.02.135
- Hasan, A.E., Bhiah, K.M., Al-zurfy, M.T.H., 2014. The impact of peat moss and sheep manure compost extracts on marigold (Calendula officinalis L.) growth and flowering. Journal of Organic Systems 9, 56–62.
- He, J., Shen, J., Zhang, L., Zhu, Y., Zheng, Y., Xu, M., Di, H., 2007. Quantitative analyses of the abundance and composition of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria and ammonia-oxidizing archaea of a Chinese upland red soil under long-term fertilization practices. Environmental Microbiology 9, 3152. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2007.01481.x
- Helgason, B.L., Walley, F.L., Germida, J.J., 2010. No-till soil management increases microbial biomass and alters community profiles in soil aggregates. Applied Soil Ecology 46, 390–397. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2010.10.002
- Hendershot, W.H., Lalande, H., Duquette, M., 2006. Soil reaction and exchangeable acidity, in: Carter, M.R., Gregorich, E.G. (Eds.), In Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis. pp. 173–178. doi:10.1017/S0014479708006546
- Hill, J.O., Simpson, R.J., Moore, A.D., Chapman, D.F., 2006. Morphology and response of roots of pasture species to phosphorus and nitrogen nutrition. Plant and Soil 286,
7-19. doi:10.1007/s11104-006-0014-3

- Hinsinger, P., 2001. Bioavailibility of soil inorganic P in the rhizosphere as effected by root-induced chemical changes. Plant and Soil 237, 173–195.
  doi:10.1023/A:1013351617532
- Hirzel, J., Walter, I., 2008. Availability of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium from poultry litter and conventional fertilizers in a volcanic soil cultivated with silage corn. Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research 68, 264–273. doi:10.4067/S0718-58392008000300006
- Hohmann-Marriott, M.F., Blankenship, R.E., 2011. Evolution of photosynthesis. Annual Review of Plant Biology 62, 515–548. doi:10.1016/S0167-7306(08)60146-5
- Huang, M., Zhou, X., Cao, F., Xia, B., Zou, Y., 2015. No-tillage effect on rice yield in China: A meta-analysis. Field Crops Research 183, 126–137. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2015.07.022
- Huygens, D., Schouppe, J., Roobroeck, D., Alvarez, M., Balocchi, O., Valenzuelaf, E.,
  Pinochet, D., Boeckx, P., 2011. Drying rewetting effects on N cycling in grassland soils of varying microbial community composition and management intensity in south central Chile. Applied Soil Ecology 48, 270–279.
  doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2011.04.012
- Jiang, Y., Jin, C., Sun, B., 2014. Soil aggregate stratification of nematodes and ammonia oxidizers affects nitrification in an acid soil. Environmental Microbiology 16, 3083– 3094. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12339

- Joergensen, R.G., Potthoff, M., 2005. Microbial reaction in activity, biomass, and community structure after long-term continuous mixing of a grassland soil. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 37, 1249–1258. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.11.021
- Karlsson, P.M., Herdean, A., Adolfsson, L., Beebo, A., Nziengui, H., Irigoyen, S., Unnep, R., Zsiros, O., Nagy, G., Garab, G., Aronsson, H., Versaw, W.K., Spetea, C., 2015.
  The Arabidopsis thylakoid transporter PHT4;1 influences phosphate availability for ATP synthesis and plant growth. Plant Journal 84, 99–110. doi:10.1111/tpj.12962
- Kaur, A., Chaudhary, A., Kaur, A., Choudhary, R., Kaushik, R., 2005. Phospholipid fatty acid A bioindicator of environment monitoring and assessment in soil ecosystem.
  Current Science 89, 1103–1112.
- Kavanova, M., Lattanzi, F.A., Grimoldi, A.A., Schnyder, H., 2006. Phosphorus deficiency decreases cell division and elongation in grass leaves. Plant Physiology 141, 766–775. doi:10.1104/pp.106.079699.766
- Kennedy, a C., Smith, K.L., 1995. Soil microbial diversity and the sustainability of agricultural soils. Plant and Soil 170, 75–86. doi:10.1007/BF02183056
- Khan, A., Khalil, S.K., 2010. Effect of leaf area on dry matter production in aerated mung bean seed. International Journal of Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 2, 52–61.
- Kujur, M., Patel, A.K., 2014. PLFA Profiling of soil microbial community structure and diversity in different dry tropical ecosystems of Jharkhand. International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences 3, 556–575.

Lapa, V. V., Seraya, T.M., Bogatyreva, E.N., Biryukova, O.M., 2011. The effect of long-

term fertilizer application on the group and fractional composition of humus in a soddy-podzolic light loamy soil. Eurasian Soil Science 44, 100–104. doi:10.1134/S106422931101008X

- Lasater, A.L., Carter, T., Rice, C., 2017. Effects of drought conditions on microbial communities in native rangelands. University of Arkansas.
- Lazcano, C., Gomez-Brandon, M., Revilla, P., Dominguez, J., 2013. Short-term effects of organic and inorganic fertilizers on soil microbial community structure and function:
  A field study with sweet corn. Biology and Fertility of Soils 49, 723–733.
  doi:10.1007/s00374-012-0761-7
- Leytem, A.B., Dungan, R.S., Moore, A., 2011. Nutrient availability to corn from dairy manures and fertilizer in a calcareous soil. Soil Science 176, 426–434. doi:10.1097/SS.0b013e31822391a6
- Li, B.Y., Huang, S.M., Wei, M.B., Zhang, H.L., Shen, A.L., Xu, J.M., Ruan, X.L., 2010.
  Dynamics of soil and grain micronutrients as affected by long-term fertilization in an aquic inceptisol. Pedosphere 20, 725–735. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(10)60063-X
- Li, J., Wu, X., Gebremikael, M.T., Wu, H., Cai, D., Wang, B., Li, B., Zhang, J., Li, Y., Xi, J., 2018. Response of soil organic carbon fractions, microbial community composition and carbon mineralization to high-input fertilizer practices under an intensive agricultural system. PLoS ONE 13, 1–16.
  doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0195144
- Li, J., Xie, Y., Dai, A., Liu, L., Li, Z., 2009. Root and shoot traits responses to phosphorus deficiency and QTL analysis at seedling stage using introgression lines

of rice. Journal of Genetics and Genomics 36, 173–183. doi:10.1016/S1673-8527(08)60104-6

- Li, Q. song, Lin kun, W.U., Jun, C., Khan, M.A., Xiao mian, L.U.O., Wen xiong, L.I.N., 2016. Biochemical and microbial properties of rhizospheres under maize/peanut intercropping. Journal of Integrative Agriculture 15, 101–110. doi:10.1016/S2095-3119(15)61089-9
- Li, X., Rui, J., Mao, Y., Yannarell, A., Mackie, R., 2014a. Dynamics of the bacterial community structure in the rhizosphere of a maize cultivar. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 68, 392–401. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.10.017
- Li, X., Rui, J., Xiong, J., Li, J., He, Z., Zhou, J., Yannarell, A.C., Mackie, R.I., 2014b. Functional potential of soil microbial communities in the maize rhizosphere. PLoS ONE 9, 1–9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0112609
- Li, Y., Wu, J., Shen, J., Liu, S., Wang, C., Chen, D., Huang, T., Zhang, J., 2016. Soil microbial C:N ratio is a robust indicator of soil productivity for paddy fields.
  Scientific Reports 6, 1–8. doi:10.1038/srep35266
- Li, Y.F., Luo, A.C., Wei, X.H., Yao, X.G., 2008. Changes in phosphorus fractions, pH, and phosphatase activity in rhizosphere of two rice genotypes. Pedosphere 18, 785–794. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(08)60074-0
- Lima, A.C.R., Brussaard, L., Totola, M.R., Hoogmoed, W.B., de Goede, R.G.M., 2013. A functional evaluation of three indicator sets for assessing soil quality. Applied Soil Ecology 64, 194–200. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2012.12.009

Ling, N., Sun, Y., Ma, J., Guo, J., Zhu, P., Peng, C., Yu, G., Ran, W., Guo, S., Shen, Q.,

2014. Response of the bacterial diversity and soil enzyme activity in particle-size fractions of Mollisol after different fertilization in a long-term experiment. Biology and Fertility of Soils 50, 901–911. doi:10.1007/s00374-014-0911-1

- Liu, L., Zhang, T., Gilliam, F.S., Gundersen, P., Zhang, W., Chen, H., Mo, J., 2013.
   Interactive effects of nitrogen and phosphorus on soil microbial communities in a tropical forest. PLoS ONE 8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0061188
- Liu, M., Hu, F., Chen, X., Huang, Q., Jiao, J., Zhang, B., Li, H., 2009. Organic amendments with reduced chemical fertilizer promote soil microbial development and nutrient availability in a subtropical paddy field: The influence of quantity, type and application time of organic amendments. Applied Soil Ecology 42, 166–175. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2009.03.006
- Long, S.P., Zhu, X., Naidu, S.L., Ort, D.R., 2006. Can improvement in photosynthesis increase crop yields? Plant, Cell and Environment 29, 315–330. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2005.01493.x
- Louw-gaume, A.E., Rao, I.M., Gaume, A.J., Frossard, E., 2010. A comparative study on plant growth and root plasticity responses of two Brachiaria forage grasses grown in nutrient solution at low and high phosphorus supply. Plant Soil 328, 155–164. doi:10.1007/s11104-009-0093-z
- Man, J., Shi, Y., Yu, Z., Zhang, Y., 2015. Dry matter production, photosynthesis of flag leaves and water use in winter wheat are affected by supplemental irrigation in the Huang-Huai-Hai plain of China. PLoS ONE 1–18. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0137274

- Mandal, A., Patra, A.K., Singh, D., Swarup, A., Ebhin Masto, R., 2007. Effect of longterm application of manure and fertilizer on biological and biochemical activities in soil during crop development stages. Bioresource Technology 98, 3585–3592. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2006.11.027
- Marschner, P., Kandeler, E., Marschner, B., 2003. Structure and function of the soil microbial community in a long-term fertilizer experiment. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 35, 453–461. doi:10.1016/S0038-0717(02)00297-3
- Martin, M.M., Olesen, J.E., Porter, J.R., 2014. A genotype, environment and management (GxExM) analysis of adaptation in winter wheat to climate change in Denmark. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 187, 1–13. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2013.11.009
- Maryam, H., Azizi, F., Zargari, K., 2012. Effect of drought stress on some morphological, physiological and agronomic traits in various foliage corn hybrids 12, 890–896.
  doi:10.5829/idosi.aejaes.2012.12.07.1751
- Mbuthia, L.W., Acosta-Martínez, V., DeBryun, J., Schaeffer, S., Tyler, D., Odoi, E.,
  Mpheshea, M., Walker, F., Eash, N., 2015. Long term tillage, cover crop, and
  fertilization effects on microbial community structure, activity: Implications for soil
  quality. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 89, 24–34. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.06.016
- Mckinley, V.L., Peacock, A.D., White, D.C., 2005. Microbial community PLFA and PHB responses to ecosystem restoration in tallgrass prairie soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 37, 1946–1958. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2005.02.033

Mehlich, A., 1984. Mehlich 3 soil test extractant: A modification of the Mehlich 2

extractant. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis 15, 1409–1416.

- Mikha, M.M., Rice, C.W., 2004. Tillage and manure effects on soil and aggregateassociated carbon and nitrogen. Soil Science Society of America Journal 68, 809. doi:10.2136/sssaj2004.0809
- Moreno, J.L., Ondono, S., Torres, I., Bastida, F., 2017. Compost, leonardite, and zeolite impacts on soil microbial community under barley crops. Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 17, 214–230.
- Murchie, E.H., Pinto, M., Horton, P., 2008. Agriculture and the new challenges for photosynthesis research. New Phytologist 181, 532–552.
- Nannipieri, P., Giagnoni, L., Renella, G., Puglisi, E., Ceccanti, B., Masciandaro, G.,
  Fornasier, F., Moscatelli, M.C., Marinari, S., 2012. Soil enzymology: classical and
  molecular approaches. Biology and Fertility of Soils 48, 743–762.
  doi:10.1007/s00374-012-0723-0
- Netto, A.T., Campostrini, E., Azevedo, L.C., de Souza, M.A., Ramalho, J.C., Chaves,
   M.M., 2009. Morphological analysis and photosynthetic performance of improved papaya genotypes. Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology 21, 209–222.
- Pan, Y., Cassman, N., de Hollander, M., Mendes, L.W., Korevaar, H., Geerts, R.H.E.M., van Veen, J.A., Kuramae, E.E., 2014. Impact of long-term N, P, K, and NPK fertilization on the composition and potential functions of the bacterial community in grassland soil. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 90, 195–205. doi:10.1111/1574-6941.12384

Papadopoulos, A., Bird, N.R.A., Whitmore, A.P., Mooney, S.J., 2014. Does organic

management lead to enhanced soil physical quality? Geoderma 213, 435–443. doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2013.08.033

- Papatheodorou, E.M., Kordatos, H., Kouseras, T., Monokrousos, N., Menkissoglu-spiroudi, U., Diamantopoulos, J., Stamou, G.P., Argyropoulou, M.D., 2012.
  Differential responses of structural and functional aspects of soil microbes and nematodes to abiotic and biotic modifications of the soil environment. Applied Soil Ecology 61, 26–33. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2012.04.002
- Paz-Ferreiro, J., Trasar-Cepeda, C., del Carmen Leiros, M., Seoane, S., Gil-Sotres, F.,
  2011. Intra-annual variation in biochemical properties and the biochemical equilibrium of different grassland soils under contrasting management and climate.
  Biology and Fertility of Soils 47, 633–645. doi:10.1007/s00374-011-0570-4
- Paz-Ferreiro, J., Trasar-Cepeda, C., Leiros, M.C., Seoane, S., Gil-Sotres, F., 2007.
  Biochemical properties of acid soils under native grassland in a temperate humid zone. New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research 50, 537–548.
  doi:10.1080/00288230709510321
- Peacock, A.D., Mullen, M.D., Ringelberg, D.B., Tyler, D.D., Hedrick, D.B., 2001. Soil microbial community responses to dairy manure or ammonium nitrate applications. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 33, 1011–1019.
- Pokhrel, B., Sorensen, J.N., Kristensen, H.L., Petersen, K.K., 2017. Nutrient availability, photosynthesis, and growth of parsley fertigated with chicken manure extract and lupin sap. Canadaian Journal of Plant Sciences 97, 1004–1013.

Portes, T.D.A., Melo, H.C. De, 2014. Light interception, leaf area and biomass

production as a function of the density of maize plants analyzed using mathematical models. Acta Scientiarum Agronomy 36, 457–463. doi:10.4025/actasciagron.v36i4.17892

- Radin, J.W., Eidenbock, M.P., 1984. Hydraulic conductance as a factor limiting leaf expansion of phosphorus-deficient cotton plants. Plant Physiology 75, 372–377.
- Rajendran, N., Matsuda, O., Rajendran, R., Urushigawa, Y., 1997. Comparative description of microbial community structure in surface sediments of eutrophic bays.
  Marine Pollution Bulletin 34, 26–33. doi:10.1016/S0025-326X(96)00057-4
- Rao, I.M., Raviraj, A.A., Terry, N., 1989. Leaf phosphate status, photosynthesis, and carbon partitioning in sugar beet. II. Diurnal changes in sugar phosphates, adenylates, and nicotinamide nucleotides. Plant Physiology 90, 820–826. doi:10.1104/pp.90.3.820
- Rashid, M.I., de Goede, R.G.M., Brussaard, L., Lantinga, E.A., 2013. Home field advantage of cattle manure decomposition affects the apparent nitrogen recovery in production grasslands. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 57, 320–326. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.10.005
- Reich, P.B., Walters, M.B., Ellsworth, D.S., Uhl, C., 1994. Photosynthesis-nitrogen relations in Amazonian tree species. Oecologia 97, 62–72. doi:10.1007/BF00317909
- Rousk, J., Brookes, P.C., Baath, E., 2010. The microbial PLFA composition as affected by pH in an arable soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42, 516–520. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.11.026

Salehi, A., Fallah, S., Sourki, A.A., 2017. Organic and inorganic fertilizer effect on soil

CO2 flux, microbial biomass, and growth of Nigella sativa L. International Agrophysics 31, 103–116. doi:10.1515/intag-2016-0032

- Sarrantonio, M., Gallandt, E., 2003. The role of cover crops in North American cropping systems. Journal of Crop Production 8, 53–74. doi:10.1300/J144v08n01
- Sauer, D., Sponagel, H., Sommer, M., Giani, L., Jahn, R., Stahr, K., 2007. Podzol: Soil of the year 2007. A review on its genesis, occurrence, and functions. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 170, 581–597. doi:10.1002/jpln.200700135
- Schindlbacher, A., Rodler, A., Kuffner, M., Kitzler, B., Sessitsch, A., Zechmeisterboltenstern, S., 2011. Experimental warming effects on the microbial community of a temperate mountain forest soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 43, 1417–1425. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.03.005
- Sharpe, R.R., Schomberg, H.H., Harper, L.A., Endale, D.M., Jenkins, M.B., Franzluebbers, A.J., 2004. Ammonia volatilization from surface-applied poultry litter under conservation tillage management practices. Journal of Environment Quality 33, 1183. doi:10.2134/jeq2004.1183
- Sheng, M., Hamel, C., Fernandez, M.R., 2012. Cropping practices modulate the impact of glyphosate on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and rhizosphere bacteria in agroecosystems of the semiarid prairie 1001, 990–1001. doi:10.1139/W2012-080
- Slamet, W., Purbajanti, E.D., Darmawati, A., Fuskhah, E., 2017. Leaf area index, chlorophyll, photosynthesis rate of lettuce (Lactuca sativa L) under N-organic fertilizer. Indian Journal of Agricultural ResearchResearch 51, 365–369. doi:10.18805/ijare.v51i04.8424

- Song, H., Li, Y., Zhou, L., Xu, Z., Zhou, G., 2018. Maize leaf functional responses to drought episode and rewatering. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 249, 57–70. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2017.11.023
- Spohn, M., Kuzyakov, Y., 2013. Distribution of microbial and root derived phosphatase activities in the rhizosphere depending on P availability and C allocation - coupling soil zymography with 14C imaging. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 67, 106–113. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.08.015
- Staples, C.R., 2003. Corn silage for dairy cows. IFAS Extension, University of Florida.
- Stark, C., Condron, L.M., Stewart, A., Di, H.J., O'Callaghan, M., 2007. Influence of organic and mineral amendments on microbial soil properties and processes. Applied Soil Ecology 35, 79–93. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2006.05.001
- Szoboszlay, M., Lambers, J., Chappell, J., Kupper, J. V., Moe, L.A., McNear, D.H., 2015.
  Comparison of root system architecture and rhizosphere microbial communities of
  Balsas teosinte and domesticated corn cultivars. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 80,
  34–44. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2014.09.001
- Tabatabai, M.A., Bremner, J.M., 1969. Use of p-nitrophenyl phosphate for assay of soil phosphatase activity. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 1, 301–307. doi:10.1016/0038-0717(69)90012-1
- Tan, H., Barret, M., Mooij, M.J., Rice, O., Morrissey, J.P., Dobson, A., Griffiths, B.,
  O'Gara, F., 2013. Long-term phosphorus fertilisation increased the diversity of the total bacterial community and the phoD phosphorus mineraliser group in pasture soils. Biology and Fertility of Soils 49, 661–672. doi:10.1007/s00374-012-0755-5

- Treeby, M.T., van Steveninck M, R.F., de Vries, H.M., 1987. Quantitative estimates of phosphorus concentrations within Lupinus luteus leaflets by means of electron probe X-ray microanalysis. Plant Physiology 85, 331–334. doi:10.1104/pp.85.2.331
- Turner, B.L., McKelvie, I.D., Haygarth, P.M., 2002. Characterisation of water-extractable soil organic phosphorus by phosphatase hydrolysis. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34, 27–35. doi:10.1016/S0038-0717(01)00144-4
- Waldrip, H.M., He, Z., Griffin, T.S., 2012. Effects of organic dairy manure on soil phosphatase activity, available soil phosphorus, and growth of sorghum-sudangrass.
  Soil Science 177, 629–637. doi:10.1097/SS.0b013e31827c4b78
- Waldron, L.J., Terry, N., 1987. The influence of atmospheric humidity on leaf expansion in Beta vulgaris L. Planta 170, 336–342.
- Wang, P., Marsh, E.L., Ainsworth, E.A., Leakey, A.D.B., Sheflin, A.M., Schachtman, D.P., 2017. Shifts in microbial communities in soil, rhizosphere and roots of two major crop systems under elevated CO2 and O3. Scientific Reports 7, 1–12. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-14936-2
- Wang, Q., Bai, Y., Gao, H., He, J., Chen, H., Chesney, R.C., Kuhn, N.J., Li, H., 2008.
  Soil chemical properties and microbial biomass after 16 years of no-tillage farming on the Loess Plateau, China. Geoderma 144, 502–508.
  doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2008.01.003
- Wang, W., Lai, D.Y.F., Wang, C., Pan, T., Zeng, C., 2015. Effects of rice straw incorporation on active soil organic carbon pools in a subtropical paddy field. Soil and Tillage Research 152, 8–16. doi:10.1016/j.still.2015.03.011

- Wang, X., Wang, X., Zhang, W., Shao, Y., Zou, X., Liu, T., 2016. Invariant community structure of soil bacteria in subtropical coniferous and broadleaved forests. Nature Publishing Group 1–11. doi:10.1038/srep19071
- Wei, M., Hu, G., Wang, H., Bai, E., Lou, Y., Zhang, A., Zhuge, Y., 2017. 35 years of manure and chemical fertilizer application alters soil microbial community composition in a Fluvo-aquic soil in Northern China. European Journal of Soil Biology 82, 27–34. doi:10.1016/j.ejsobi.2017.08.002
- Whalen, J.K., Chang, C., Clayton, G.W., Carefoot, J.P., 2000. Cattle manure amendments can increase the pH of acid soils. Soil Science Society of America Journa 64, 962–966.
- White, P.M., Rice, C.W., 2009. Tillage effects on microbial and carbon dynamics during plant residue decomposition. Soil Science Society of America Journal 73, 138. doi:10.2136/sssaj2007.0384
- Wissuwa, M., Gamat, G., Ismail, A.M., 2005. Is root growth under phosphorus deficiency affected by source or sink limitations? Journal of Experimental Botany 56, 1943– 1950. doi:10.1093/jxb/eri189
- Wu, L., Li, Z., Li, J., Azam, M., Huang, W., Zhang, Z., Lin, W., 2013. Assessment of shifts in microbial community structure and catabolic diversity in response to Rehmannia glutinosa monoculture. Applied Soil Ecology 67, 1–9. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2013.02.008
- Wu, Z., Haack, S.E., Lin, W., Li, B., Wu, L., 2015. Soil microbial community structure and metabolic activity of Pinus elliottii plantations across different stand ages in a

subtropical area. PLoS ONE 10, 1-11. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0135354

- Yan, F., Schubert, S., Mengel, K., 1996. Soil pH increase due to biological decarboxylation of organic anions. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 28, 617–624.
- Yan, H., Lu-bin, F., Da-zhuang, H., 2011. Effects of drought stress on the biomass distribution and photosynthetic characteristics of cluster mulberry. Chinese Journal of Applied Ecology 22, 3365–3370.
- Yan, X., Zhou, H., Zhu, Q.H., Wang, X.F., Zhang, Y.Z., Yu, X.C., Peng, X., 2013.
  Carbon sequestration efficiency in paddy soil and upland soil under long-term fertilization in southern China. Soil and Tillage Research 130, 42–51.
  doi:10.1016/j.still.2013.01.013
- Yuan, L., Zhang, Z., Cao, X., Zhu, S., Zhang, X., Wu, L., 2014. Responses of rice production, milled rice quality and soil properties to various nitrogen inputs and rice straw incorporation under continuous plastic film mulching cultivation. Field Crops Research 155, 164–171. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2013.09.009
- Zelles, L., 1999. Fatty acid patterns of phospholipids and lipopolysaccharides in the characterisation of microbial communities in soil : a review. Biol Fertil Soils 111– 129.
- Zhang, C.S., Guo-bin, L., Sha, X., Zhi-qing, J., Chao, Z., 2012. Photosynthetic characteristics of Bothriochloa ischaemum under drought stress and elevated CO2 concentration. Chinese Journal of Applied Ecology 23, 3009–3015.
- Zhang, H.M., Wang, B.R., Xu, M.G., Fan, T.L., 2009. Crop yield and soil responses to long-term fertilization on a red soil in southern China. Pedosphere 19, 199–207.

doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(09)60109-0

- Zhang, Q., Wu, J., Yang, F., Lei, Y., Zhang, Q., Cheng, X., 2016. Alterations in soil microbial community composition and biomass following agricultural land use change. Nature Publishing Group 1–10. doi:10.1038/srep36587
- Zhang, Q., Zhou, W., Liang, G., Wang, X., Sun, J., He, P., Li, L., 2015. Effects of different organic manures on the biochemical and microbial characteristics of albic paddy soil in a short-term experiment. PLoS ONE 10, 1–19. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0124096

#### Chapter 3

## 3. Evaluating the forage production and quality of silage corn under organic and inorganic phosphorus sources

#### 3.1. Abstract

The dairy industry is a major contributor to the food security and economy of Newfoundland and Labrador (NL). However, dairy sector faces acute shortage of quality forage production to meet the needs of dairy farmers. To address this challenge, a field experiment was conducted at Pynn's Brook research station, Pasadena, to determine the forage production and quality of five silage corn genotypes following dairy manure and inorganic phosphorus applications. Experimental treatments were: dairy manure with high phosphorous (DM<sub>1</sub>), dairy manure with low P (DM<sub>2</sub>), inorganic P (IP) and control (no P applications) and five silage corn genotypes (Fusion-RR, Yukon-R, A4177G3-RIB, DKC23-17RIB, DKC26-28RIB). Results revealed that organic P source (DM1) had significant effects on forage production and NFC compared to control but non-significant effects on forage fiber contents (ADF, NDF) and energy parameters (NEM, NEG, NEL). However, DM1 was statistically at par with DM2 and IP treatments while comparing NFC contents. Significant genotypic difference in forage production and quality parameters were observed. For instance, DKC26-28RIB, and Yukon-R produced higher forage production, however, A4177G3-RIB genotype produced superior quality forage. For instance, P, K, Mg, CP, AP, TDN, NEM and NEG was higher in A4177G3–RIB compared to other genotypes.

#### **3.2.** Introduction

Sustainable food production and security is the prime objective of agricultural production systems (Tilman et al. 2011). The global population is predicted to grow to 9.2 billion through 2050, necessitating enormous increases in food production, as well as, reductions in waste (Fedoroff 2015). It is estimated that annual cereal and meat production will need to rise to about 900 and 200 million tonnes respectively to feed the world (FAO 2009). To achieve this, more animal feed and raw materials will be needed to increase milk and meat production to meet the needs of the ever increasing world population\_(Ittersum 2011). Enhancing milk production and quality in response to the increasing global demands for dairy products requires more sustainable, productive, economically viable, and environmentally beneficial forage cropping systems (Martin et al. 2017). Historically, dairy farmers grow forages, pasture, grasses and purchase minimal protein, high energy feed stock, minerals, and vitamins to meet cattle nutrient requirements (Tauer and Mishra 2006; USDA-NASS 1989; 2014; Write 2009).

Corn (*Zea mays* L.) is one of the most important food and forage crops contributing to the global food security for human and animals (Ranum et al. 2014). Silage corn is a high-energy crop with multifaceted benefits compared to other forage species (Khan et al. 2012; Khan et al. 2015; Phipps et al. 2010). Dairy farmers primarily grow corn for silage and grain in addition to alfalfa, soybeans, oats, wheat, barley, and sorghum (Gallo et al. 2013). Interestingly, acreage under hay crops, grasses, and green chop has declined in the last two decades, whereas silage corn production is increased by 33%, and alfalfa hay production decreased by 75% (USDA-NASS 2014). Increased silage corn production mirrors the growing reliance on silage corn, as a primary forage source for livestock and dairy sector (Khan et al. 2015; Robinson 2008). This increasing trend has allowed dairy farmers to increase herd size, and stocking rates to approximately 27% more cows per unit land area when silage corn replaces alfalfa silage in the cropping systems (Powell et al. 2016). Silage corn is a preferred forage compared to alfalfa and other forages due to higher biomass production potential, energy content, more uniform quality and one cut forage harvest (Ericsson and Nilsson 2006; Kirkland et al. 2005; Phipps et al. 2016; Rankin 2014). Additionally, it is highly palatable, digestible and easy to ensile due to high soluble sugar contents (Karsten et al. 2003; Kwabiah et al. 2003). Owing to high energy contents of silage corn, milk production was significantly increased compared to other grasses as a sole source of energy (Fitzgerald and Murphy 1999). Consequently, dairy farmers need sustainable supply of quality forage production to meet forage security that could be achieved through adaptations of good agricultural practices that make use of local resources to enhance forage production, quality and diversify the forage production systems.

Dairy manure (DM) is historically known as a rich source of plant nutrients, and good soil amendment for plant growth and higher biomass production (Hart et al. 1997; Jarvis 1993; Newton et al. 2003a; Pain et al. 1989; Walsh et al. 2012). For instance, a single dairy cow produces about 10 to 30 kg of phosphorus (P), and 90 to 150 kg of total nitrogen each year (ASAE 2005), in addition to other macro and micro nutrients (Eghball et al. 2002; Kurt and Torsten 2012; Warman and Cooper 2000). Therefore, DM application could be a promising and sustainable P resource to enhance forage production and on-farm nutrient

recycling (Agriculture 2002; Leytem et al. 2014; Seleiman et al. 2012; Seleiman et al. 2017). Phosphorus is one of the essential mineral nutrients required for plant growth and development (Glass et al. 1980; Richardson et al. 2009; Schachtman et al. 1998); however, at the same time it is one of the most immobile and inaccessible nutrients present in soils (Holford 1997; Lynch 2011). Therefore, P deficiency in crop plants may lead to stunted growth and reduced crop yields (Assuero et al. 2004; Barry and Miller 1989; Plénet et al. 2000a; Plénet et al. 2000b; Plénet et al. 2000c). Depending on the soil pH, plant roots take up P either in the form of primary orthophosphate (H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup>) or secondary orthophosphate (HPO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>) anions. However, H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> is the predominant form in acidic soils (Kulhánek et al. 2007; Raghothama 1999b). The root morphology and architecture of crop plants play an important role in exploring the rhizosphere area, which are associated with soil rhizosphere microorganisms (actinomycetes, protozoans, bacteria, and fungi), release organic compounds (phosphatases and organic acids) and inorganic P in the rhizosphere (Fageria et al. 2014; Kulhánek et al. 2007; Lynch 2011; Raghothama 1999a; Rausch and Bucher 2002).

Generally, P fertilization cause rapid immobilization in soils due to its higher reaction capacities with organic matter or cations (Ca, K, Al, Fe) in alkaline and acidic soils causing unavailability of P for the plant uptake (Hinsinger 2001; Lynch 2011; Vance et al. 2003). Due to such higher reactivity in acidic and alkaline/calcareous soils, approximately 70 percent of global croplands have become P deficient making inorganic P fertilization an inevitable input in intensive agriculture. Furthermore, depleting rock phosphate resources in the next 50-100 years is also a growing concern for the agriculture production systems

(Cordell et al. 2009; Vance et al. 2003). Hence, using DM as a plant nutrient source can be a suitable alternative option for sustainable food and forage production, particularly in territories of expanding dairy industry (Newton et al. 2003a). This will further enhance the efficient utilization of abundantly available DM as a P source, while simultaneously reduce the dependency on non-renewable inorganic phosphate rocks source (Cordell et al. 2009; Vance and Chiou 2011; Vance et al. 2003). It has been reported that DM application enhanced on-farm nutrient use efficiency in silage corn compared to other forage grasses (Ketterings et al. 2007; Newton et al. 2003b; Roth and Heinrichs 2001). Moreover, DM application can enhance mineral uptake, milk and forage production (Cherney et al., 2015). Higher protein, acid detergent fiber (ADF), neutral detergent fiber (NDF), and total digestible nutrients (TDN) were also noted in forage obtained from silage corn following DM application compared to inorganic nutrient sources (Moreno-Reséndez et al. 2017).

Earlier researchers reported variations in P use efficiency in different crop genotypes, most probably due to their genetic makeup (Balemi and Schenk 2009a;b; Corrales et al. 2007; Ozturk et al. 2005). Similarly, different silage corn hybrids expressed variations in forage proteins, minerals, ADF, NDF, TDN and forage energies (Amodu et al. 2014; Faisal et al. 2013; Kwabiah 2005; Peña-Ramos et al. 2002; Schwab et al. 2003). Furthermore, different P application rates also displayed significant effects on biomass production and nutritional aspects of different forage species including corn (Amin 2011; Ayub et al. 1999; Eghball and Power 1999; Hazary et al. 2015; Hirzel et al. 2007a; Lentz and Ippolito 2012; Malhi et al. 1992; Mazza et al. 2012; Polat et al. 2007; Roy and Khandaker 2010; Toth et al. 2006); however, information given above does not provide

substantial knowledge to elucidate the effects of organic (DM with high and low P) and inorganic fertilizer P source on forage quality of silage corn genotypes. It is also important to assess the adaptability of these corn genotypes for optimum plant growth, and forage quality in cool climate production systems (low crop heating unit receiving areas). Therefore, we hypothesized that organic (DM) and inorganic fertilizer P source will improve forage minerals, protein, fiber contents and forage energies of silage corn genotypes in low corn heat unit (CHU) receiving areas. Hence, a field research trial was conducted for three years to investigate the effects of organic (DM) and inorganic P fertilizer source on forage quality of silage corn genotypes.

## 3.3. Material and methods

### 3.3.1. Experimental location and treatments

A field research trial was carried out at Pynn's Brook Research Station, Pasadena (49° 04' 20" N, 57° 33' 35" W), Newfoundland and Labrador (NL) for three years (2015 - 2017). The soil, reddish brown to brown, has developed on gravelly sandy fluvial deposit of mixed lithology, with >100 cm depth to bedrock, and soil samples for the study site revealed a gravelly loamy sand soil [sand = 82.0% ( $\pm$ 3.4); silt = 11.6% ( $\pm$ 2.4); clay = 6.4% ( $\pm$ 1.2], which is classified as orthic Humo-ferric podzol (Kirby 1988). Five Roundup® ready silage corn genotypes were selected based on their CHU requirements to assess the forage production potential and forage nutritional quality in cool climate production systems. The genotypes were obtained from three sources; Brett Young (Fusion-RR with 2200 CHU; Yukon-R with 2150 CHU), Pride Seeds (A4177G3-RIB with 2175 CHU), and

DEKALB Canada (DKC23-17RIB with 2075 CHU and DKC26-28RIB with 2150 CHU). The four P sources used in this experiment were: two dairy manure (DM) sources collected from two dairy farms with either low or high P concentrations, triple superphosphate (0-45-0) as inorganic P (IP) and control (no P applications) (Table 3.1). To assess the P concentration of the DM treatments, well-agitated DM samples were collected from western NL dairy farms and were sent to the Soil, Plant and Feed Laboratory, Department of Fisheries and Land resources, St. John's, NL. DM sample with high and low P concentration were designated as  $DM_1$  and  $DM_2$ , respectively (Table 3.1). During each growing season, well-agitated DM samples were collected from the same two selected dairy farms and were sent to the laboratory for complete nutrient analyses prior to field application. DM was applied to the respective treatment plots @ 30,000 L ha<sup>-1</sup> according to the local dairy farmers practice and was thoroughly incorporated in the top 15-20 cm soil layer before crop seeding. The remaining crop nutrient (NPK) requirements were supplemented through inorganic fertilizers in all treatments except P in control P treatment based on the soil and manure analyses reports (Table 3.1 & Table 3.2), and regional recommendations for silage corn production. Briefly DM (DM<sub>1</sub> or DM<sub>2</sub>) treated plots received P from dairy manure plus from inorganic P fertilizer to meet the crop P requirements. It is pertinent to mention here that location of experimental plots was not changed during all three growing seasons to minimize error within treatments.

Treatments	Nutrients	2015	2016	2017
Control P (DM0)		No P		
		applications		
	pН	7.0	6.8	6.8
Manura with high	Dry matter (%)	9.6	9.33	10.9
rutrionts (DM1) @	Total nitrogen (%)	0.328	0.37	0.44
30,000 L ha <sup>-1</sup> + remaining P	Total phosphorus (%)	0.057	0.065	0.087
	Total potassium (%)	0.328	0.379	0.37
inorganic fertilizer	Total calcium (%)	0.139	0.164	0.19
	Total magnesium (%)	0.065	0.069	0.077
Manuna with law	pН	7.3	7.0	7.1
	Dry matter (%)	3.5	3.57	1.7
mutrianta (DM2)	Total nitrogen (%)	0.148	0.140	0.12
30,000 L ha <sup>-1</sup> + remaining P requirements from inorganic fertilizer	Total phosphorus (%)	0.031	0.028	0.017
	Total potassium (%)	0.134	0.119	0.12
	Total calcium (%)	0.074	0.059	0.042
	Total magnesium (%)	0.032	0.026	0.018
Inorganic P (IP) @ Triple				
110 kg ha <sup>-1</sup>	superphosphate			

Table 3.1 Composition of phosphorus sources used in the current research trial under cool climatic conditions.

Table 3.2 Soil ph	nysiochemical	properties of ex	perimental site	before seeding
-------------------	---------------	------------------	-----------------	----------------

Soil parameters	2015	2016	2017
pH	6.8	6.4	6.8
Organic matter (%)	2.78	2.98	3.01
Phosphorus (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	80	81	74
Potassium (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	45	38	49
Calcium (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	1643	1256	1120
Magnesium (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	241	265	218

## **3.3.2.** Crop husbandry

Silage corn genotypes were seeded with SAMCO system (SAMCO 2200 Agricultural Manufacturing, Limerick, Ireland) capable of seeding two corn rows, and simultaneously cover the seeded rows with plastic sheets. Biodegradable and partially perforated plastic sheets provide cover at 1m width for two adjacent rows to accumulate CHU during germination and early crop establishment. Plastic sheet provides sufficient CHU and is beneficial in cool climatic production systems (Kwabiah 2005), as the minimum temperature was lower than corn base temperature (10 °C) during germination and seedling establishment phase. Seeding was done @ 90900 plants per hectare on June 4, May 25<sup>th</sup> and May 23<sup>rd</sup>, and harvested on October 13, 18, and 13 during 2015, 2016 and 2017 growing seasons, respectively. Glyphosate (WeatherMax) herbicide was applied according to the instructions on the label (Monsanto Canada Inc.). One square meter  $(1 \text{ m}^2)$ area from the centre of each plot was hand-cut at ground level at the black layer stage (R6), which is considered as the best crop harvesting stage for optimum forage nutritional quality (Bal et al. 1997; Wiersma et al. 1993). The fresh forage biomass was recorded per square meter, and a subsample was chopped into small pieces with knife and dried in a forced air oven (Shell Labs USA) at 65 °C until constant dry weight was attained. The dry matter content (g kg<sup>-1</sup>) was then calculated based on the total fresh and dry weights of the sample as described by Kwabiah (2005). Total forage production was converted from  $1 \text{ m}^2$  to per hectare on a dry matter basis (equations below), and was reported as Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>.

% dry matter = 
$$\frac{\text{Weight after drying}}{\text{Weight before drying}} \times 100$$

Dry matter yields = Fresh biomass production  $\times$  % dry matter

## 3.3.3. Forage quality analysis

Three plants from each experimental plot were selected randomly for forage quality analysis. Whole plants were chopped, pooled and dried at 65 °C in a forced air oven (Shell Labs USA) until constant weight was obtained. The plant samples were then crushed to a powder form using a grinder mill (Wily Mill Standard Model-3, Arthur H. Thomas Co. Philadelphia, USA), and sieved through a 500  $\mu$ M screen. Thereafter, sieved samples were sent to the Actlabs, (member laboratory of Dairy One Feed and Forage Analyses, Ithaca, New York USA) Ancaster, Ontario (ON) for forage quality analyses. Near infrared reflectance analysis (NIR) technique (Foss NIR System Model 6500 Win ISI II v1.5) was employed to determine forage minerals (phosphorus: P, potassium: K, calcium: Ca, magnesium: Mg), protein (crude protein: CP, available protein: AP), simple sugars (SS), fibers (acid detergent fiber: ADF, neutral detergent fiber: NDF) and non-fibrous carbohydrates (NFC). Total digestible nutrients (TDN) were assessed using summative equation based on forage quality components at maintenance level 1x (Weiss et al. 1992). Silage corn forage energy contents including net energy for lactation (NEL), net energy for maintenance (NEM), and net energy for gain (NEG) were calculated using National Research Council standard equations (2001) and Van Soest (Van Soest 1982) variable discount approach.

#### **3.3.4.** Statistical Analysis

The experiment was laid out in a factorial combination of five silage corn genotypes, four P sources, and managed in a randomized complete block design with three replications. The individual experimental plot was  $4.8 \times 1.5$  meters with two rows orientated in east-west directions. The experimental treatments were maintained continuously for three years in the same plots to minimize error within treatments. Data were pooled and principal component analysis (PCA) was performed to determine the similarities or groupings of the genotypes, and P sources based on forage production and forage quality parameters. PCA analysis was conducted using XLStat (XLStat Premium 2017, Version 19.5). Based on the quadrants, one-way or two way ANOVA was performed to evaluate observed variables in each quadrant by employing the Statistix-10 software package (Analytical Software, FL, USA). Where treatment effects were significant, the means were compared with Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) test at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . Figures were prepared using XLStat (XLStat Premium 2017, Version 19.5) and Sigma Plot 13.0 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA) software packages.

#### 3.4. Results

## **3.4.1.** Mineral composition, net energy for maintenance and for gain in silage corn genotypes (Q1)

Principal component analysis showed the first ( $F_1$ ) and the second components ( $F_2$ ) explained 36.28% and 25.34% of the total variance in the data set, respectively

(Figure 3.4.1a & b). Significant differences (p<0.01) in forage minerals (P, K, Mg), net energy for maintenance (NEM), net energy for gain (NEG) and total digestible nutrients (TDN) among five silage corn genotypes were observed (Figure 3.4.2). One-way ANOVA showed that A4177G3–RIB genotype showed higher forage minerals (P and Mg), energy (NEM and NEG) and TDN compared to other genotypes (Figure 3.4.2a-e). PCA also showed association of these qualitative traits with A4177G3–RIB and therefore, clustered in the same quadrant (Q1) (Figure 3.4.1b). If we compare the mineral composition among five genotypes, then high P (2.75 g kg<sup>-1</sup>), and Mg (1.71 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) was observed in A4177G3– RIB and Fusion-RR produced low minerals. Although, DKC26-28RIB was statistically at par with A4177G3–RIB and produced similar P. Significantly higher NEM (1.40 Mcal kg<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup>) and NEG (0.82 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup>) were also produced by A4177G3–RIB, compared to low NEM and NEG were observed in DKC23-17RIB genotype. However, Fusion-RR and Yukon-R were statistically at par with A4177G3-RIB genotype and produced similar NEM and NEG (Figure 3.4.2 c & d). Higher TDN (639.17 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) was also produced by A4177G3–RIB genotype, although statistically non-significant from Fusion-RR and Yukon-R (Figure 3.4.2e). Overall, A4177G3-RIB genotype was superior in producing minerals, energy contents and total digestible nutrient compared to other genotypes (Figure 3.4.2ae).



Figure 3.4.1 Principal component analysis of the first two components performed on the forage production and forage nutritional quality of five-silage corn genotypes affected by four phosphorus sources. (a) Observation plot showing segregation of silage corn genotypes and phosphorus sources based on the centroids on the F1 and F2 axis; and (b) Biplot showing relationship between different observations, forage production and nutritional quality in five silage corn genotypes treated with four P sources.



Figure 3.4.2 Quadrant 1 representing the quality matrix of silage corn genotypes (a)phosphorus, (b) magnesium, (c) net energy for maintenance, (d) net energy for gain, (e) total digestible nutrients



Figure 3.4.3 Quadrant 2 representing the quality matrix of silage corn genotypes (a) nonfibrous carbohydrates, and (c) net energy for lactation; as well as, the effect of silage corn genotypes and phosphorus sources on (b) non-fibrous carbohydrates, and (d) net energy for lactation.



Figure 3.4.4 The quadrant 3 represents (a) forage production potentials and (b) acid detergent fiber.



Figure 3.4.5 Quadrant 4 representing the effects of phosphorus sources on (a) crude proteins, (b) available proteins, (c) potassium, (d) calcium, (e) neutral detergent fiber and (f) simple sugars.



Figure 3.4.6 Pearson's correlation showing the association between forage production and forage proteins contents in five silage corn genotypes.

Forage production and forage quality		Fusion RR	Yukon R	A4177G3RIB	DKC23-17RIB	DKC26-28RIB
Forage	Forage production (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )	$14.29\pm2.61^{b}$	$16.43\pm2.38^a$	$12.76 \pm 2.77^{\circ}$	$13.21 \pm 3.29^{bc}$	$15.47 \pm 2.66^{a}$
Minerals	Phosphorus (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$2.48\pm0.36^{\text{b}}$	$2.60\pm0.38^{ab}$	$2.75\pm0.31^{\text{a}}$	$2.63\pm0.29^{ab}$	$2.75\pm0.32^{\text{a}}$
	Calcium (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$1.38\pm0.49$	$1.18\pm0.39$	$1.55 \pm 1.11$	$1.48 \pm 0.53$	$1.43 \pm 0.48$
	Potassium (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$12.46\pm1.77^{b}$	$12.66 \pm 2.46^{b}$	$14.20\pm1.69^{\text{a}}$	$12.56\pm1.82^{b}$	$13.76\pm2.59^{a}$
	Magnesium (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$1.26\pm0.44^{c}$	$1.27\pm0.43^{c}$	$1.71\pm0.56^{a}$	$1.46\pm0.33^{b}$	$1.35\pm0.40^{bc}$
Proteins	Crude protein (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$103.11 \pm 11.75^{b}$	$97.74 \pm 12.29^{\circ}$	$111.51 \pm 10.74^{a}$	$102.86 \pm 11.02^{bc}$	$99.98 \pm 10.12^{bc}$
	Available protein (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$95.53 \pm 11.75^{b}$	$90.01 \pm 11.33^{\circ}$	$103.75 \pm 11.75^{a}$	$94.56 \pm 11.14^{bc}$	$91.86 \pm 9.36^{bc}$
Sugar	Simple sugars (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$6.60 \pm 1.11^{a}$	$5.43 \pm 1.00^{b}$	$5.64\pm0.98^{b}$	$5.31\pm0.86^{b}$	$6.32 \pm 1.24^{a}$
Fiber	Acid detergent fiber (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$315.78 \pm 29.63^{a}$	$305.39 \pm 28.48^{ab}$	$298.44\pm30.48^{b}$	$293.03 \pm 32.78^{bc}$	$280.58 \pm 32.12^{\circ}$
	Neutral detergent fiber (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$561.33 \pm 38.34^{a}$	$528.33 \pm 48.75^{\text{b}}$	$539.00 \pm 39.51^{b}$	$524.28 \pm 37.17^{b}$	$496.03 \pm 43.89^{\circ}$
NFC	Non fibrous carbohydrate (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$262.03 \pm 37.81^{c}$	$306.47\pm47.24^{b}$	$280.50\pm30.92^{\text{c}}$	$308.83 \pm 38.24^{b}$	$345.22\pm44.86^a$
TDN	Total digestible nutrients (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$636.11 \pm 29.21^{a}$	$629.72 \pm 18.28^{ab}$	$639.17 \pm 26.01^{a}$	$617.22 \pm 18.30^{\circ}$	$621.11 \pm 19.97^{bc}$
Energy	Net energy for lactation (Mcal kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$1.38 \pm 0.12$	$1.42 \pm 0.11$	$1.41 \pm 0.11$	$1.38\pm0.08$	$1.41 \pm 0.08$
	Net energy for maintenance (Mcal kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$1.39\pm0.12^a$	$1.37\pm0.08^a$	$1.40\pm0.11^{a}$	$1.32\pm0.07^{b}$	$1.33\pm0.07^{\text{b}}$
	Net energy for gain (Mcal kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$0.81\pm0.11^{a}$	$0.79\pm0.07^{a}$	$0.82\pm0.09^{a}$	$0.75\pm0.07^{b}$	$0.75\pm0.07^{b}$

Table 3.3 Effect of silage corn genotypes on forage production and forage quality grown under cool climate in western Newfoundland, Canada.

Values are means of three replications  $\pm$  standard error. Mean values sharing different superscript in each row show significant differences among silage corn genotypes at alpha 0.05.

Fo	brage production and forage quality	Control	DM1	DM2	IP
Forage	Forage production (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )	$12.73 \pm 2.51^{b}$	$16.11 \pm 3.29^{a}$	$14.83\pm3.03^{ab}$	$14.51\pm3.18^{ab}$
	Phosphorus (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$2.60 \pm 0.36$	$2.58\pm0.35$	$2.68\pm0.35$	$2.70\pm0.32$
Minerals	Calcium (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$1.42 \pm 0.62$	$1.43\pm0.98$	$1.35\pm0.39$	$1.42 \pm 0.51$
	Potassium (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$13.41 \pm 2.72$	$13.00 \pm 2.06$	$12.75 \pm 1.97$	$13.36 \pm 1.96$
	Magnesium (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$1.47\pm0.43$	$1.37\pm0.52$	$1.41 \pm 0.47$	$1.39\pm0.43$
Proteins	Crude protein (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$104.61 \pm 12.97^{a}$	$99.92 \pm 13.03^{b}$	$102.07 \pm 11.74^{ab}$	$105.57 \pm 9.60^{a}$
	Available protein (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$97.83 \pm 13.19^{a}$	$92.27 \pm 12.94^{b}$	$93.62 \pm 11.43^{ab}$	$96.84 \pm 9.41^{a}$
Sugar	Simple sugars (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$5.98 \pm 1.21^{ab}$	$5.78 \pm 1.19^{ab}$	$5.59 \pm 0.91^{b}$	$6.10 \pm 1.26^{a}$
Fiber 1	Acid detergent fiber (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$303.31 \pm 21.86$	$296.91 \pm 34.48$	$295.89\pm38.10$	$298.47 \pm 25.28$
	Neutral detergent fiber (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$535.51 \pm 45.84$	$526.73 \pm 49.74$	$528.36 \pm 53.88$	$528.58 \pm 35.34$
NFC	Non fibrous carbohydrate (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$291.67 \pm 50.96^{b}$	$309.62 \pm 51.71^{a}$	$300.29 \pm 53.82^{ab}$	$300.89 \pm 36.95^{ab}$
TDN	Total digestible nutrients (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$628.22 \pm 25.78$	$629.11 \pm 23.72$	$630.67 \pm 23.49$	$626.67 \pm 23.84$
Energy	Net energy for lactation (Mcal kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$1.39 \pm 0.11$	$1.41 \pm 0.10$	$1.41 \pm 0.11$	$1.39\pm0.08$
	Net energy for maintenance (Mcal kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$1.36 \pm 0.10$	$1.37\pm0.09$	$1.37\pm0.10$	$1.35\pm0.09$
	Net energy for gain (Mcal kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$0.78\pm0.09$	$0.79\pm0.08$	$0.79 \pm 0.09$	$0.79\pm0.08$

Table 3.4 Effect of phosphorus sources on forage production and forage quality in silage corn grown under cool climate in western Newfoundland, Canada

Values are means of three replications  $\pm$  standard error. Mean values sharing different superscript in each row show significant differences among phosphorus sources at alpha 0.05.

# 3.4.2 Dairy manure amendment altered non-fibrous carbohydrates and net energy for lactation in silage corn (Q2)

PCA showed clear segregation of two silage corn genotypes (Yukon-R and DKC26–28RIB) and two P sources (DM<sub>1</sub> and DM<sub>2</sub>) in quadrant–2 (Fig. 3.4.3). Biplot showed the relationship between non-fibrous carbohydrates (NFC), net energy for lactation (NEL) with Yukon–R, DKC26–28RIB, DM<sub>1</sub> and DM<sub>2</sub> (Fig. 3.4.1b). ANOVA showed that both genotypes (Yukon-R and DKC26-28RIB) expressed significant differences for NFC (Fig. 3.4.3a) and non-significant effects on NEL (Fig. 3.4.3c). NFC contents were significantly higher (348.22 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) in DKC26–28RIB than Yukon–R (Fig. 3.4.3a). Keeping in view the grouping of manure sources and  $(DM_1 \text{ and } DM_2)$ , and both genotypes (DKC26–28RIB and Yukon–R) in the same quadrant (Q2), ANOVA was performed to determine the interactive effects of DM1, DM2 sources and control treatment with the two high biomass producing genotypes (Yukon–R as G2 and DKC26–28RIB as G5) on NFC and NEL parameters. The results showed non-significant effects of P sources and genotypes on NFC (p = 0.16 and p = 0.47; Fig. 3.4.3b) and NEL (p = 0.84 and p =0.25; Figure 3.4.3d), although NFC contents were higher in G5  $\times$  DM2, compared to control and the other treatment combinations (Figure 3.4.3bd).

## 3.4.3 Forage production and ADF contents in silage corn genotypes (Q3)

Fusion–RR, DKC23–17RIB genotypes, forage production (FP) and acid detergent fiber (ADF) has been clustered the same quadrant–3 according to PCA (Figure 3.4.1ab). Keeping in view the relationship of DKC23–17RIB and Fusion–RR with ADF and FP in
the same quadrant, ANOVA was performed which showed that silage corn genotypes had significant (p < 0.01) effects on forage production and ADF contents (Fig. 3.4.4ab). It is evident that forage production was significantly (p < 0.01) higher in Yukon–R (16.43 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) and DKC26–28RIB (15.47 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>), whereas the lowest was observed in A4177G3– RIB (12.76 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>). It also appeared that Fusion–RR (14.29 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) and DKC23–17RIB (13.21 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) produced forage in the intermediate range and therefore, were grouped in quadrant–3 (Figure 3.4.1a). Fusion–RR produced significantly (p < 0.01) higher ADF contents (315.78 g kg<sup>-1</sup>), compared to lowest produced by DKC26-28RIB. However, Fusion–RR was statistically at par with Yukon–R (305.39 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) and produced statistically similar ADF contents (Fig. 3.4.4b).

# 3.4.4 Effect of P sources on protein, minerals, fiber, and sugar contents in silage corn (Q4)

Protein (crude and available), minerals (Ca and K), simple sugars (SS), neutral detergent fiber (NDF) and IP source and control were clustered in Q4 (Fig. 3.4.1a &b). One–way ANOVA results revealed that IP and control treatments had non-significantly affected crude protein (p = 0.69), available protein (p = 0.68), K (p = 0.93), Ca (p = 0.97), NDF (p = 0.42), SS (p = 0.63) (Fig. 3.4.5a-f), and therefore, probably grouped in the same quadrant (Q–4).

# **3.5.1.** Mineral composition, net energy for maintenance and net energy for gain in silage corn genotypes (Q1)

Minerals play an important role in the maintenance, milk production, and energy provision processes in animals (Holtenius et al. 2008; Kronqvist 2011; Minson 1990; Spears 1994; Swift et al. 2007). Mg and P minerals are found in abundant in lactating cows (Kronguvist 2011; Plaizier et al. 2004), and are important part of bodily proteins, lipids and skeleton formation (McDowell 2003; Ravaglioli et al. 1996). Animals obtain most of the Mg and P from forages (Spears 1994; Suttle 2010). For example, Roth and Heinrichs (2001) observed 0.18% Mg and 0.23% P in silage corn forage; however, in the present study, we observed 0.13% - 0.17% Mg and 0.25% - 0.28% P in silage corn genotypes (Fig. 3.4.2). Our results also demonstrated higher Mg and P than reported by earlier researchers (Amodu et al. 2014; Roth and Heinrichs 2001; Suttle 2010). Littledike and Goff (1987) concluded that higher K concentrations in forage could result in lower Mg, whereas higher intakes of Ca and P in feed could result in suppressed Mg absorption in animals. However, we have observed Mg and P values in high quality forage range (Jacobson et al. 1972; Suttle 2010). Net energy for maintenance (NEM) and net energy for gain (NEG) represent the quality of forage species (Tine et al. 2001), and are calculated based on National Research Council (NRC) equations (2001) using summative approach of different quality parameters (Conrad et al. 1984; Schwab et al. 2003). Forage NEM keep the animals at a stable weight, whereas, NEG represents the energy for body weight gain required for

maintenance (Schwab et al. 2003). NEM (1.32 - 1.40 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup>) and NEG (0.75 - 0.82Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup>) observed in silage corn genotypes used in the present study were slightly lower than what observed by Ballard et al., (2001), who reported 1.46 - 1.68 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> NEM and 0.88 - 1.06 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> NEG of dry matter. This slight decrease in NEM and NEG might be due to crop harvesting stage where forage energy can be reduced due to increased forage fiber contents and slightly lower total digestible nutrients (TDN) (Di Marco et al. 2002; Peña-Ramos et al. 2002). Corn silage dry matter digestibility is an indication of energy contents or TDN, higher range of digestibility depends on hybrid, planting date, environmental growing conditions, and maturity at harvest (Guyader et al., 2018). Olagure-Ramirez et al., (2006) observed that good quality forage must contain TDN equal or greater than 65%; however, we observed slightly lower TDN (62% - 64%) among five genotypes (Table 3.3). This variation in TDN values could be due to crop harvest stage as reported by Kim et al., (2001), who observed higher TDN values in corn hybrids when harvested at 106-111 days after sowing (DAS) compared to 119-125 DAS due to increased forage fiber contents, whereas, in the present study, we harvested crop 130 DAS over three growing seasons. Manitoba Corn Committee conducted a varietal trials in 2017 and found that Yukon R and Fusion RR contains 68 and 66.1%. In present study, we found slightly lower values in Yukon and Fusion RR.

## **3.5.2.** Dairy manure amendment altered non-fibrous carbohydrates and net energy for lactation in silage corn (Q2)

Non-fibrous carbohydrates (NFC), also referred as non-structural carbohydrates. NFC contents are more digestible than fiber, and a significant source of instant source of energy for rumen microbes (DePeters et al. 2000; Schwab et al. 2003). For example, during NFC fermentation process, volatile fatty acids are produced which are assimilated by the rumens and utilized as a source of energy for maintenance, synthesis of milk and body tissues (Harris 1993). NFC are calculated based on forage proteins, NDF, fats and minerals following equation suggested by NRC (2001). Observed NFC contents in our experiment were 34.5% in DKC26-28RIB and 30.6% in Yukon-R which were significantly higher (Fig. 3.4.3a & Table 3.3) than reported in the literature (Moreno-Reséndez et al. 2017). Higher NFC contents in our experiment explained the superior forage quality of silage corn genotypes cultivated in cool climate conditions. Moreno-Reséndez et al., (2017) reported higher NFC contents (31%) with inorganic fertilizer source compared to lower (21%) with organic source in forage maize. However, in our study DM application enhanced NFC content and were significantly higher with DM<sub>1</sub> application compared to control (Table 3.4). Slightly higher NFC contents in DKC26-28RIB  $\times$  DM<sub>2</sub> interaction could be due to consistent P supply compared to control treatment, although interaction of Yukon-R, DKC26-28RIB with  $DM_1$ ,  $DM_2$  and control treatments were non-significant (Fig. 3.4.3b).

NEL is an important forage quality parameter estimated using TDN, CP, NDF and other forage quality parameters (Weiss et al. 1992). NEL is used for maintenance as well as milk production during lactation period (Schwab et al. 2003) and varied between 1.3 – 1.5 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> of dry matter in silage corn (de la Cruz-Lázaro et al. 2007; Núñez-Hernández et al. 2004; Peña-Ramos et al. 2002). In present experiment, NEL in Yukon–R and DKC26–28RIB genotypes were 1.42 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> and 1.41 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> (Figure 3.4.3c). Moreno-Reséndez et al. (2017) observed, that inorganic nutrient sources resulted in significantly higher NEL (1.05 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> of dry matter) than organic nutrient sources (0.98 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> of dry matter). However, we observed non-significant interactive effects of two high forage yielding genotypes with DM and control on NEL (Fig. 3.4.3d).

#### 3.5.3. Forage production and ADF contents in silage corn genotypes (Q3)

Yukon-R and DKC26-28RIB showed superior agronomic performance and produced 29% and 21% higher forage yield compared to the lowest produced by A4177G3–RIB (Figure 3.4.4a). Interestingly, Yukon–R and DKC26–28RIB required same CHU (2150) to reach the physiological maturity that might have stimulated better growth, development and final forage production compared to other genotypes with different CHU requirements (2075 vs. 2200). Kwabiah (2005) observed significant differences in biomass production (9-13 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) among three silage corn genotypes while conducting field studies in similar soil and environment conditions whereas, forage yield in present three years' field experiment varied from 12.76 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> to16.43 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> which was significantly higher than reported above. Variation in forage production apparently under similar

weather and soil conditions could be due to better resilience, adaptation and genetic makeup of silage corn genotypes used in the present experiment.

P sources had significant effects on forage production of silage corn (Table 3.4). For example, DM<sub>1</sub> treatment produced significantly higher forage production compared to control, however, DM<sub>1</sub> treatment was statistically at par with IP and therefore, gave similar forage yield despite lower nutrient supply in the readily available form resulting from slow release from DM, may be due to the soil amelioration effects of DM on physicochemical and biological properties of soil associated with better nutrient uptake efficiencies and optimum plant growth as suggested by Adeli et al., (2007), Hirzel et al., (2007b) and Nazli et al., (2016). Furthermore, DM/organic materials also stimulate root growth directly or indirectly or through their effect on soil bacteria that can suppress root pathogens and produce plant growth hormones (Marschner, 1995; Palm et al., 1997).

ADF is comprised of cellulose and lignin (Moreno-Reséndez et al. 2017) and is indicator of good forage quality. Increased ADF result in low forage digestibility, energy contents and intake potential (Castillo-Jiménez et al. 2009; Gallegos-Ponce et al. 2012; Oramas-Wenholz and Vivas-Quila 2007; Pinkerton and Cross, 1992). Forage is considered of optimum quality if ADF contents are lower than 30% (Gallegos-Ponce et al. 2012). Significant variations in ADF (24.70% - 30.80%) were observed in two silage corn hybrids when harvested 119 DAS (Amodu et al. 2014), and 23.20% - 26.00% were observed when harvested 131 DAS (Ballard et al. 2001). The observed ADF contents in the present study varied between 28.06% - 31.58%, and were higher in Fusion-RR and lower in DKC26-28RIB (Fig. 3.4.4b & Table 3.3), and can be considered as superior quality forage (Gallegos-Ponce et al., 2012). In a varietal research trial conducted by Manitoba Corn Committee during 2017 and evaluated the quality of various hybrids, and found that Yukon R and Fusion RR contains 27 and 30.5% ADF contents (Manitoba Corn Committe, 2017). Significant differences in ADF contents were observed when amended with organic or inorganic nutrient sources (Moreno-Reséndez et al. 2017; Nazli et al. 2016). The N-based organic material application gave the highest ADF contents, whereas, P based organic treatments gave similar ADF contents to inorganic treatment. This could be attributed to differences in N contents among these treatments because they strongly influence fiber content as well (Keeney et al., 1968; Cherney and Cox, 1992; Johnson et al., 2001). In the present study, we have also observed non-significant effects of DM and IP sources on ADF contents (Table 3.4). Consistent with our findings, non-significant effects of P based cattle manure, poultry litter and inorganic fertilizer on ADF were observed (Nazli et al., 2016).

### 3.5.4. Effects of P sources on protein, minerals, fiber, and sugar contents in silage corn (Q4)

Proteins are organic compounds and are important animal feed component. RNA (ribonucleic acid) play very vital role in protein synthesis, for example, messenger RNA (mRNA), ribosomal RNA (rRNA), and trafner RNA (tRNA) are involved in protein synthesis in the cytosol, chloroplasts and mitochondria (Raven, 2013). Phosphorus is a component of the complex nucleic acid structure of plants, which regulates protein synthesis. Phosphorus is, therefore, important in cell division and development of new tissues (Raven, 2013).

To qualify a good forage, crude protein (CP) must be higher than 7% to guarantee adequate supply of nitrogen (N) for effective rumen microbial fermentation (Costa et al. 2006; Garibay et al. 1997; Oramas-Wenholz and Vivas-Quila 2007). Previous researchers found significant variations in protein contents in silage corn, for instance, 7.10% - 7.50% (Baron et al., 2006), 5.20% - 6.50% (Amodu et al., 2014), 6.60% - 6.80% (Ballard et al., 2001) and 6.60% - 7.25% (Millner et al., 2005). However, observed CP contents in the present study were 9.77% - 11.15% in silage corn genotypes (Table 3.3), and were 36% higher than reported in the literature (Ballard et al. 2001; Baron et al. 2006; Darby and Lauer 2002; Garibay et al. 1997; Moreno-Reséndez et al. 2017). A strong negative correlation between forage production and available protein (AP) (r = -0.87), and CP (r = -0.85) was noted in the present study (Figure 3.4.6ab), which suggest some possible N dilution effects in high yielding silage corn genotypes (Bélanger and Gastal 2000; Fletcher and Chakwizira 2012).

Few studies reported inorganic P fertilizers enhanced forage protein in silage corn compared to organic source or dairy digestate (Faisal et al., 2013; Seleiman et al., 2017). This could be explained by lower nutrient supply in the readily available form to plants resulting from slow release of mineral nutrients from DM. In present study, inorganic P fertilizer source produced higher CP contents than DM<sub>1</sub> but statistically at par with DM<sub>2</sub> and control (Table 3.4). Interestingly, we have observed non-significant effects of IP and control treatment on CP and available protein (AP) that could be explained due to high initial P status in control, therefore, IP and control produced statistically similar protein contents.

The performance of dairy animals is dependent on adequate supply of forage minerals which may vary due to soil fertility, fertilization strategies and crop maturity (Holtenius et al. 2008; Swift et al. 2007). Calcium (Ca) is an integral part of animal body and play essential role in bones formation, normal muscle contractions and nerves functioning (Goff, 2008; Kronqvist, 2011). Calcium react with P and forms Cahydroxyapatite, which are an important part of skeleton in animals body (Krongvist, 2011). K is principal intercellular cation of body tissues and plays key role in many biological processes (Bannink et al., 1999). Corn forage is generally low in Ca (1.4 g kg<sup>-1</sup> – 3.0 g kg<sup>-1</sup> <sup>1</sup>), whereas, K ranged up to 1.23% on dry weight basis (Suttle, 2010). Minimum Ca and K requirements for lactating cows vary from 0.29% to 0.51% and 0.60% to 0.80% respectively, on a dry weight basis (Suttle, 2010). In present three years study, we found that Ca range between 1.18 - 1.55 g kg<sup>-1</sup> in silage corn genotypes (Fig. 3.4.5d). In a greenhouse study, it was reported that among P sources (mono-ammonium phosphate (MAP), compost and dairy manure), Ca uptake in silage corn increased with inorganic P source (mono-ammonium phosphate-MAP) application, while the manure and compost treatments showed non-significant difference. Reduction of Ca uptake in silage corn under manure and compost treatment could be related to cation competition with K (Leytem et al., 2011). In the present studies, DM and inorganic P sources had non-significant effects on forage Ca in silage corn (Table 3.4), even IP treatment and control produced similar Ca in silage corn (Figure 3.4.5d), might be due to accumulation of P over the time which raised initial soil P status in control.

NDF comprised of hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin representing the fibrous bulk of the forages, and these three components provide rigidity to plants cells. NDF in forage crops are negatively correlated with intake and digestibility (Oramas-Wenholz and Quila, 2007), so silage corn hybrids less than 50% NDF are needed (Gallegos-Ponce et al., 2012). Fiber concentration of corn silage typically decreased with maturity stage due to dilution effects of increasing starch concentration (Hunt et al., 1992; Russell, 1986). NDF and starch contents usually showed negative relationship with each other. Late planting date may increase NDF digestibility, as plants are less mature at harvest. Late sowing in short season areas limits corn heating unit (CHU) accumulation, and hence limits dry matter yield, starch content and dry matter digestibility (Darby and Lauer, 2002). Few researchers reported that N-based organic material applications gave the highest NDF contents, whereas, P based poultry and cattle manure treatments gave similar NDF contents to IP. This could be attributed to differences in nitrogen content among these treatments because that strongly influences fiber content as well (Keeney et al., 1968; Cherney and Cox, 1992; Johnson et al., 2001). In the present study, non-significant effects of DM and IP sources, and IP and control on NDF contents were reported (Fig. 3.4.5e) which are inconsistent with the studies reported above. Same NDF contents in IP vs. control treatment could be explained due to higher initial soil P status in analysis report and therefore, response to NDF contents was non-significant.

#### 3.6. Conclusion

Sustainable agricultural production practices such as use of organic fertilizer source includes DM to produce high forage biomass with optimum nutritional quality is important under depleting inorganic P resources worldwide. High production and high forage quality is of prime importance for high gain and ample milk production in the dairy industry. Silage corn is one of the most important forage crop grown for higher forage production potentials, high energy content, palatability and digestibility compared to other forage species. We used DM and IP fertilizer to determine the production potential and forage quality of five silage corn genotypes in cool climate production systems. Silage corn genotypes were grouped in three quadrants (Q1, Q2, and Q3) and P sources in two quadrants (Q2 and Q4) (Fig. 1a). Yukon-R and DKC26-28RIB showed superior agronomic performance and produced significantly higher forage production of 16.43 and 15.47 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> respectively. Additionally, P, K, simple sugars, and NFC were high and ADF and NDF contents were low in Yukon-R and DKC26-28RIB compared to the other genotypes, and are indicators of high forage quality. A4177G3-RIB genotype produced minimum (12.76 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) forage and was statistically similar with DKC23–17RIB. However, this genotype produced forage with superior nutritional quality. For instance, P, K, Mg, CP, AP, TDN, NEM and NEG was significantly higher in A4177G3-RIB compared to the rest of genotypes. Yukon-R also produced high forage quality and was closest to that produced by A4177G3–RIB genotype. Dairy manure with high P concentration (DM1) significantly enhanced agronomic performance and produced higher forage biomass compared to control. Forage quality characteristics, for example, protein and sugar contents were higher

in IP treatment compared to the control and DM2 treatment; but at par or very close to DM1 treatment which suggest that dairy manure application could be a sustainable agricultural practices or P nutrient source. Taking all together, it can be concluded that Yukon–R and DM1 can be a good option to attain high forage production and forage quality to meet the forage needs of growing dairy industry in northern climates.

#### **3.7. References**

- Adeli A, Sistani KR, Rowe DE, Tewolde H (2007) Effects of broiler litter applied to notill and tillage cotton on selected soil properties. Soil Science Society of America Journal 71: 974-983.
- Adeli A, Varco JJ, Sistani KR, Rowe DE (2005) Effects of swine lagoon effluent relative to commercial fertilizer applications on warm-season forage nutritive value. Agronomy Journal 97: 408-417.
- Agriculture NL (2002) A factsheet series on environmental guidelines for livestock producers. Publication SLM 045.
- Amin ME-MH (2011) Effect of different nitrogen sources on growth, yield and quality of fodder maize (Zea mays L.). Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences 10: 17-23.
- Amodu JT, Akpensuen TT, Dung DD, Tanko RJ, Musa A, Abubakar SA, Hassan MR, Jegede JO, Sani I (2014) Evaluation of maize accessions for nutrients composition, forage and silage yields. Journal of Agricultural Science 6: 178-187.
- ASAE (2005) Manure production and characteristics. In: American Society of Agricultral Engineers (eds.). ASABE, St. Joseph, MI.

- Assuero SG, Mollier A, Pellerin S (2004) The decrease in growth of phosphorus-deficient maize leaves is related to a lower cell production. Plant Cell and Environment 27: 887-895.
- Ayub M, Tanveer A, Mahmud K, Abbas A, Azam M (1999) Effect of nitrogen and phosphorus on the fodder yield and quality of two sorghum cultivars (Sorghum bicolor L.). International journal of Agricultural Biology 5: 61-63. doi: 10.3923/pjbs.1999.247.250.
- Bal MA, Coors JG, Shaver RD (1997) Impact of the maturity of corn for use as silage in the diets of dairy cows on intake, digestion, and milk production. J Dairy Sci 80: 2497-2503.
- Balemi T, Schenk MK (2009a) Genotypic difference of potato in carbon budgeting as a mechanism of phosphorus utilization efficiency. Plant and Soil 322: 91-99.
- Balemi T, Schenk MK (2009b) Genotypic variation of potato for phosphorus efficiency and quantification of phosphorus uptake with respect to root characteristics. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 172: 669-677.
- Ballard CS, Thomas ED, Tsang DS, Mandebvu P, Sniffen CJ, Endres MI, Carter MP (2001) Effect of corn silage hybrid on dry matter yield, nutrient composition, in vitro digestion, intake by dairy heifers, and milk production by dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science 84: 442-452.

- Bannink A, Valk H, Van Vuuren AM (1999) Intake and excretion of sodium, potassium, and nitrogen and the effects on urine production by lactating dairy cows. Journal of dairy science 82: 1008-1018.
- Baron VS, Najda HG, Stevenson FC (2006) Influence of population density, row spacing and hybrid on forage corn yield and nutritive value in a cool-season environment. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 86: 1131-1138.
- Barry DAJ, Miller MH (1989) Phosphorus nutritional-requirement of maize seedlings for maximum yield. Agronomy Journal 81: 95-99.
- Bélanger G, Gastal F (2000) Nitrogen utilization by forage grasses. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 80: 11-20.
- Castillo-Jiménez M, Rojas-Bourrillón A, WingChing-Jones R (2009) Nutritional value of silage made with a mixture of corn and mung bean (Vigna radiata). Agronomía Costarricense 33: 133-146.
- Cherney DJR, Cox WJ (1992) corn forage fiber composition and in vitro digestibility as influenced by nitrogen fertilization. Proceedings of the American Forage and Grass Council.
- Cherney JH, Cherney DJR (2015) Impact of fertilization on forage production and animal performance. Colloque sur les plantes fourrageres: 1-7.

- Conrad HR, Weiss WP, Odwongo WO, Shockey WL (1984) Estimating net energy lactation from components of cell solubles and cell walls Journal of Dairy Science 67: 427-436.
- Cordell D, Drangert J-O, White S (2009) The story of phosphorus: Global food security and food for thought. Global Environmental Change 19: 292-305.
- Corrales I, Amenós M, Poschenrieder C, Barceló J (2007) Phosphorus efficiency and root exudates in two contrasting tropical maize varieties. Journal of Plant Nutrition 30: 887-900.
- Costa KAdP, Oliveira IPd, Faquin V, Machado EL, Ramos JC, Lima F, A. K. de. (2006) Efeitos quantitativo e qualitativo donitrogênio e do potássio no desenvolvimento da Brachiaria brizantha cv. MG-5. Revista Eletrônica da Faculdade de Montes Belos 1: 57-70.
- Darby HM, Lauer JG (2002) Harvest date and hybrid influence on corn forage yield, quality, and preservation. Agronomy Journal 94: 559-566.
- de la Cruz-Lázaro E, Rodríguez-Herrera SA, Palomo-Gil A, López Benítez A, Robledo-Torres V, Gómez-Vázquez A, Osorio-Osorio R (2007) Combining ability of protein high quality maíz inbred lines for forage characteristics. Ecosistemas y Recursos Agropecuarios 23: 57-67.
- Dennis RJ, Hemken RW, Jacobson DR (1976) Effect of dietary potassium percent for lactating dairy cows. Journal of dairy science 59: 324-328.

- DePeters EJ, Fadel JG, Arana MJ, Ohanesian N, Etchebarne MA, Hamilton CA, Hinders RG, Maloney MD, Old CA, Riordan TJ, Perez-Monti H, Pareas JW (2000) Variability in the chemical composition of seventeen selected by-product feedstuffs used by the California dairy industry. The Professional Animal Scientist 16: 69-99.
- Di Marco ON, Aello MS, Nomdedeu M, Van Houtte S (2002) Effect of maize crop maturity on silage chemical composition and digestibility (in vivo, in situ and in vitro). Animal Feed Science and Technology 99: 37-43.
- Eghball B, Ginting D, Gilley JE (2004) Residual effects of manure and compost applications on corn production and soil properties. Agronomy Journal 96: 442-447.
- Eghball B, Power JF (1999) Phosphorus- and nitrogen-based manure and compost applications corn production and soil phosphorus joint contribution of USDA-ARS and Univ. of Nebr. Agric. Res. Div., Lincoln, NE, as paper no. 12133. Soil Science Society of America Journal 63: 895-901.
- Eghball B, Wienhold BJ, Gilley JE, Eigenberg RA (2002) Mineralization of manure nutrients. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 57: 470-473.
- Erdman RA, Hemken RW, Bull LS (1980) Effect of dietary calcium and sodium on potassium requirement for lactating dairy cows<sup>1</sup>. Journal of dairy science 63: 538-544.

- Ericsson K, Nilsson LJ (2006) Assessment of the potential biomass supply in Europe using a resource-focused approach. Biomass and Bioenergy 30: 1-15.
- Fageria NK, Carvalho MCS, dos Santos FC (2014) Root growth of upland rice genotypes as influenced by nitrogen fertilization Journal of Plant Nutrition 37: 95-106. doi: 10.1080/01904167.2013.849731.
- Faisal S, Shah SNM, Majid A, Khan A (2013) Effect of organic and inorganic fertilizers on protein, yield and related traits of maize varieties. International Journal of Agriculture and Crop Sciences 6: 1299-1303.

FAO (2009) How to feed the world in 2050.

Fedoroff NV (2015) Food in a future of 10 billion. Agriculture & Food Security 4: 11.

- Fisher LJ, Dinn N, Tait RM, Shelford JA (1994) Effect of level of dietary potassium on the absorption and excretion of calcium and magnesium by lactating cows. Canadian Journal of Animal Science 74: 503-509.
- Fitzgerald JJ, Murphy JJ (1999) A comparison of low starch maize silage and grass silage and the effect of concentrate supplementation of the forages or inclusion of maize grain with the maize silage on milk production by dairy cows. Livestock Production Science 57: 95-111.
- Fletcher AL, Chakwizira E (2012) Developing a critical nitrogen dilution curve for forage brassicas. Grass and Forage Science 67: 13-23.

- Gallegos-Ponce A, Martínez-Ríos A, Fernando-Sánchez M, Figueroa-Viramontes R, Berumen-Padilla S, Venegas-Soto J, Quevedo-Guillen JdD, Escobedo-López D, Silos-Calzada MC (2012) Nutritional quality of forage maize (Zea mays L.) under limited water logging conditions. Agrofaz 12: 59-66.
- Gallo A, Moschini M, Cerioli C, Masoero F (2013) Use of principal component analysis to classify forages and predict their calculated energy content. Animal : an international journal of animal bioscience 7: 930-939.
- Garibay SV, Stamp P, Ammon HU, Feil B (1997) Yield and quality components of silage maize in killed and live cover crops sods. European Journal of Agronomy 6: 179-190.
- Glass ADM, Beaton JD, Bomke A (1980) Role of P in plant nutrition. Proceedings of the Western Canada Phosphate Symposium.
- Goff JP (2008) The monitoring, prevention, and treatment of milk fever and subclinical hypocalcemia in dairy cows. The Veterinary Journal 176: 50-57.
- Guyader, J., Baron, V., Beauchemin, K., 2018. Corn forage yield and quality for silage in short growing season areas of the Canadian Prairies. Agronomy 8, 164.
- Harris BJ (1993) Nonstructrual and structural carbohydrates in dairy cattle rations. CIR1122 University of Florida IFAS Extension: 1-5.

- Hart JM, Marx ES, Christensen NW, Moore JA (1997) Nutrient management strategies. Journal of Dairy Science 80: 2659-2666.
- Hassan-Amin MEM (2013) Effect of organic fertilizer and urea on growth, yield and quality of fodder maize (Zea mays L.). International Journal of Current Research 8: 35-41.
- Hazary MEH, Bilkis T, Khandaker ZH, Akbar MA, Khaleduzzaman ABM (2015) Effect of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizer on yield and nutritional quality of jumbo grass (Sorghum grass × Sudan grass). Advances in Animal and Veterinary Sciences 3: 444-450.
- Hinsinger P (2001) Bioavailability of soil inorganic P in the rhizosphere as affected by root-induced chemical changes: A review. Plant and Soil 237: 173-195.
- Hirzel J, Matus I, Novoa F, Walter I, Walter I (2007a) Effect of poultry litter on silage maize (Zea mays L.) production and nutrient uptake. 2007 5: 8.
- Hirzel J, Walter I, Undurraga P, Cartagena M (2007b) Residual effects of poultry litter on silage maize (Zea mays L.) growth and soil properties derived from volcanic ash.Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 53: 480-488.
- Holford ICR (1997) Soil phosphorus: its measurement, and its uptake by plants. Soil Research 35: 227-240.

- Holtenius K, Kronqvist C, Briland E, Sporndly R (2008) Magnesium absorption by lactating dairy cows on a grass silage-based diet supplied with different potassium and magnesium levels. J Dairy Sci 91: 743-748.
- Hunt, C.W., Kezar, W., Vinande, R., 1992. Yield, chemical composition, and ruminal fermentability of corn whole plant, ear, and stover as affected by hybrid. Journal of Production Agriculture 5, 286–NP.
- Ittersum V (2011) Food security in 2050 on a global scale achievable but greatly challenging. Wageningen University.
- Jacobson DR, Hemken RW, Button FS, Hatton RH (1972) Mineral nutrition, calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, and potassium interrelationships. Journal of Dairy Science 55: 935-944.
- Jarvis SC (1993) Nitrogen cycling and losses from dairy farms. Soil Use and Management 9: 99-104.
- Johnson CR, Reiling BA, Mislevy P, Hall MB (2001) Effects of nitrogen fertilization and harvest date on yield, digestibility, fiber, and protein fractions of tropical grasses. Journal of animal science 79: 2439-2448.
- Karsten HD, Roth GW, Muller LD (2003) Evaluation of corn hybrids at two stages of development for grazing heifers. Agronomy Journal 95: 870-877.

- Ketterings QM, Frenay E, Cherney JH, Czymmek K, Klausner SD, Chase LE, Schukken Y (2007) Application of manure to established stands of alfalfa and alfalfa grass. Forage and Grazinglands doi:101094/FG-2007-0418-01-RV.
- Khan NA, Cone JW, Fievez V, Hendriks WH (2012) Causes of variation in fatty acid content and composition in grass and maize silages. Animal Feed Science and Technology 174: 36-45.
- Khan NA, Yu P, Ali M, Cone JW, Hendriks WH (2015) Nutritive value of maize silage in relation to dairy cow performance and milk quality. J Sci Food Agric 95: 238-252.
- Ki KS, Park SB, Lim DH, Seo S (2017) Evaluation of the nutritional value of locally produced forage in Korea using chemical analysis and in vitro ruminal fermentation. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences 30: 355-362.
- Kim JD, Kwon CH, Kim DA (2001) Yield and quality of silage corn as affected by hybrid maturity, planting date and harvest stage. Asian-Australas J Anim Sci 14: 1705-1711.
- Kirby GE (1988) Soils of the Pasadena-Deer Lake area, Newfoundland. St. John's. Retrieved from http://sisagrgcca/cansis/publications/surveys/nf/nf17/nf17reportpdf.
- Kirkland RM, Steen RWJ, Gordon FJ, Keady TWJ (2005) The influence of grass and maize silage quality on apparent diet digestibility, metabolizable energy concentration and intake of finishing beef cattle. Grass and Forage Science 60: 244-253.

- Kronquvist C (2011) Minerals to dairy cows with focus on calcium and magnesium balance. Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2011:78: 66.
- Kronqvist C (2011) Minerals to dairy cows with focus on calcium and magnesium balance.Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science, Department of Animal Nutrition and Management Uppsala. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- Kulhánek M, Balík J, Černý J, Nedvěd V, Kotková B (2007) The influence of different intensities of phosphorus fertilizing on available phosphorus contents in soils and uptake by plants. Plant Soil Environment 53: 382-387.
- Kurt M, Torsten M (2012) Effects of anaerobic digestion on digestate nutrient availability and crop growth: A review. Engineering in Life Sciences 12: 242-257.
- Kwabiah AB (2005) Growth, maturity, and yield responses of silage maize (Zea mays L.) to hybrid, planting date and plastic mulch. Journal of New Seeds 7: 37-59.
- Kwabiah AB, MacPherson M, McKenzie DB (2003) Corn heat unit variability and potential of corn (Zea mays L.) production in a cool climate ecosystem. Canadian Journal of Plant Sciences 83: 689-698.
- Lentz RD, Ippolito JA (2012) Biochar and manure affect calcareous soil and corn silage nutrient concentrations and uptake. Journal of Environmental Quality 41: 1033-1043.

- Leytem AB, Dungan RS, Kleinman PJA (2014) Sustainable manure management. In: E Kebreab (ed) Sustainable Animal Agriculture. CABI Publishers, Boston MA.
- Littledike ET, Goff J (1987) Interactions of calcium, phosphorus, magnesium and vitamin D that influence their status in domestic meat animals. Journal of animal science 65: 1727-1743.
- Lynch JP (2011) Root phenes for enhanced soil exploration and phosphorus acquisition: Tools for future crops. Plant Physiology 156: 1041-1049.
- Malhi SS, Mcbeath DK, Arshad MA, Gill KS (1992) Effects of phosphorus fertilization on alfalfa hay yield. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 23: 717-724.
- Martin NP, Russelle MP, Powell JM, Sniffen CJ, Smith SI, Tricarico JM, Grant RJ (2017) Invited review: Sustainable forage and grain crop production for the US dairy industry. J Dairy Sci 100: 9479-9494.
- Mazza LM, Motta ACV, Moraes A, Vezzani FM, Adami PF, Rabel DO (2012) Forage yield and quality on soil subjected to phosphorus rates in subtropical grassland of Brazil. Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia 41: 1100-1109.
- McDowell LR (2003) Chapter 5 Magnesium. In: LR McDowell (ed) Minerals in animal and human nutrition (Second Edition). Elsevier, Amsterdam.

- McNeill DM, Roche JR, Stockdale CR, McLachlan BP (2002) Nutritional strategies for the prevention of hypocalcaemia at calving for dairy cows in pasture-based systems. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 53: 755-770.
- Mehrvarz S, Chaichi MR (2008) Effect of phosphate solubilizing microorganisms and phosphorus chemical fertilizer on forage and grain quality of barely (Hordeum vulgare L.). American-Eurasian J Agric Environ Sci 3: 855-860.
- Millner JP, Vill Aver R, Hardacre AK (2005) The yield and nutritive value of maize hybrids grown for silage. New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research 48: 101-108.
- Min DH, Vough LR, Reeves JB (2002) Dairy slurry effects on forage quality of orchardgrass, reed canarygrass and alfalfa-grass mixtures. Animal Feed Science and Technology 95: 143-157.
- Minson DJ (1990) Forage in ruminant nutrition. Academic Press, Inc., San Diego, California.
- Moreno-Reséndez A, Cantú Brito JE, Reyes-Carrillo JL, Contreras-Villarreal V (2017) Forage maize nutritional quality according to organic and inorganic fertilization. Scientia Agropecuaria 8: 127-135.
- Mulet-del-Pozo Y, Díaz-Álvarez ME, Vilches-León EE (2008) Determination of some physique mechanical, chemical and biological properties of the worm humus

obtained under conditions of the dairy farm Guayabal, San José de las Lajas, La Habana, Cuba. Revista Ciencias Técnicas Agropecuarias 17: 27-30.

- National RC (2001) Nutrient requirements of dairy cattle. National Academy of Science, Washington, DC.
- Nazli RI, Inal I, Kusvuran A, Demirbas A, Tansi V (2016) Effects of different organic materials on forage yield and nutrient uptake of silage maize (Zea mays L.). Journal of Plant Nutrition 39: 912-921.
- Newton GL, Bernard JK, Hubbard RK, Allison JR, Lowrance RR, Gascho GJ, Gates RN, Vellidis G (2003a) Managing manure nutrients through multi-crop forage production. Journal of Dairy Science 86: 2243-2252.
- Newton GL, Bernard JK, Hubbard RK, Allison JR, Lowrance RR, Gascho GJ, Gates RN, Vellidis G (2003b) Managing manure nutrients through multi-crop forage production. Journal of dairy science 86: 2243-2252.
- Núñez-Hernández G, Contreras GF, Faz-Contreras R (2004) Yield, chemical composition and in vitro digestibility of tropical and temperate corn hybrids in the arid region of Mexico. Avances en Investigación Agropecuaria 8: 1-19.
- Núñez-Hernández G, Payán-García JA, Pena-Ramos A, González-Castañeda F, Ruiz-Barrera O, Arzola-Álvarez C (2010) Forage quality and agronomic characterization of annual forage species in North–Central Mexico. Revista Mexicana de Ciencias Pecuarias 1: 85-98.

- Olague-Ramirez J, Montemayor-Trejo JA, Bravo-Sánchez SR, Fortis-Hernández M, Aldaco-Nuncio RA, Ruiz-Cerda E (2006) Agronomic characteristic and forage quality corn with subsurface drip irrigation. Tecnica Pecuaria Mexico 44: 351-357.
- Oramas-Wenholz C, Vivas-Quila NJ (2007) Evaluation of two hybrids and one variety of corn (Zea mays) in intensive crop and association with pean (Phaseolus vulgaris), for silage. Revista de la Facultad de Ciencias Agropecuarias 5: 28-35.
- Ozturk L, Eker S, Torun B, Cakmak I (2005) Variation in phosphorus efficiency among 73 bread and durum wheat genotypes grown in a phosphorus-deficient calcareous soil. Plant and Soil 269: 69-80.
- Pain BF, Phillips VR, Clarkson CR, Klarenbeek JV (1989) Loss of nitrogen through ammonia volatilisation during and following the application of pig or cattle slurry to grassland. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 47: 1-12.
- Peña-Ramos A, Núñez-Hernández G, González-Castañeda F (2002) Forage potential of some maize populations and relationships between their agronomic characteristics and nutritional quality. Técnica Pecuaria México 40: 215-228.
- Phipps RH, Sutton JD, Beever DE, Jones AK (2016) The effect of crop maturity on the nutritional value of maize silage for lactating dairy cows. 3. Food intake and milk production. Animal Science 71: 401-409.
- Phipps RH, Sutton JD, Jones BA (2010) Forage mixtures for dairy cows: the effect on drymatter intake and milk production of incorporating either fermented or urea-treated

whole-crop wheat, brewers' grains, fodder beet or maize silage into diets based on grass silage. Animal Science 61: 491-496. doi: 10.1017/S1357729800014053.

- Plaizier JC, Garner T, Droppo T, Whiting T (2004) Nutritional practices on Manitoba dairy farms. Canadian Journal of Animal Science 84: 501-509.
- Plénet D, Colomb B, Mollier A (2000a) Aerial and root growth of corn crops subject to phosphorus deficiency. Behavior of Plants Subject to Environmental Stress.
- Plénet D, Etchebest S, Mollier A, Pellerin S (2000b) Growth analysis of maize field crops under phosphorus deficiency - I. Leaf growth. Plant and Soil 223: 117-130.
- Plénet D, Mollier A, Pellerin S (2000c) Growth analysis of maize field crops under phosphorus deficiency. II. Radiation-use efficiency, biomass accumulation and yield components. Plant and Soil 224: 259-272.
- Polat T, BBukkun B, Okant M (2007) Dose response effect of nitrogen and phosphorus on forage quality, yield and economic return of rangelands. Pakistan Journal of Botany 39: 807-816.
- Posada OS, Rosero NR, Rodríguez N, Costa CA (2012) Comparison of methods to determine the energy value of feeds for ruminants. Revista MVZ Córdoba 17: 3184-3192.
- Powell JM, Rotz CA, Vadas PA, Reed KF (2016) Substitutions of corn silage, alfalfa silage and corn grain in cow rations impact N use and N loss from dairy farms. Proc. 2016

Internatl. Nitrogen Initiative Conf. Solutions to Improve Nitrogen Use Efficiency for the World, Melbourne, Australia. Accessed Feb. 23, 2017.

- Raghothama KG (1999a) Phosphate acquisition. Annual review of plant physiology and plant molecular biology 50: 665-693.
- Raghothama KG (1999b) Phosphate acquistion. Annual review of plant physiology and plant molecular biology 50: 665-693.
- Rankin M (2014) Choosing between alfalfa and corn silage. University of Wisconsin, Extension.
- Ranum P, Pena-Rosas JP, Garcia-Casal MN (2014) Global maize production, utilization, and consumption. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1312: 105-112.
- Rausch C, Bucher M (2002) Molecular mechanisms of phosphate transport in plants. Planta 216: 23-37.
- Ravaglioli A, Krajewski A, Celotti GC, Piancastelli A, Bacchini B, Montanari L, Zama G, Piombi L (1996) Mineral evolution of bone. Biomaterials 17: 617-622.
- Reta Sánchez DG, Espinosa Silva JT, Palomo Gil A, Serrato Corona JS, Cueto Wong JA, Gaytán Mascorro A (2010) Forage yield and quality of intercropped corn and soybean in narrow strips. Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research 8: 713-721.

- Richardson AE, Barea J-M, McNeill AM, Prigent-Combaret C (2009) Acquisition of phosphorus and nitrogen in the rhizosphere and plant growth promotion by microorganisms. Plant and Soil 321: 305-339.
- Robinson PH (2008) Recent changes in dairy feed formulation strategies: The current and projected California situation. In: O Anim. Nutr. Assoc. Canada, ON (ed) 29<sup>th</sup> Western Nutrition Conference, , Edmonton, AB, Canada. .
- Roth GW, Heinrichs AJ (2001) Maize silage production and management. Agronomy fact18. Published by Information and Communication Technology in the College of Agricultural Sciences, Pennsylvania State University.
- Roy PRS, Khandaker ZH (2010) Effect of phosphorus fertilizer on yield and nutritional value sof sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) fodder at three cuttings. Bangladesh Journal of ANimal Science 39: 106-115.
- Russell, J.R., 1986. Influence of harvest date on the nutritive value and ensiling characteristics of maize stover. Animal Feed Science and Technology 14, 11–27.
- Salazar-Sosa E, Trejo-Escareño HI, Vázquez-Vázquez C, López-Martínez JD (2007) Corn production under subsurface drip irrigation and application of cow manure. International Journal of Experimental Botany 76: 169-185.
- Schachtman DP, Reid RJ, Ayling SM (1998) Phosphorus uptake by plants: From soil to cell. Plant Physiology 116: 447-453.

- Schwab EC, Shaver RD, Lauer JG, Coors JG (2003) Estimating silage energy value and milk yield to rank corn hybrids. Animal Feed Science and Technology 109: 1-18.
- Seleiman MF, Santanen A, Kleemola J, Stoddard FL, Mäkelä PSA (2013) Improved sustainability of feedstock production with sludge and interacting mycorrhiza. Chemosphere 91: 1236-1242.
- Seleiman MF, Santanen A, Stoddard FL, Makela P (2012) Feedstock quality and growth of bioenergy crops fertilized with sewage sludge. Chemosphere 89: 1211-1217.
- Seleiman MF, Selim S, Jaakkola S, Mäkelä PSA (2017) Chemical composition and in vitro digestibility of whole-crop maize fertilized with synthetic fertilizer or digestate and harvested at two maturity stages in Boreal growing conditions. Agriculture and Food Science 26: 47-55.
- Spears JW (1994) Minerals in forages. In: JCC Fahey (ed) Forage quality, evaluation and utilization. National Conference on forage quality, evaluation and utilization, Lincoln.

Suttle NF (2010) Mineral nutrition of livestock. MPG Books Group, Pondicherry, India.

Swift ML, Bittman S, Hunt DE, Kowalenko CG (2007) The effect of formulation and amount of potassium fertilizer on macromineral concentration and cation-anion difference in tall fescue. J Dairy Sci 90: 1063-1072.

- Tauer LW, Mishra AK (2006) Dairy farm cost efficiency. Journal of dairy science 89: 4937-4943.
- Tilman D, Balzer C, Hill J, Befort BL (2011) Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108: 20260-20264.
- Tine MA, McLeod KR, Erdman RA, Baldwin RLt (2001) Effects of brown midrib corn silage on the energy balance of dairy cattle. J Dairy Sci 84: 885-895.
- Toth JD, Dou Z, Ferguson JD, Galligan DT, Ramberg CF (2006) Nitrogen- vs. phosphorusbased dairy manure applications to field crops. Journal of Environmental Quality 35: 2302-2312.
- Tsioulpas A, Grandison AS, Lewis MJ (2007) Changes in physical properties of bovine milk from the colostrum period to early lactation. J Dairy Sci 90: 5012-5017.
- USDA-NASS (1989) Census of Agriculture—United States Data. pp. 124–143. Accessed Jan. 9, 2015. http:// usda.mannlib.cornell.edu/usda/AgCensusImages/1987/01/51/28/Table -53.pdf.

USDA-NASS (2014) 2012 Census of Agriculture—United States Data. pp. 174-203. .

Van Soest PJ (1982) Nutriotnal ecology of the ruminants. O & B, Corvallis, OR.

Vance CP, Chiou TJ (2011) Phosphorus Focus Editorial.

- Vance CP, Uhde-Stone C, Allan DL (2003) Phosphorus acquisition and use: Critical adaptations by plants for securing a nonrenewable resource. New Phytologist 157: 423-447.
- Walsh JJ, Jones DL, Edwards-Jones G, Williams AP (2012) Replacing inorganic fertilizer with anaerobic digestate may maintain agricultural productivity at less environmental cost. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 175: 840-845.
- Warman PR, Cooper JM (2000) Fertilization of a mixed forage crop with fresh and composted chicken manure and NPK fertilizer: Effects on soil and tissue Ca, Mg, S, B, Cu, Fe, Mn and Zn. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 80: 345-352.
- Weiss WP, Conrad HR, St. Pierre NR (1992) A theoretically-based model for predicting total digestible nutrient values of forages and concentrates. Animal Feed Science and Technology 39: 95-110.
- Wiersma DW, Carter PR, Albrecht KA, Coors JG (1993) Kernel milkline stage and corn forage yield, quality, and dry matter content. Journal of Productive Agriculture 6: 94-99.
- Write T (2009) Managing diry rations when feed prices are volatile. Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs. http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/livestock/dairy/facts/09-055.htm.

### 4. Chapter 4

#### 4.1. General Discussion and Conclusion

Our objectives were to evaluate the effects of organic and inorganic P sources and genotypic response on;

- i. Agronomic performance (leaf area, leaf chlorophyll contents, net photosynthesis and dry matter yield) of silage corn.
- ii. Soil available P, enzyme activities, and microbial communities' abundance.
- iii. Relationship between agronomic performance, biochemical attributes and active microbial communities.
- To investigate the effects of phosphorus sources on production potential and quality of silage corn genotypes.

These objectives were achieved through two main experimental works as described in Chapter 2 and 3. Effects of phosphorus sources on agronomic performance of silage corn genotypes, soil biochemical attributes and soil microbial phospholipid fatty acids have been described in chapter 2. Whereas, effects of P sources on production potential and quality of silage corn genotypes were discussed in chapter 3.

### 4.2. Effects of organic and inorganic phosphorus sources on agronomic performance of silage corn

### 4.2.1. Leaf area

Leaves play very important role in the photosynthesis and other physiological processes which may increase dry matter production (Khan and Khalil, 2010; Man et al., 2015). Phosphorus deficiency results in stunted growth in young plants and a dark green coloration of leaves (Chen et al., 2014). It reduce 67 % mean leaf area, and 43 % leaf emergence, and significant reduction in intercepted solar radiation, photosynthesis and dry biomass production (Fredeen et al., 1989; Plenet et al., 2000). In 2016, leaf area of Yukon R corn genotype significantly increased with DM application as compared to control treatment and this increment was attributed to optimum supply of nitrogen (N) and P to the plants (Hariadi et al., 2016). Whereas, during 2017, non-significant trends observed for G x P interaction, that might be due to less rainfall (Table 2.2). Our results of 2017 growing season are quite in line with that of Song et al., (2018) who reported that soil moisture deficit at vegetative stage significantly limit crop growth and leaf area of corn.

#### 4.2.2. Chlorophyll contents

Chlorophyll is a green pigment and involves in energy harvesting reaction that can be used to assimilate carbon dioxide and convert absorbed light into chemical energy for photosynthesis. Decomposition and mineralization of organic matter content present in DM release organic acids which play an important role in the supply of  $Fe^{2+}$ ,  $Mg^{2+}$  and NH<sup>4+</sup>, which are necessary for enzyme activation, chloroplast and chlorophyll formation (Elhindi, 2012; Hasan et al., 2014). DM application significantly increased chlorophyll contents of maize as compared to control (Efthimiadou et al., 2009). Results of present study also report that DM application either with high or low P and or N concentration significantly increased chlorophyll contents of Yukon R and DKC26-28RIB compared to control during both years (2016 and 2017 growing seasons). This increase could attributed to optimum supply of N and Mg<sup>+2</sup> from DM (Table 2.5) that might have played an important role in chlorophyll synthesis, as both compounds are central component of chlorophyll molecules. Manure application improved optimum supply of N and Mg<sup>+2</sup> to crop plants which may have led to increase chlorophyll contents of plants because both compounds are central component of chlorophyll molecules. Our results are in line with previous findings (Elhindi, 2012) which reported that manure application significantly improved chlorophyll contents of crop plants presumably by increasing availability of N and Mg<sup>2+</sup> in soil.

### 4.2.3. Photosynthesis rate

Phosphorus is an important element in compounds such as ATP, NADPH, nucleic acids, sugar phosphates, and phospholipids which are involved in photosynthesis (Hammond and White, 2008). Photosynthesis is a process in which plants absorbs light energy and convert in to chemical energy (Hohmann-Marriott and Blankenship, 2011). P deficient plants showed reduction in photosynthesis that might be due to diminishing of ribulose 1-5, bisphosphate (RuBP) generation rather than due to limitations in the supply
of ATP (adenosine triphosphate) and NADPH (Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase) in the Calvin cycle (Fredeen et al., 1989). RuBP is formed by taking a phosphate coming from the splitting of ATP, and joining it with riblulose phosphate (RuP), changing RuP into RuBP, which is then able to react with CO<sub>2</sub> and form an unstable 6C (carbon) molecule which is the basis for the dark reaction. ATP is commonly known as energy currency of the cell because energy obtained through its metabolism is used for biomolecules synthesis, movement and cell division. ATP consists of the purine base adenine, pentose sugar ribose, and three phosphate groups, and anhydrous bonds of the three phosphate make ATP a high energy molecule. During the photosynthetic electron transfer reaction H<sup>+</sup> pumped across the thylakoid membrane, and the resulting electrochemical proton gradient derives the synthesis of ATP in the stroma (Alberts et al., 2002). APT hydrolysis produces more free energy compounds such as ADP (adenosine diphosphate) and inorganic phosphate than that of other phosphate compounds and common phosphate ester (Alberts et al., 2002). As the final step of electron transport chain, high energy electrons are loaded (together with H<sup>+</sup>) on to NADP<sup>+</sup>, converting it to NADPH, and all of these reactions are confined to chloroplast (Alberts et al., 2002). In carbon fixation process, three molecules of ATP and two molecules of NADPH are consumed for each molecule of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) converted in to carbohydrate. The net equation is:  $3C02 + 9ATP + 6NADPH + water \rightarrow Glyceraldehyde 3 - phosphate + 8P_i +$ 9ADP + 6NADP<sup>+</sup>(Alberts et al., 2002). Orthophosphate in the chloroplast stroma serve as a substrate for ATP synthesis (Carstensen et al., 2018).

Recent work exhibited that P deficiency reduces the orthophosphate concentration

(Pi) in the chloroplast stroma which might have led to inhibit the process of ATP synthesis (Carstensen et al., 2018; Karlsson et al., 2015), and protons start accumulating in the thylakoids and cause lumen acidification, which stops linear electron flow. Inadequate plastoquinol (PQH2) oxidation retards electron transport to the cytochrome *b6f complex*. However, the electron transfer rate of PSI is increased under steady state growth light conditions and is limited under high light conditions. P deficiency increased electron transport through PSI increases the levels of NADPH, whereas ATP production remains limited and reduced CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation. Changes in supply of Pi in the stroma reduced the ATP levels and consequently reduced, but no changes in the photosynthetic machinery composition were observed (Karlsson et al., 2015). P deficiency immediately affects  $CO_2$ fixation, but does not appear to stop it, as P deficient plants typically remains green and do not develop leaf chlorosis. Phosphorus starvation significantly reduced NADP<sup>+</sup> in to NADPH, indicating that a large fraction of NADP<sup>+</sup> remains in the reduced form NADPH, because it cannot be utilized in the Calvin cycle due to ATP limitation, and because of higher PS1 activity (Carstensen et al., 2018). NADPH concentration was significantly higher under P deficient treatment as compared to P supply treatments.

DM application significantly improved photosynthesis rate and plant growth compared to barley mulch, poultry manure and mineral fertilizers was attributed to optimum and slow release of nutrients (Efthimiadou et al., 2009; Salehi et al., 2017). In the present study, results described that manure with high and low P concentration significantly increased the photosynthesis rate of Yukon R and DKC26-28RIIB compared to control during 2016. Genotypes x Phosphorus sources interaction was non-significant in 2017 that

might be due to less rainfall possibly caused the reduction in macro and micro nutrients uptake. In 2017 vs 2016, drought stress due to insufficient water supply and rainfall led to closure of plants stomata to prevent the water loss by transpiration (Yan et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2012) and consequently, affected photosynthesis rate due to decreased level of CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation and phosphorus uptake at chloroplast level (Carstensen et al., 2018; Long et al., 2006).

### 4.2.4. Root shoot ratio

Plant species has shown adaptations under P deficient conditions; one by increasing length and density of lateral root hairs in corn and many other plant species which would improve P uptake through expansion of root surface area at minimal cost (Lynch and Brown, 2008). Another adaption to P deficiency includes increase in root/shoot ratio, root branching, elongation, top foraging and cluster root hairs possibly due to assimilates distribution (Lynch and Brown, 2008; Wissuwa et al., 2005). P starvation caused changes in carbohydrates distribution between roots and shoots (Wissuwa et al., 2005). A larger root system has been recognized as an important adaptation in plants to cope water and nutrient stress (Wissuwa et al., 2005). In present study, we found that root to shoot ratio of silage corn genotypes were significantly higher under control, and this increased might be due to distribution of carbohydrates and P from shoots to roots may helpful for plants to adapt low P stress condition which may account for increase in root to shoot ratio. Our findings are in agreement with the earlier studies (Basirat et al., 2011; Li et al., 2009; Louw-gaume et al., 2010; Wissuwa et al., 2005) where authors suggested that P deficiency

significantly increased root to shoot ratio of crops. Corn cultivars exhibited significant difference in root length due to variation in cultivar variability (Szoboszlay et al., 2015).

# 4.2.5. Plant height

Short plant height in control (without fertilizers/manure application) might be due to leaching/depletion of nutrients over the time, hence plants height was reduced due to insufficient nutrients supply. DM application significantly increased plant height of corn through optimum supply of P and other nutrients which might increase nodes and internode length formation (Amujoyegbe et al., 2007; Efthimiadou et al., 2009). Increase in Yukon R plant height with application of manure compared to control was attributed to optimum supply of nutrients through manure. Our results supported by (Efthimiadou et al., 2009), who found that manure application produced positive influence on plant height of corn compared to other inorganic fertilizers. Highest plant height noted in Yukon R might be due to cultivar variability among the genotypes (Maryam et al., 2012), and slow release of nutrients with DM application throughout the growing season. Reduction in plant height during 2017 growing season might be due to less rain caused water stress which might lead to stunted growth by ceasing cell division and elongation processes (Maryam et al., 2012).

# 4.2.6. Dry matter yield

Dry matter accumulation by crops depends upon interception of photosynthetically active radiation and efficiency of leaves to convert intercepted light in to dry matter yield (Portes and Melo, 2014). Results of present study explained that DM with high P application significantly increased leaf area, chlorophyll contents, photosynthesis rate and plant height which consequently led to increased dry matter yield compared to control. Higher dry matter yield and yield components in DM amended treatment could be attributed to optimum supply of N, P and other macro and micro-nutrients which improved the crop growth and dry matter yield throughout growing season. Our results are in line with the findings of (Amujoyegbe et al., 2007; Efthimiadou et al., 2009), who reported that manure application significantly improved leaf area, chlorophyll contents photosynthesis and dry matter yield of silage corn as compared to inorganic fertilizer. Salehi et al. (2017) found that dry matter yield was significantly increased with manure application due to gradual release of nutrients that improved photosynthesis rate and plant growth. Less rainfall during 2017 (Table 2.2), caused significant reduction in leaf area, chlorophyll contents, plant height, photosynthesis and dry matter yield of silage corn (Abrokwah et al., 2017; Bouazzama et al., 2012; Maryam et al., 2012; Yan et al., 2011).

### 4.3. Effects of P sources on soil biochemical attributes

#### 4.3.1.1. Soil rhizosphere pH

Rhizosphere soil pH is an important factor that affects the soil biochemical properties (Gregory and Hinsinger, 1999), and determine the availability of macro and micro nutrients (Hinsinger, 2001). Manure and organic fertilizers application enhance soil pH and soil organic carbon (SOC) than synthetic fertilizers (Dong et al., 2012; Lapa et al., 2011). In present study, we found that soil rhizosphere pH was slightly higher in DM amended treatments and inorganic P treatments than control (Table 2.18). Earlier studies

also reported that manure application stabilize or increased soil pH (Dong et al., 2012; Whalen et al., 2000). Difference in soil rhizosphere pH of genotypes reported in present study might be due protons secreted by roots in response to uptake of cations and anions by plant species (Hinsinger, 2001; Li et al., 2008).

### 4.3.1.2. Acid phosphatase activity

Soil enzymes activities are important indicator of soil health, and play important role in organic matter decomposition and nutrients turnover (Paz-Ferreiro et al., 2007). Enzymes activities may fluctuate rapidly due to fertilizer sources, complex rhizosphere processes, biological properties, soil physio-chemical properties and environmental conditions (Paz-Ferreiro et al., 2011). Organic P present in manure is mineralized by acid and alkaline phosphatase enzyme into plant available P forms (Waldrip et al., 2012). Inorganic P fertilizers application significantly decreased the phosphatase activity, because plants and microorganisms easily obtain P from readily available sources (Spohn and Kuzyakov, 2013). Our results have demonstrated that DM application significantly increased acid phosphatase activity compared to inorganic P fertilizer. Higher amount of C, N and P along with trace elements in DM increased microbial activity which consequently increased enzymes activities (Li et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2015). Silage corn genotypes exhibited difference in acid phosphatase activity in their rhizosphere, which might be due to cultivar variability of roots to secrete acid phosphatase. Our findings are in line with earlier researchers results (Colvan et al., 2001; Leytem et al., 2011; Waldrip et al., 2012) who reported that manure application significantly increase acid phosphatase activity, whereas inorganic P application reduced acid phosphatase activity.

# 4.4. Soil microbial phospholipids fatty acids (PLFAs) profile

PLFAs are widely used as soil microbial biomarkers and indicate viable components of soil microbial biomass, and provide more detailed information about 'active' soil microbial community compared to culture method (Liang et al., 2008; Yao et al., 2000). In agroecosystems, organic and inorganic fertilizers are applied to enhance nutrients availability to crops but they also affect the soil microbial communities (Guo and Wang, 2009; Wei et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2015). External P fertilization significantly increased soil microbial diversity and abundance in forest, grassland and pastures (Liu et al., 2013; Pan et al., 2014), specifically Gram negative (G<sup>-</sup>) bacteria, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), total bacterial and total amount of soil PLFAs compared to control, whereas mean abundance of gram positive  $(G^+)$  bacteria did not differ among treatments (Liu et al., 2013). Significant changes were observed in microbial communities of two maize genotypes rhizosphere most likely due to secretion of root exudates such as sugars, amino acids, organic acids and hormones that might have enhanced bacterial growth in soil rhizosphere and higher availability of C in manure amended treatment (Wang et al., 2017). Agricultural soils are generally carbon limited and DM amendment stimulate soil microbial communities by increasing SOC labile fractions, N and P pool in soil, which probably could serve as major energy sources for microorganisms (Demoling et al., 2007). In current study, we found that DM application significantly increased active

G<sup>-</sup> bacteria, bacterial PLFAs, microbial biomass (total amount of PLFAs), and fungal PLFAs compared to control. Wei et al. (2017) reported that manure application significantly increased active G-, G<sup>+</sup> bacteria, active fungal PLFAs, and microbial biomass (total amount of PLFAs). Our findings of G<sup>+</sup>/G<sup>-</sup> ratio are in line with Wei et al. (2017), who reported that changes in G<sup>+</sup> and G<sup>-</sup> bacterial community were strongly related to increase in soil organic C added by application of manure. In general a lower G<sup>+</sup>/G<sup>-</sup> ratio is an indicator of better soil nutrition (Rajendran et al., 1997).

Fungi involves in C and nutrients turnover in agroecosystem and are sensitive to external fertilizers application (Li et al., 2018). In present study, we found that DM with high P concentration significantly increased active fungal PLFAs compared to control, which could be attributed to additional SOC attained by DM application and served as major source of energy for active fungi whereas, small increase in labile organic C under inorganic fertilization and control treatments reduced growth (Liu et al., 2013). Higher F/B ratio can reflect the relative abundance of microbial population which is an important indicator of a strong soil ecosystem buffering capacity and more sustainable land use (De Vries et al., 2006). Our results showed that F/B ratio significantly increased by manure application in 2017 compared to 2016. This difference in F/B ratio might be due to higher organic matter contents (3.01%) in soil and furthermore manure applied in soil contains higher percentage of P, N and C in P<sub>1</sub> manure treatment during 2017 relative to 2016 organic matter contents (2.98%) (Table 2.1 and 2.5), and fungi may play a larger role in organic matter decomposition and C cycling (Buyer et al., 2010; De Vries et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2013).

Various plant species and genotypes roots generally release organic acids, sugars, amino acids, lipids, enzymes and aromatic compounds which in turn stimulate the growth of dormant microbial species (Li et al., 2014; Szoboszlay et al., 2015). In present study, Yukon R exhibited higher bacterial PLFAs, microbial biomass (total amount of PLFAs) and active fungal PLFAs, which might suggest that Yukon R presumably released more diverse and abundant secondary metabolites which in turn enhanced microbial population.

# 4.5. Effects of P sources on quality indices of silage corn

Corn growing for silage is considered to be the most suitable crop as compared to other cereals due to fast growth, higher yield potential, higher palatability, energy contents, protein contents, sugar and water soluble carbohydrate which are most important in the preservation of silage material (Amin, 2011; Keady et al., 2008). Good quality silage corn contains 28-32% dry matter yield, 28-32% starch and 7-9% crude protein, and addition of silage corn based diets of dairy cows increases feed intake, milk yield and milk protein content (Keady et al., 2008; Kwabiah et al., 2003; Ullah et al., 2015). As a result silage corn becomes the major feed component in the ration of dairy cows under most dietary regimes (Keady et al., 2008). Dairy industry is heavily relying on silage corn in cool climate amended with organic and inorganic P sources.

#### 4.5.1. Mineral composition

Minerals play an important role in milk production, reproduction and energy provision in animals (Holtenius et al., 2008; Kronqvist, 2011), essential role in skeleton formation, protein and lipids synthesis (Kronqvist, 2011; Plaizier et al., 2004), and fulfill through forage feed (Suttle, 2010). For example, Mg and P concentration in forages vary between 1.8 - 3.6 g kg<sup>-1</sup> and 1.8 - 3.3 g kg<sup>-1</sup> of dry matter respectively, and significantly affected by forage type, growth conditions, harvesting stage, P source and rate of P application (Kronqvist, 2011; Leytem et al., 2011; Suttle, 2010). Silage corn contains 0.18% Mg and 0.23% P (Roth and Heinrichs, 2001). Leytem et al. (2011) conducted a greenhouse study to determine the effects of phosphorus sources (mono-ammonium phosphate (MAP), compost and dairy manure) and rates on nutrients uptake in silage corn. P, Ca uptake in silage corn increased with inorganic P source (mono-ammonium phosphate-MAP) application, while the manure and compost treatments showed nonsignificant difference. Manure and compost contains iron which might have reacted with P and forms Fe phosphates thereby reducing P solubility. Reduction of Ca uptake in silage corn under manure and compost treatment could be related to cation competition with K (Levtem et al., 2011). Magnesium uptake increased under MAP treatment and reduced for manure (Leytem et al., 2011). High K uptake might have inhibited Mg uptake due to cation competition and balance between K, Ca and Mg uptake could be a concern from an animal health prospective as forages with K:(Ca+Mg) ratios greater than 2.2:1 cause grass tetany in ruminant (Grunes et al., 1970). In current study, we found that Mg ranges between 0.13

- 0.17% and P (0.25 - 0.28%) in silage corn genotypes (Table 3.3), and was slightly higher than earlier studies (Amodu et al., 2014; Roth and Heinrichs, 2001; Suttle, 2010).

Calcium (Ca) is an integral part of animal body and play essential role in bones formation, normal muscle contractions and nerves functioning (Goff, 2008; Kronqvist, 2011). Calcium react with P and forms Ca-hydroxyapatite, which are an important part of skeleton in animals (Kronqvist, 2011). K is a principal intercellular cation of body tissues and plays key role in many biological processes (Bannink et al., 1999). Corn forage is generally low in Ca (1.4 g kg<sup>-1</sup> – 3.0 g kg<sup>-1</sup>), whereas, K ranged up to 1.23% on dry weight basis (Suttle, 2010). Minimum Ca requirements for lactating cows ranged from 0.29% to 0.51% whereas K ranged from 0.60% to 0.80% on a dry weight basis (Suttle, 2010). In present three years study, we found that Ca range between 1.18 - 1.55 g kg<sup>-1</sup> in silage corn genotypes, whereas organic and inorganic P sources exhibited non-significant difference in Ca uptake in silage corn.

### 4.5.2. Crude and available protein

Proteins are organic compounds, composed of amino acids and are important animal feed component. RNA (ribonucleic acid) is a polymer molecule, consisted of ribose sugar, nucleotide bases and phosphate group. RNA play very vital role in protein synthesis, for example, messenger RNA (mRNA), ribosomal RNA (rRNA), and trafner RNA (tRNA) involve in protein synthesis in the cytosol, chloroplasts and mitochondria, with 70S ribosomes in the organelles and 80S ribosomes in the cytosol (Raven, 2013). Phosphorus is a component of the complex nucleic acid structure of plants, which regulates protein synthesis. Phosphorus is, therefore, important in cell division and development of new tissue. Organic fertilizers are good source of N, P and micro-nutrients but generally they are slowly available to plants, whereas macro and micro-nutrients are readily available to the plants by inorganic fertilizer application which may affect the composition of forage quality. Conversely, Moreno-Resendez et al. (2017) reported increased protein in forage treated with organic source compared to inorganic fertilizer application. In present study, we found that organic and inorganic P fertilizer application produced similar protein contents in silage corn, which suggest that DM application could be a sustainable approach for obtaining optimum CP contents in silage corn and may reduce dependence on inorganic P fertilizers.

Protein contents in silage corn vary between 7.10% – 7.50% (Baron et al., (2006), 5.20 - 6.50% (Amodu et al., 2014), and 6.60 - 7.25% (Millner et al., 2005). However, in good quality forage, crude protein (CP) should be more than 7% (Garibay et al., 1997; Oramas-Wenholz and Quila, 2007). CP contents in the present study were > 7% (Table 3.3), and 36% higher than reported in the literature (Ballard et al., 2001; Baron et al., 2006; Garibay et al., 1997; Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017) and therefore, can be considered as high quality forage (Garibay et al., 1997; Oramas-Wenholz and Quila, 2007). Furthermore, a strong negative correlation between forage production and available protein (AP) (r = -0.87), and CP (r = -0.85) was noted, which suggest that there may be N dilution effects due to enhanced forage biomass (Belanger and Gastal, 2000; Fletcher and Chakwizira, 2012) in high yielding silage corn genotypes (Figure 3.4.6a & 3.4.6b)

#### 4.5.3. Acid detergent fiber (ADF)

Acid detergent fibers (ADF) represent the energetic values of silage corn and comprised of cellulose, lignin and protein, and it is most related to forage digestibility, higher ADF contents, the less digestibility of the forage (Castillo-Jimenez et al., 2009; Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). Good quality forage crops contains ADF less than 28%, and forage consider to be optimum if ADF contents are less than 30% (Castillo-Jimenez et al., 2009; Gallegos-Ponce et al., 2012; Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). Manitoba corn committee conducted corn performance trials and evaluate the quality of various hybrids, and found that Yukon R contains 28.7% ADF and Fusion RR 30.5% (Manitoba Corn Committe, 2017). In present study, we found slightly higher ADF in Yukon R 30.5% and 31.5% in Fusion RR. Organic and inorganic fertilization produced 35.9% and 27.2% ADF respectively, in silage corn (Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). However, DM application produced 28% ADF contents in corn hybrids (Salazar-Sosa et al., 2007). The observed ADF contents in our study varied between 28.06% and 31.58%, (Figure 3.4.4 & Table 3.3), and were in the range as reported by Gallegos-Ponce et al. (2012). P based organic fertilizer applications (e.g., poultry litter and cattle manure) and inorganic P fertilizer produced similar ADF (Nazli et al., 2014). We have also observed similar trend in present study where DM and inorganic P fertilizer had non-significant effects on ADF production in silage corn.

# 4.5.4. Neutral detergent fiber (NDF)

NDF comprised of hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin representing the fibrous bulk of the forage, and these three components are classified as cell wall or structural carbohydrates and provide the rigidity to plants. NDF in forage crops are negatively correlated with intake and digestibility (Oramas-Wenholz and Quila, 2007), so high energy silage corn hybrids less than 50% NDF are needed (Gallegos-Ponce et al., 2012). Organic fertilization produced 53.5%, whereas inorganic fertilizer produced 42.6% NDF in silage corn forage (Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). However, combination of inorganic P with poultry litter and cattle manure produce similar forage quality (ADF, NDF and CP) compared to inorganic P fertilization. It appears that NDF contents were significantly reduced with increasing rate of nitrogen fertilizers or nitrogen content in the plant tissue of silage corn (Nazli et al., 2014), which was also reported by Moreno-Resendez et al., (2017). Significant differences in NDF have been observed among the five-tested silage corn genotypes in the present study, for instance, DKC26-28RIB genotype produced 49.60% NDF, which were < 50% and can be considered to be of high quality (Baron et al., 2006; Gallegos-Ponce et al., 2012; Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). Our results are consistent with the findings reported in the literature (Amodu et al., 2014; Ballard et al., 2001; Baron et al., 2006).

### 4.5.5. Total digestible nutrients (TDN)

TDN is a measure of feed or forage energy contents, as well as, the forage digestibility in the animals (Posada et al., 2012). Good quality silage contains TDN  $\geq$  65%

(Castillo-Jimenez et al., 2009; Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017; Ramirez et al., 2006). Crop maturity stage significantly influenced the TDN and higher TDN were observed in corn hybrids when harvested at 106–111 days after sowing (DAS) compared to 119–125 DAS (Kim et al., 2001). Manitoba corn committee conducted corn performance trials and evaluated the quality of various hybrids, and found that Yukon R contains 68% TDN and Fusion RR 66.1% (Manitoba Corn Committe, 2017). In present study, we found that Yukon R contains 63% TDN and Fusion RR showed 63.6% TDN. Organic and inorganic fertilizers produced 46% and 47 % TDN respectively in silage corn (Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). In present study, we found that TDN were slightly higher in manure compared to inorganic P treatment but statistically at par with other P sources, might be due to the initial soil nutrient status, which helped plants to uptake nutrients for growth and TDN (Table 3.4).

# 4.5.6. Net energy for maintenance (NEM) and Net energy for gain (NEG)

Net energy for maintenance (NEM) and net energy for gain (NEG) indicates the quality of forage species (Tine et al., 2001). NEM keep the animals at a stable weight, whereas NEG represents the energy for body weight gain required for maintenance (Schwab et al., 2003). Ballard et al., (2001) reported 1.46 – 1.68 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> NEM and 0.88 – 1.06 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> NEG of dry matter in silage corn hybrids. Manitoba corn committee reported 0.99 NEG Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> in Yukon R and 0.94 NEG Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> in Fusion RR (Manitoba Corn Committe, 2017). However, in this study, Yukon R contains 0.79 NEG Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> and Fusion RR showed 0.81 NEG Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup>. In present study, we found NEM and NEG of

silage corn genotypes between 1.32 - 1.40 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> and 0.75 - 0.82 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> respectively. This slight decrease in NEM and NEG might be due to harvesting stage, forage fiber contents and lower TDN (Ballard et al., 2001; Di Marco et al., 2002). However, organic and inorganic P sources had non-significant effects on NEM and NEG in silage corn in present study.

### 4.5.7. Net energy for lactation (NEL)

Energy requirements for maintenance and milk production are expressed as NEL (Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). NEL is an important energy forage quality parameter estimated using TDN, CP, NDF and other forage quality parameters (Weiss et al., 1992). NEL of silage corn range between 1.3 - 1.5 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> of dry matter as reported in earlier studies (de la Cruz-Lazaro et al., 2007; Nunez-Hernandez et al., 2010; Pena-Ramos et al., 2006). Manitoba corn committee reported that Yukon R contains 1.55 NEL Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup>, and Fusion RR showed 1.50 NEL Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> (Manitoba Corn Committe, 2017). Whereas, in present study, we found that Yukon R showed highest NEL 1.42 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> followed by DKC26-28RIB that produced 1.41 Mcal Kg<sup>-1</sup> and Fusion RR 1.38 NEL Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> (Figure 3.4.3c). Inorganic nutrient source produced significantly higher NEL 1.05 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> compared to organic nutrient source that produced 0.98 Mcal kg<sup>-1</sup> of NEL (Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017). In present study, NEL were slightly higher under DM with low and high P concentration but statistically at par with inorganic P and control, which might be due to soil ameliorating effects on physiochemical properties of soil (Adeli et al., 2007; Eghball et al., 2004, 2002).

#### 4.5.8. Non-Fibrous Carbohydrates (NFC)

Carbohydrates are classified as fibrous (structural) and non-fibrous (nonstructural), as well as the digestibility of fiber affects forage energy (Martinez-Marin, 2008; Moreno-Resendez et al., 2017) The observed NFC in silage corn tested in our experiment were 30.6% – 34.5%, which were quite higher compared to 21% – 31% reported by Moreno-Resendez et al. (2017). Higher NFC contents in silage corn genotypes showed good quality forage. Generally, DM application enhanced NFC contents and in present study, we found higher NFC contents in DM with high P concentration compared to the control (Table 3.4), suggest that DM application could be a sustainable approach to produce forage biomass with higher NFC contents, not only to improve nutrient recycling through DM, but also to minimize the dependency on inorganic fertilizer P due to depleting nature of P reserves (Cordell et al., 2009).

# 4.6. Conclusion

Results in this study showed that P<sub>1</sub> (dairy manure with high P) significantly improved agronomic performance of silage corn genotypes, soil available P, acid phosphatase activity, soil pH, and microbial communities compared to inorganic P and control. Soil microbial activities were closely linked with organic carbon added through manure application in podzolic soils. Dairy manure (DM) application increased bacterial PLFAs, soil microbial biomass (total amount of PLFAs) and ecological buffering capacity, resulted in higher active G<sup>-</sup> bacterial and fungal population relative to control. Pearson correlation also demonstrated a positive and strong relationship between the agronomic

performance parameters of the silage corn genotypes, soil biochemical attributes and active microbial community structure, following DM application with high P. Among the silage corn genotypes evaluated, Yukon R and DKC 26-28RIB showed superior agronomic performance and produced higher DMY compared to other genotypes, whereas, A4177G3RIB produced higher minerals, CP, TDN, NEM, and NEG compared to other genotypes. However, it was statistically at par with DKC26-28RIB in producing minerals and ranked 2<sup>nd</sup> in protein synthesis. Yukon R was also statistically at par with A4177G3RIB genotype in few other quality indices and produced similar TDN, NEM and NEG. Overall, Yukon–R produced high DMY and was either at par or ranked 2<sup>nd</sup> in most of the quality forage parameters. Among P sources, inorganic P fertilizer source enhanced CP, simple sugars and NFC contents but statistically at par either with manure with high or low P. Phosphorus sources had non-significant effects on energy parameters, however NEL, NEM and NEG values were slightly higher with DM application compared to inorganic P and control. Taking all together into consideration, it can be concluded that Yukon-R has the potential to be successfully cultivated for attaining higher DMY and high quality forage with DM amendment as P source in podzolic soils under cool climatic conditions of western NL. Considering, additional benefits of DM amendment in enhancing SOC, biochemical attributes and microbial communities suggest DM application can be considered as sustainable agricultural practice and may reduce dependence on inorganic P fertilizers on agricultural lands in future.

- Abrokwah, O.A., Antwi-Boasiako, A., Effah, Z., 2017. Effects of drought stress on yield and yield components in maize cultivars (Zea mays L .). Journal Of Scientific Research in Allied Sciences 6, 481–490.
- Adeli, A., Sistani, K.R., Rowe, D.E., Tewolde, H., 2007. Effects of broiler litter applied to no-till and tillage cotton on selected soil properties. Soil Science Society of America Journal 71, 974–983. doi:10.2136/sssaj2006.0092
- Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., Raff, M., Roberts, K., Walter, P., 2002. Chloroplasts and photosynthesis, in: Molecular Biology of the Cell. New York: Garland Science. doi:10.15713/ins.mmj.3
- Amin, M.E.M.H., 2011. Effect of different nitrogen sources on growth, yield and quality of fodder maize (Zea mays L.). Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences 10, 17–23. doi:10.1016/j.jssas.2010.06.003
- Amodu, J.T., Akpensuen, T.T., Dung, D.D., Tanko, R.J., Musa, A., Abubakar, S.A.,
  Hassan, M.R., Jegede, J.O., Sani, I., 2014. Evaluation of maize accessions for
  nutrients composition, forage and silage yields. Journal of Agricultural Science 6,
  178–187. doi:10.5539/jas.v6n4p178
- Amujoyegbe, B., Opabode, J.T., Olayinka, A., 2007. Effect of organic and inorganic fertilizer on yield and chlorophyll content of maize (Zea mays L.) and sorghum Sorghum bicolour (L.) Moench). African Journal of Biotechnology 6, 1869–1873.

doi:10.5897/AJB2007.000-2278

- Ballard, C.S., Thomas, E.D., Tsang, D.S., Mandebvu, P., Sniffen, C.J., Endres, M.I., Carter, M.P., 2001. Effect of corn silage hybrid on dry matter yield, nutrient composition, in vitro digestion, intake by dairy heifers, and milk production by dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science 84, 442–452.
- Bannink, A., Valk, H., Vuuren, A. M.V.A.N., 1999. Intake and excretion of sodium, potassium, and nitrogen and the effects on urine production by lactating dairy cows.
  Journal of Dairy Science 82, 1008–1018. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(99)75321-X
- Basirat, M., Malboobi, M.A., Mousavi, A., Asgharzadeh, A., Samavat, S., 2011. Effects of phosphorous supply on growth, phosphate distribution and expression of transporter genes in tomato plants. Australian Journal of Crop Science 5, 537–543.
- Belanger, G., Gastal, F., 2000. Nitrogen utilization by forage grasses. Canadaian Journal of Plant Science 80, 11–20.
- Bouazzama, B., Xanthoulis, D., Bouaziz, A., Ruelle, P., Mailhol, J.-C., 2012. Effect of water stress on growth, water consumption and yield of silage maize under flood irrigation in a semi-arid climate of Tadla (Morocco). Biotechnology, Agronomy, Society and Environment 16, 468–477.
- Buyer, J.S., Teasdale, J.R., Roberts, D.P., Zasada, I.A., Maul, J.E., 2010. Factors affecting soil microbial community structure in tomato cropping systems. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42, 831–841. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.01.020

- Carstensen, A., Herdean, A., Schmidt, S.B., Sharma, A., Spetea, C., Pribil, M., Husted,
  S., 2018. The impacts of phosphorus deficiency on the photosynthetic electron
  transport chain. Plant Physiology 177, 271–284. doi:10.1104/pp.17.01624
- Castillo-Jimenez, M., Rojas-Bourrillon, A., Wingching-Jones, R., 2009. Nutritional value of silage made with a mixture of corn and mung bean (Vigna radiata). Agronomia Costarricense 33, 133–146. doi:0377-9424 / 2009
- Chen, L., Lin, L., Cai, G., Sun, Y., Huang, T., Wang, K., Deng, J., 2014. Identification of nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium deficiencies in rice based on static scanning technology and hierarchical identification method. PLoS ONE 9, 1–17. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0113200
- Colvan, S.R., Syers, J.K., O'Donnell, A.G.O., 2001. Effect of long-term fertiliser use on acid and alkaline phosphomonoesterase and phosphodiesterase activities in managed grassland. Biology and Fertility of Soils 34, 258–263. doi:10.1007/s003740100411
- Cordell, D., Drangert, J., White, S., 2009. The story of phosphorus: Global food security and food for thought. Global Environment Change 19, 292–305. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2008.10.009
- de la Cruz-Lazaro, E., Rodriguez-Herrera, S.A., Palomo-Gil, A., Lopez Benitez, A., Robledo-Torres, V., Gomez-Vazquez, A., Osorio-Osorio, R., 2007. Combining ability of protein high quality maize inbred lines for forage characteristics. Ecosistemas y Recursos Agropecuarios 23, 57–68.

- De Vries, F.T., Hoffland, E., van Eekeren, N., Brussaard, L., Bloem, J., 2006.
   Fungal/bacterial ratios in grasslands with contrasting nitrogen management. Soil
   Biology and Biochemistry 38, 2092–2103. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2006.01.008
- Demoling, F., Figueroa, D., Baath, E., 2007. Comparison of factors limiting bacterial growth in different soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39, 2485–2495.
  doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.05.002
- Di Marco, O.N., Aello, M.S., Nomdedeu, M., Van Houtte, S., 2002. Effect of maize crop maturity on silage chemical composition and digestibility (in vivo , in situ and in vitro). Animal Feed Science and Technology 99, 37–43.
- Dong, W., Zhang, X., Wang, H., Dai, X., Sun, X., Qiu, W., Yang, F., 2012. Effect of different fertilizer application on the soil fertility of paddy soils in red soil region of southern China. PLoS ONE 7, 1–9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044504
- Efthimiadou, A., Bilalis, D., Karkanis, A., Froud-Williams, B., Eleftherochorinos, I., 2009. Effects of cultural system (organic and conventional) on growth, photosynthesis and yield components of sweet corn (Zea mays L.) under semi-arid environment. Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca 37, 104–111.
- Eghball, B., Ginting, D., Gilley, J.E., 2004. Residual effects of manure and compost applications on corn production and soil properties. Agronomy Journal 96, 442–447.
- Eghball, B., Wienhold, B.J., Gilley, J.E., Eigenberg, R.A., 2002. Mineralization of manure nutrients. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 57, 470–473.

- Elhindi, K.M., 2012. Evaluation of composted green waste fertigation through surface and subsurface drip irrigation systems on pot marigold plants (Calendula officinalis
  L.) Grown on sandy soil. Australian Journal of Crop Science 6, 1249–1259.
- Fletcher, A.L., Chakwizira, E., 2012. Developing a critical nitrogen dilution curve for forage brassicas. Grass and Forage Science 67, 13–23. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2494.2011.00830.x
- Fredeen, A.L., Rao, I.M., Terry, N., 1989. Influence of phosphorus nutrition on growth and carbon partitioning in Glycine max. Plant Physiology 89, 225–230. doi:10.1104/pp.89.1.225
- Gallegos-Ponce, A., Rios, A.M., Viramontes, M.F.S.R.F., Padilla, S.B., Soto, J.V., Guillen, J. de D.Q., Lopez, D.E., 2012. Nutritional quality of forage maize (Zea mays L.) under limited water logging conditions. AGROFAZ 12, 59–66.
- Garibay, S. V, P. Stamp, Ammon, H.U., Feil, B., 1997. Yield and quality components of silage maize in killed and live cover crop sods. European Journal of Agronomy 6, 179–190.
- Goff, J.P., 2008. The monitoring, prevention, and treatment of milk fever and subclinical hypocalcemia in dairy cows. The Veterinary Journal 176, 50–57. doi:10.1016/j.tvjl.2007.12.020
- Gregory, P.J., Hinsinger, P., 1999. New approaches to studying chemical and physical changes in the rhizosphere: An overview. Plant and Soil 211, 1–9.

doi:10.1023/A:1004547401951

- Grunes, D. 1., Stout, P.R., Brownel, J.R., 1970. Grass tetany of ruminants. Advances in Agronomy 22, 331–374.
- Guo, H., Wang, G., 2009. Phosphorus status and microbial community of paddy soil with the growth of annual ryegrass (Lolium multiflorum Lam.) under different phosphorus fertilizer treatments. Journal of Zhejiang University Science B 10, 761– 768. doi:10.1631/jzus.B0920101
- Hammond, J.P., White, P.J., 2008. Sucrose transport in the phloem: Integrating root responses to phosphorus starvation. Journal of Experimental Botany 59, 93–109. doi:10.1093/jxb/erm221
- Hariadi, Y.C., Nurhayati, A.Y., Hariyani, P., 2016. Biophysical monitoring on the effect on different composition of goat and cow manure on the growth response of maize to support sustainability. Agriculture and Agricultural Science Procedia 9, 118–127. doi:10.1016/j.aaspro.2016.02.135
- Hasan, A.E., Bhiah, K.M., Al-zurfy, M.T.H., 2014. The impact of peat moss and sheep manure compost extracts on marigold ( Calendula officinalis L .) growth and flowering. Journal of Organic Systems 9, 56–62.
- Hinsinger, P., 2001. Bioavailibility of soil inorganic P in the rhizosphere as effected by root-induced chemical changes. Plant and Soil 237, 173–195.
  doi:10.1023/A:1013351617532

- Hohmann-Marriott, M.F., Blankenship, R.E., 2011. Evolution of photosynthesis. Annual Review of Plant Biology 62, 515–548. doi:10.1016/S0167-7306(08)60146-5
- Holtenius, K., Kronqvist, C., Brlland, E., Sporndly, R., 2008. Magnesium absorption by lactating dairy cows on a grass silage-based diet supplied with different potassium and magnesium levels. Journal of Dairy Science 91, 743–748.
- Karlsson, P.M., Herdean, A., Adolfsson, L., Beebo, A., Nziengui, H., Irigoyen, S.,
  Unnep, R., Zsiros, O., Nagy, G., Garab, G., Aronsson, H., Versaw, W.K., Spetea, C.,
  2015. The Arabidopsis thylakoid transporter PHT4;1 influences phosphate
  availability for ATP synthesis and plant growth. Plant Journal 84, 99–110.
  doi:10.1111/tpj.12962
- Keady, T.W.J., Kilpatrick, D.J., Mayne, C.S., Gordon, F.J., 2008. Effects of replacing grass silage with maize silages, differing in maturity, on performance and potential concentrate sparing effect of dairy cows offered two feed value grass silages.
  Livestock Science 119, 1–11. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2008.02.006
- Khan, A., Khalil, S.K., 2010. Effect of leaf area on dry matter production in aerated mung bean seed. International Journal of Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 2, 52–61.
- Kim, J.D., Kwon, C.H., Kim, D.A., 2001. Yield and quality of silage corn as affected by hybrid maturity, planting date and harvest stage. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences 14, 1705–1711.

- Kronqvist, C., 2011. Minerals to dairy cows with focus on calcium and magnesium balance. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- Kwabiah, A.B., Macpherson, M., Mckenzie, D.B., 2003. Corn heat unit variability and potential of corn (Zea mays L .) production in a cool climate ecosystem. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 83, 689–698. doi:10.4141/P02-127
- Lapa, V. V., Seraya, T.M., Bogatyreva, E.N., Biryukova, O.M., 2011. The effect of longterm fertilizer application on the group and fractional composition of humus in a soddy-podzolic light loamy soil. Eurasian Soil Science 44, 100–104. doi:10.1134/S106422931101008X
- Leytem, A.B., Dungan, R.S., Moore, A., 2011. Nutrient availability to corn from dairy manures and fertilizer in a calcareous soil. Soil Science 176, 426–434. doi:10.1097/SS.0b013e31822391a6
- Li, J., Wu, X., Gebremikael, M.T., Wu, H., Cai, D., Wang, B., Li, B., Zhang, J., Li, Y., Xi, J., 2018. Response of soil organic carbon fractions, microbial community composition and carbon mineralization to high-input fertilizer practices under an intensive agricultural system. PLoS ONE 13, 1–16.
  doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0195144
- Li, J., Xie, Y., Dai, A., Liu, L., Li, Z., 2009. Root and shoot traits responses to phosphorus deficiency and QTL analysis at seedling stage using introgression lines of rice. Journal of Genetics and Genomics 36, 173–183. doi:10.1016/S1673-8527(08)60104-6

- Li, X., Rui, J., Xiong, J., Li, J., He, Z., Zhou, J., Yannarell, A.C., Mackie, R.I., 2014. Functional potential of soil microbial communities in the maize rhizosphere. PLoS ONE 9, 1–9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0112609
- Li, Y., Wu, J., Shen, J., Liu, S., Wang, C., Chen, D., Huang, T., Zhang, J., 2016. Soil microbial C:N ratio is a robust indicator of soil productivity for paddy fields.
  Scientific Reports 6, 1–8. doi:10.1038/srep35266
- Li, Y.F., Luo, A.C., Wei, X.H., Yao, X.G., 2008. Changes in phosphorus fractions, pH, and phosphatase activity in rhizosphere of two rice genotypes. Pedosphere 18, 785– 794. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(08)60074-0
- Liang, C., Fujinuma, R., Balser, T.C., 2008. Comparing PLFA and amino sugars for microbial analysis in an Upper Michigan old growth forest. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 40, 2063–2065. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2008.01.022
- Liu, L., Zhang, T., Gilliam, F.S., Gundersen, P., Zhang, W., Chen, H., Mo, J., 2013.
   Interactive effects of nitrogen and phosphorus on soil microbial communities in a tropical forest. PLoS ONE 8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0061188
- Long, S.P., Zhu, X., Naidu, S.L., Ort, D.R., 2006. Can improvement in photosynthesis increase crop yields? Plant, Cell and Environment 29, 315–330. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2005.01493.x
- Louw-gaume, A.E., Rao, I.M., Gaume, A.J., Frossard, E., 2010. A comparative study on plant growth and root plasticity responses of two Brachiaria forage grasses grown in

nutrient solution at low and high phosphorus supply. Plant Soil 328, 155–164. doi:10.1007/s11104-009-0093-z

- Lynch, J.P., Brown, K.M., 2008. Root strategies for phosphorus acquisition, in: White,P.J., Hammond, J.P. (Eds.), The Ecophysiology of Plant-Phosphorus Interactions.Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 83–116.
- Man, J., Shi, Y., Yu, Z., Zhang, Y., 2015. Dry matter production, photosynthesis of flag leaves and water use in winter wheat are affected by supplemental irrigation in the Huang-Huai-Hai plain of China. PLoS ONE 1–18. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0137274

Manitoba Corn Committe, 2017. Manitoba corn hybrid performance trials.

- Martinez-Marin, A.L., 2008. Nutritional factors to be considered when designing diets of dry roughages and concentrates for hand-fed, leisure horses. Revista Electonica de Veterinaria 9, 1–20.
- Maryam, H., Azizi, F., Zargari, K., 2012. Effect of drought stress on some morphological, physiological and agronomic traits in various foliage corn hybrids 12, 890–896. doi:10.5829/idosi.aejaes.2012.12.07.1751
- Millner, J.P., Aver, R.V., Hardacre, A.K., 2005. The yield and nutritive value of maize hybrids grown for silage. New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research 48, 101– 108. doi:10.1080/00288233.2005.9513637

Moreno-Resendez, A., Cantu Brito, J.E., Reyes-Carrillo, J.L., Contreras-Villarreal, V.,

2017. Forage maize nutritional quality according to organic and inorganic. Scientia Agropecuaria 8, 127–135. doi:10.17268/sci.agropecu.2017.02.05

- Nazli, R.I., Kusvuran, A., Inal, I., Demirbaş, A., Tansi, V., 2014. Effects of different organic materials on forage yield and quality of silage maize (Zea mays L .).
  Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry 38, 23–31. doi:10.3906/tar-1302-62
- Nunez-Hernandez, G., Payán Garcíi, J.A., Pena Ramos, A., Gonzalez Castaneda, F., Ruiz Barrera, O., Arzola Alvarez, C., 2010. Forage quality and agronomic characterization of annual forage species in North-Central Mexico. Revista Mexicana de Ciencias Pecuarias 1, 85–98.
- Oramas-Wenholz, C., Quila, N.J.V., 2007. Evaluation of two hybrids and one variety of corn (Zea mays) in intensive crop and association with pean (Phaseolus vulgaris), for silage. Revista de La Facultad de Ciencias Agropecuarias 5, 28–35.
- Pan, Y., Cassman, N., de Hollander, M., Mendes, L.W., Korevaar, H., Geerts, R.H.E.M., van Veen, J.A., Kuramae, E.E., 2014. Impact of long-term N, P, K, and NPK fertilization on the composition and potential functions of the bacterial community in grassland soil. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 90, 195–205. doi:10.1111/1574-6941.12384
- Paz-Ferreiro, J., Trasar-Cepeda, C., del Carmen Leiros, M., Seoane, S., Gil-Sotres, F.,
  2011. Intra-annual variation in biochemical properties and the biochemical
  equilibrium of different grassland soils under contrasting management and climate.
  Biology and Fertility of Soils 47, 633–645. doi:10.1007/s00374-011-0570-4

- Paz-Ferreiro, J., Trasar-Cepeda, C., Leiros, M.C., Seoane, S., Gil-Sotres, F., 2007.
  Biochemical properties of acid soils under native grassland in a temperate humid zone. New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research 50, 537–548.
  doi:10.1080/00288230709510321
- Pena-Ramos, A., Castaneda, F.G., Hernandez, G.N., Perez, L.H.M., 2006. Forage yield and quality of early maize hybrids in response to planting date, nitrogen and plant density. Revista Fitotecnia Mexicana 29, 207–213.
- Plaizier, J.C., Garner, T., Droppo, T., Whiting, T., 2004. Nutritional practices on Manitoba dairy farms. Canadian Journal of Animal Science 84, 501–509.
- Plenet, D., Etchebest, S., Mollier, A., Pellerin, S., 2000. Growth analysis of maize field crops under phosphorus deficiency. Plant and Soil 223, 117–130. doi:10.1023/A:1004877111238
- Portes, T.D.A., Melo, H.C. De, 2014. Light interception, leaf area and biomass production as a function of the density of maize plants analyzed using mathematical models. Acta Scientiarum Agronomy 36, 457–463. doi:10.4025/actasciagron.v36i4.17892
- Posada, S.O., N, R.R., Rodriguez, N., C, A.C., 2012. Comparison of methods to determine the energy value of feeds for ruminants. Revista MVZ Cordoba 17, 3184– 3192.
- Rajendran, N., Matsuda, O., Rajendran, R., Urushigawa, Y., 1997. Comparative

description of microbial community structure in surface sediments of eutrophic bays. Marine Pollution Bulletin 34, 26–33. doi:10.1016/S0025-326X(96)00057-4

- Ramirez, J.O., Olague Ramirez, J., Montemayor Trejo J. A., B.S.S.R., Hernandez, F.M., Aldaco Nuncio, R.A., Ruiz Cerda, E., 2006. Agronomic characteristic and forage quality corn with subsurface drip irrigation. Tecnica Pecuaria Mexico 44, 351–357.
- Raven, J.A., 2013. RNA function and phosphorus use by photosynthetic organisms.Frontiers in Plant Science 195, 306–320. doi:10.3389/fpls.2013.00536
- Roth, G.W., Heinrichs, A.J., 2001. Corn silage production and management, Information and Communication Technology in the College of Agricultural Sciences, Pennsylvania State University.
- Salazar-Sosa, E., Trejo-Escareno H.I, Vazquez-Vazquez C, Lopez-Martínez J. D., 2007.
   Corn production under subsurface irrigation and application of cow manure.
   International Journal of Experimental Botany 76, 169–185.
- Salehi, A., Fallah, S., Sourki, A.A., 2017. Organic and inorganic fertilizer effect on soil
  CO2 flux, microbial biomass, and growth of Nigella sativa L. International
  Agrophysics 31, 103–116. doi:10.1515/intag-2016-0032
- Schwab, E.C., Shaver, R.D., Lauer, J.G., Coors, J.G., 2003. Estimating silage energy value and milk yield to rank corn hybrids. Animal Feed Science and Technology 109, 1–18. doi:10.1016/S0377-8401(03)00210-4
- Song, H., Li, Y., Zhou, L., Xu, Z., Zhou, G., 2018. Maize leaf functional responses to

drought episode and rewatering. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 249, 57–70. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2017.11.023

Spohn, M., Kuzyakov, Y., 2013. Distribution of microbial and root derived phosphatase activities in the rhizosphere depending on P availability and C allocation - coupling soil zymography with 14C imaging. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 67, 106–113. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.08.015

Suttle, N.F., 2010. Mineral Nutrition of Livestock, 4th Edition, 4th ed. Cabi.

- Szoboszlay, M., Lambers, J., Chappell, J., Kupper, J. V., Moe, L.A., McNear, D.H., 2015. Comparison of root system architecture and rhizosphere microbial communities of Balsas teosinte and domesticated corn cultivars. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 80, 34–44. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2014.09.001
- Tine, M.A., McLeod, K.R., Erdman, R.A., VI, R.B., 2001. Effects of Brown Midrib Corn Silage on the Energy Balance of Dairy Cattle. Journal of Dairy Science 84, 885–895.
- Ullah, M.I., Khakwani, A.A., Sadiq, M., Awan, I., Mu-, M., 2015. Effects of nitrogen fertilization rates on growth, quality and economic return of fodder maize (Zea mays L.). Sarhad Journal of Agriculture 31, 45–52.
- Waldrip, H.M., He, Z., Griffin, T.S., 2012. Effects of organic dairy manure on soil phosphatase activity, available soil phosphorus, and growth of sorghum-sudangrass.
  Soil Science 177, 629–637. doi:10.1097/SS.0b013e31827c4b78
- Wang, P., Marsh, E.L., Ainsworth, E.A., Leakey, A.D.B., Sheflin, A.M., Schachtman,

D.P., 2017. Shifts in microbial communities in soil, rhizosphere and roots of two major crop systems under elevated CO2 and O3. Scientific Reports 7, 1–12. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-14936-2

- Wei, M., Hu, G., Wang, H., Bai, E., Lou, Y., Zhang, A., Zhuge, Y., 2017. 35 years of manure and chemical fertilizer application alters soil microbial community composition in a Fluvo-aquic soil in Northern China. European Journal of Soil Biology 82, 27–34. doi:10.1016/j.ejsobi.2017.08.002
- Weiss, W.P., Conrad, H.R., Pierre, N.S., 1992. A theoretically-based model for predicting total digestible nutrient values of forages and concentrates. Animal Feed Science and Technology 39, 95–110.
- Whalen, J.K., Chang, C., Clayton, G.W., Carefoot, J.P., 2000. Cattle manure amendments can increase the pH of acid soils. Soil Science Society of America Journa 64, 962–966.
- Wissuwa, M., Gamat, G., Ismail, A.M., 2005. Is root growth under phosphorus deficiency affected by source or sink limitations? Journal of Experimental Botany 56, 1943–1950. doi:10.1093/jxb/eri189
- Yan, H., Lu-bin, F., Da-zhuang, H., 2011. Effects of drought stress on the biomass distribution and photosynthetic characteristics of cluster mulberry. Chinese Journal of Applied Ecology 22, 3365–3370.
- Yao, H., He, Z., Wilson, M., Campbell, C., 2000. Microbial biomass and community

structure in a sequence of soils with increasing fertility and changing land use. Microbial Ecology 40, 223–237. doi:10.1007/s002480000053

- Zhang, C.S., Guo-bin, L., Sha, X., Zhi-qing, J., Chao, Z., 2012. Photosynthetic characteristics of Bothriochloa ischaemum under drought stress and elevated CO2 concentration. Chinese Journal of Applied Ecology 23, 3009–3015.
- Zhang, Q., Zhou, W., Liang, G., Wang, X., Sun, J., He, P., Li, L., 2015. Effects of different organic manures on the biochemical and microbial characteristics of albic paddy soil in a short-term experiment. PLoS ONE 10, 1–19. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0124096